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DATA MODUL is a leading international corporation in the area 

of display technology and a manufacturer of complete LCD flat 

panel displays for industrial and professional applications. 

The global DATA MODUL sales network encompasses the four 

main electronic markets: Europe, Middle East, Asia and North 

America. In total, more than 2,000 industrial customers are 

served by the corporation.
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KEUR 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Revenue 

Displays

Systeme

155,915

90,959

64,956

146,706

82,802

63,904

140,245

77,966

62,279

140,870

85,225

55,645

119,083

73,576 

45,507

98,287

61,174

37,113

EBITDA 1) 13,257 7,797 10,181 12,070 8,684 1,727

EBIT 2) 11,404 5,676 8,391 10,135 6,582 (522)

EBIT return on sales in % 7.3 3.9 6.0 7.2 5.5 (0.5)

Profit before income taxes 11,132 5,396 7,974 9,529 5,952 (1,091)

Net income 7,573 3,235 7,085 7,600 3,782 (2,099)

Shareholders' equity 48,036 42,131 41,774 38,918 32,573 28,705

Shareholders' equity ratio in % 60.0 50.5 56.2 55.6 50.7 50.6

Working capital 3) 39,543 41,218 37,894 35,831 31,338 18,978

Cash flow 4) 13,799 4,854 3,852 6,348 3,969 2,555

Capital expenditures 5) 2,471 2,226 3,029 1,697 1,418 821

Employees (average for the year excl. trai-
nees and interns) 348 333 315 296 276 285

Sales per employees (average for the year) 448 441 445 476 431 345

Number of shares issued and outstanding 
at year's end 3,526,182 3,526,182 3,526,182 3,526,182 3,526,182 3,205,620

Earnings per share in euros 2.23 0.95 2.05 2.16 1.11 (0.65)

Cash flow per share in euros 6) 3.91 1.38 1.09 1.80 1.13 0.80

Equity per share in euros 13.62 11.95 11.85 11.04 9.24 8.95

Dividend per share in euros 0.90 7) 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.40 Bonus 
shares

Stock price at years end in euros 20.00 16.55 17.01 10.97 13.25 8.30

Highest stock price in euros 20.82 19.55 18.30 15.77 13.87 9.21

Lowest stock price in euros 16.31 12.70 10.76 10.38 8.29 5.70

1) EBITDA: Earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization.
2) EBIT: Earnings before interest and taxes.
3)  Working Capital: Working capital is the difference between trade receivables including inventory, and accounts payable.
4)  Cash flow: Cash flows from operating activities.
5) Capital expenditures: Capital expenditures in intangibles and property, plant and equipment.
6) Cash flows from operating activities
7) To be proposed at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting in 2015

CORPORATE RESULTS
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The outstanding figures for 2014 reflect our 
successful management of the enterprise. 
Transparent communications and a systema-
tic goal-oriented approach facilitated effective 
action on the strategic decisions made by ma-
nagement. We are pleased to present this re-
port on the matters we were concerned with in 
the course of this financial year.
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DATA MODUL is about long-term vision and playing a 

pioneering role in the industry. But like the Greek phi-

losopher Heraclitus said, „There is nothing permanent 

except change.“

Rarely have we seen such profound changes within such 

a short timespan that affect society and the economy 

alike. In today's world, mobility, flexibility and comple-

xity are constantly increasing at an ever-faster pace. The 

march of automation and digitalization are changing the 

face of our world. This transformation is not just affecting 

our private lives through smartphones and the internet, 

but our day-to-day work as well through smart factories, 

networked computer systems and inter-communicating 

machinery. We thus find ourselves today – following the 

invention of the steam engine, the introduction of mass 

production and the deployment of electronics and com-

puters to automate production processes – on the cusp 

of the fourth industrial revolution or „Industry 4.0“.

The internet, mobile computing and cloud computing 

open up possibilities for products, machines and enti-

re factories to share data on a fully automated basis. 

The industrial process is no longer organized centrally 

and manually at the factory, being dynamically structu-

red instead in decentralized fashion with a high level of 

automation. In „smart factories“, people, machines and 

resources communicate with each other, allowing better 

management of increasing complexity and gains in pro-

duction efficiency. Communication takes place via dis-

plays – the product and market of DATA MODUL.

Now we can look back together on the most success-

ful year in the Company's history. Fiscal year 2014 

expressed in numbers:

 » Sales up 6.3% to 155.9 million euros

 » EBIT up to 11.4 million euros

 » Surge in new orders

 » Earnings per share of 2.23 euros

 » Record order backlog of 98,5 million euros

These outstanding KPIs compellingly affirm the sound-

ness of the Executive Board's strategy program, dramati-

cally illustrating how the course we have taken in recent 

years has been the right one.

REPORT OF THE
EXECUTIVE BOARD

Dear shareholders and friends of our Company,
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In 2014 we wrote a new chapter in our success story des-

pite a challenging and volatile business environment, 

achieving all key targets and slightly exceeding our esti-

mates. Ever-focused on the future, we are not afraid to 

go against the trend at times, holding confidently our 

chosen course. DATA MODUL shares thus remain attrac-

tive for investment.

We completed the first important milestones in our „Fit 

for Future 2015“ strategy, reaching all intermediate 

targets. We kept the promises we made. Today, DATA 

MODUL is a much stronger company with a more global 

orientation and a more sustainable business than before 

implementation of our strategy. The company is thus pre-

pared for the next jump in sales as we reap lasting value 

from productivity enhancement measures in connection 

with the strategy program – productivity gains already 

being realized in fiscal year 2014.

In fiscal year 2014 we further grew sales in our foreign 

markets to achieve one of our most important goals: 

reducing dependency on the German market by increa-

sing exports. The past fiscal year closed with a marked 

increase in profit from foreign trade. We will continue 

putting more emphasis on growing our presence abroad 

and will put our Company on an even stronger global foo-

ting in order to counteract the effects of weak domestic 

and European sales.

These and other positive developments emphatically 

demonstrate that the transformation of DATA MODUL was 

completed with the scheduled conclusion of the restruc-

turing program.  Our chief activities in 2014 included 

expansion of our global sales network, further consolida-

tion of our product portfolio and continuing optimization 

of our operating processes. Another focus was centrali-

zation of our logistics and manufacturing capacity at the 

Weikersheim location.

The financial success we have enjoyed in recent years 

enables us to invest further in our future. In 2014, our 

research and development expenses rose to over 5.3 

million euros, including in particular expenditures for 

projects designed to safeguard the Company's future. 

Our success factors are the three “i“s: investment, inno-

vation and international orientation.

In view of the Company's excellent business results, the 

Management and Supervisory Boards propose approval 

at the Annual Shareholders' Meeting to distribute a divi-

dend of 0.90 euros per share for fiscal year 2014. This 

represents a dividend yield of 40.3% and is 50% greater 

than the amount of the previous year's dividend.

Our key performance indicators for the year 2014 are 

the result of our mutual efforts. The past year's success 

is also due to our long-term planning, which we carried 

through in line with our strategy. Yet there remains much 

to be done, which to achieve will require great dedica-

tion and commitment on the part of our employees in 

shaping our future. We would like to express our gratitu-

de to all staff members on behalf of the Executive Board. 

Thanks are due as well to our business partners, and our 

customers in particular, whose trust in our capabilities 

guides us forward. Satisfied customers are the basis of 

our business success.

MANAGEMENT REPORTING
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Dr. Florian Pesahl CFO  Walter King COO

Constant change will continue to influence DATA MODUL's 

future. We are thus tackling head-on the ever-increasing 

changes in the market and associated opportunities, 

which will further propel us on our path to success. The 

foundations for our success are our highly desirable pro-

ducts. Digital processing of data has become an every-

day part of professional and personal life. From machine-

ry to medical devices, renewable energy, transportation 

and automation technology to household uses and a 

host of the other fields of application, displays are now 

in use in every area of daily life.

For us it's clear: throughout the coming years we will 

remain focused on Display, Touch and Embedded tech-

nologies. Only thus will we be able to meet the growing 

demand for our display applications, and at the same 

time develop and implement new technologies for our 

customers. Satisfying customers is our calling, and we 

strive to offer innovative products and services. This, 

combined with our company tradition and our unique 

corporate culture, has made us Europe’s highest-volume 

provider of displays.

The months ahead will be an exciting and eventful time 

for DATA MODUL AG: On January 28, 2015, Arrow Elect-

ronics, Inc. with headquarters in Centennial, Colorado, 

USA, via its corporate subsidiary Arrow Central Europe 

Holding Munich GmbH announced a voluntary public 

tender offer to acquire all outstanding shares of DATA 

MODUL AG at a price of 27.50 euros per share. Simulta-

neous with the announcement of the tender offer, Arrow 

reached agreement with members of the Hecktor family 

and with Varitronix, the largest single shareholder of 

DATA MODUL AG, to acquire DATA MODUL shares in the 

amount of about 34% of capital stock. DATA MODUL AG 

provided notification of both in an ad hoc announcement 

released also on January 28, 2015. Arrow Central Euro-

pe Holding Munich GmbH published the offering docu-

ment for the tender offer on February 23, 2015, which 

stated March 24, 2015 as the deadline for acceptance of 

the offer. See the offer document regarding the specific 

terms and conditions.

Last but not least – on behalf of the entire Company we 

would like to express our sincere gratitude to you, our 

shareholders, for your interest in our Company, your 

attentive following of our activities, for your loyalty and 

for the trust you have extended us by virtue of owning a 

stake in DATA MODUL.

We will be making every effort to ensure that the future 

remains bright for DATA MODUL stockholders.

Munich, March 2015
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REPORT OF THE
SUPERVISORY BOARD

In the past fiscal year, the Supervisory Board fulfilled its 

duties pursuant to the statutes, the German Corporate 

Governance Code, the Company's Articles of Incorporati-

on and the By-laws. We regularly advised and monitored 

the Executive Board's management of DATA MODUL and 

were consulted on all decisions of fundamental impor-

tance for the Company. The Executive Board informed 

the Supervisory Board regularly, promptly and compre-

hensively, verbally and in writing, on the Company's 

planning, the business situation, strategic develop-

ments and the current state of the Company, including 

risk management. Any deviations from the business 

plans were reported to us in detail. The Executive Board 

also discussed with us the strategic focus of the Com-

pany. Any business transactions of major importance to 

the Company were discussed in depth based on the Exe-

cutive Board’s reports. After extensive examination and 

consultation, the Supervisory Board approved the reso-

lutions proposed by the Executive Board.

Focal points of the 2014 Supervisory Board Meetings

The Supervisory Board convened for four ordinary mee-

tings held at regular quarterly intervals throughout the 

year. In addition, the Executive Board maintained con-

tinuous contact with all members of the Supervisory 

Board, apprising us of the current business situation 

and of important business transactions, developments 

and decisions. 

Alongside detailed discussions of the key performance 

indicators for fiscal year 2013 and the external auditor's 

report on the findings of the audit of the financial state-

ments, the Supervisory Board meeting held in March 

2014 focused on the current market situation and its 

effects on the business of the DATA MODUL Group. Sub-

sequently, the Supervisory Board approved the Sepa-

rate Financial Statements for DATA MODUL AG and the 

Consolidated Financial Statements prepared by the Exe-

cutive Board. Additionally, the agenda for the Annual 

Shareholders’ Meeting was discussed and approved as 

well as the declaration of compliance with the Corpo-

rate Governance Code. It was decided to propose at the 

Annual Shareholders' Meeting a dividend distribution 

of 0.60 euros per share. Additionally, the Supervisory 

Board declared its intention, in line with the shareholder 

proposal filed per Sec. 100 (2) sentence 1 no. 4 of the 

German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), to nominate at the 

Annual General Meeting the Company's former Chairman 

of the Executive Board, Mr. Peter Hecktor, as Shareholder 

Representative on the Supervisory Board effective as of 

the end of the Annual General Meeting on May 12, 2014. 

In connection herewith, Mr. Hecktor has resigned from 

the Executive Board effective May 12, 2014. The Super-

visory Board also resolved to nominate former Supervi-

sory Board chair Victoria Hecktor to replace Mr. Hecktor 

and Mr. Tsoi Tong Hoo on the Supervisory Board at the 

Annual Shareholders' Meeting. Also on March 24, 2014 

the Supervisory Board presented the Executive Board, 

which is to consist of two co-chairmen going forward, 

with a code of procedure with an effective date of May 

13, 2014,  in connection with which the Executive Board 
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contracts of Mr. King and Dr. Pesahl were updated. The 

Supervisory Board reviewed Executive Board remunera-

tion policies pursuant to these changes, and as it other-

wise regularly does, and the appropriateness of overall 

remuneration in accordance with the German Act on the 

Appropriateness of Management Board Compensation 

(VorstAG).  The Supervisory Board also reviewed the 

efficiency of its activity utilizing a catalogue of questi-

ons. It was recorded that DATA MODUL AG has introduced 

a risk management system and that the monthly written 

report shall also include an update of its status.

During the following meeting in May 2014, the results of 

ongoing business activities were discussed in detail as 

well as the agenda and procedures for the Annual Share-

holders' Meeting. At this meeting the Supervisory Board 

also approved additional investments in the factory buil-

ding at Weikersheim and released the funds.

During the August 2014 meeting, the Supervisory Board 

reviewed business operations over the past several 

months and discussed the current outlook. A review of 

the „Fit for Future 2015“ strategy was on the agenda as 

well in addition to approval of further investments in 

the Embedded business. The Supervisory Board appro-

ved the formation of two subsidiaries in Hong Kong and 

Shanghai respectively, as part of entering the Asian mar-

ket. Merger and acquisition  possibilities were conside-

red and discussed in parallel with organic growth.

In the December 2014 meeting, the Executive Board 

reported on the current business situation, the financi-

al position of the Group, the outlook for full-year results 

2014 and the growth potential through to the year 2017. 

The Supervisory Board approved the budget plan for 

2015 - 2017 and the further implementation of the Exe-

cutive Board's business strategies. 

Corporate Governance Code

The Executive Board provides a report on Corporate 

Governance – including on behalf of the Supervisory 

Board – in accordance with Art. 3.10 of the German Cor-

porate Governance Code on the DATA MODUL website 

http://www.data-modul.com in the Investor Relations 

section.

In March 2014, the Executive and Supervisory Boards 

issued an updated compliance statement including 

compliance exceptions in accordance with Section 161 

of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), making this 

permanently available to the shareholders by publishing 

it on the Company website.

Comments on the Annual Audit of the Consolidated 

Financial Statements

Ernst & Young GmbH, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, 

Stuttgart, audited the accounts, the Annual Financial 

Statements and the Management Report for 2014, and 

the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Group 

Management Report for fiscal year 2014 which were 

prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS), and issued an unqualified 

audit opinion. The independent auditors confirmed 

that the Consolidated Financial Statements and the 

Group Management Report satisfy the conditions for the 

Group’s exemption from obligation to prepare financial 

MANAGEMENT REPORTING
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statements and a management report under German 

accounting rules, and that the Executive Board opera-

tes an efficient risk management system. The Supervi-

sory Board acknowledged and approved the findings 

of the audit. The documents mentioned above and the 

report of the independent auditors were submitted to 

all members of the Supervisory Board and discussed in 

detail with the auditors. The Supervisory Board reviewed 

and approved the submitted documents and the profit 

appropriation proposal. The Separate Financial State-

ments for DATA MODUL AG prepared by the Executive 

Board and the Consolidated Financial Statements for 

the Group were approved by the Supervisory Board. The 

Supervisory Board approves the Management Report 

and the Group Management Report, and in particular 

the business outlook assessment. The Separate Financi-

al Statements for DATA MODUL AG and the Consolidated 

Financial Statements are thereby adopted. 

Summary

Despite the crisis in Europe, DATA MODUL AG has suc-

cessfully held its ground in our market segments. We, 

the members of the Supervisory Board, believe that 

the DATA MODUL AG Executive Board has set the right 

course for the continued success of our Company in a 

constantly changing world. We would like to express our 

particular thanks to all our employees, without whom 

the Company’s many years of success would not have 

been possible. 

On behalf of the Supervisory Board

Peter Hecktor

Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

Munich, March 2015
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Dear Shareholders,

In 2014 we wrote a new chapter in our success story des-

pite a challenging and volatile business environment, 

achieving all key targets and slightly exceeding our esti-

mates. Ever-focused on the future, we are not afraid to 

go against the trend at times, holding confidently our 

chosen course. DATA MODUL thus remains a company 

worth investing in. We completed the first important 

milestones in our „Fit for Future 2015“ strategy, reaching 

all intermediate targets. We kept the promises we made. 

Today, DATA MODUL is a much stronger company with a 

more global orientation and a more sustainable busi-

ness than before implementation of our strategy. The 

company is thus prepared for the next jump in sales, 

and we expect to reap lasting value from productivity 

enhancement measures in connection with the strategy 

program, as productivity gains were already realized in 

fiscal year 2014.

DATA MODUL's focus is on sustainability. As a sharehol-

der of DATA MODUL, you have invested in a listed com-

pany with years of trading experience. A business that is 

well-established in the growing and future-oriented dis-

play technology market, where we have held our ground 

for well over 40 years. DATA MODUL is on the road to 

success, as reflected in the results of the past fiscal year. 

Once again, we increased spending on R&D in order to 

promote DATA MODUL's – and thereby our customers' – 

competitive standing. This investment is underpinning 

our mutual business success. Being on sound financi-

al footing grants us the necessary flexibility to invest 

into the future. In 2014, our research and development 

expenses rose to over 5 million euros, primarily for pro-

jects designed to safeguard the Company's future.

It was the best year in DATA MODUL's history. Accordin-

gly, the Executive Board has resolved to propose dis-

tribution of a dividend of 0.90 euros per share at the 

Company's Annual Shareholders' Meeting. Data Modul 

thus remains an attractive stock to own. Our prudent 

financial policies have put our business on a highly 

stable footing for the future. The financial health of the 

Group in combination with a very sound balance sheet 

constitutes a very solid foundation, even in today's tur-

bulent times. 

LETTER TO OUR 
SHAREHOLDERS



The months ahead will be an exciting and eventful time 

for DATA MODUL AG: On January 28, 2015, Arrow Elect-

ronics, Inc. with headquarters in Centennial, Colorado, 

USA, via its corporate subsidiary Arrow Central Europe 

Holding Munich GmbH announced a voluntary public 

tender offer to acquire all outstanding shares of DATA 

MODUL AG at a price of 27.50 euros per share. Simulta-

neous with the announcement of the tender offer, Arrow 

reached agreement with members of the Hecktor fami-

ly and with Varitronix, the largest single shareholder of 

DATA MODUL AG, to acquire DATA MODUL shares in the 

amount of about 34% of capital stock. DATA MODUL AG 

provided notification of both in an ad hoc announcement 

released also on January 28, 2015. Arrow Central Euro-

pe Holding Munich GmbH published the offering docu-

ment for the tender offer on February 23, 2015, which 

stated March 24, 2015 as the deadline for acceptance of 

the offer. See the offer document regarding the specific 

terms and conditions.

With regard to business results, DATA MODUL pursues 

an open communication policy, reporting in accordance 

with IFRS and maintaining constant contact with inves-

tors, shareholders and analysts. Regular road shows, 

analyst briefings and press releases by the Executive 

Board provide comprehensive opportunities to pass on 

information to the public.

It is our intention that you should profit from the growth 

of our business, and we hope that you will continue sup-

porting us. For DATA MODUL is a strong enterprise and 

we intend to maintain that status – for the benefit of our 

customers, suppliers, staff and you, our shareholders, 

in particular.

The Executive Board

March 2015
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1. DATA MODUL has been operating in a growth market 

for more than 40 years now. How did the Company get 

started?  

The Company was founded in June 1972 as a German 

limited liability company (GmbH); starting out, sales 

were very small at 18,000 euros. In year two we recorded 

250 thousand euros in revenue and by 1977 it was 750 

thousand euros. In 2014 we recorded revenue of 157 

million euros -– better than ever in the history of DATA 

MODUL. DATA MODUL started out in 1972 selling elec-

tronic components and developing and manufacturing 

assemblies and system components for the computer 

industry. Initially these products came from the US, then 

later from Japan. During the years when we distributed 

semiconductors for Texas Instruments and Fairchild we 

acquired know-how and learned about the business pre-

requisites for starting our own firm in Munich. Specializi-

ng in display technology happened as a result of techno-

logical changes. In the 1970s and 1980s LCDs replaced 

other flat panel technologies like LED, VFDs and cathode 

ray tubes due to the former's advantages of low ener-

gy consumption, light weight and no radiation. The first 

color TV with LCD technology was introduced in Japan in 

1984. There was no mass production at that time and the 

LCD displays which had replaced LEDs were only used 

in pocket calculators and digital watches. Yet it was evi-

dent that a global market would develop, even if the LCD 

business was very slow initially. When semiconductor 

companies like Intersil finally developed the right dri-

vers for the LCDs in 1976, manufacturing buyers popped 

up like mushrooms out of the ground. That opened up 

undreamed-of possibilities for us. We committed 100% 

to becoming an LCD specialist.

2. How has the electronics industry changed since foun-

ding of your enterprise? 

As a distributor in the early years, it was not that easy 

to land a contract with a manufacturer, because initial 

warehousing facilities were often a problem due to insuf-

ficient capital and a 30-day payment horizon. Most con-

tracts were limited to a single federal state. International 

distribution was completely excluded.  As electronics 

increasingly became part of day-to-day business, volume 

rose and the product array expanded to include more and 

more manufacturers. Partly in view of our limited financi-

al means we decided to make a name for ourselves as a 

specialty provider in the field of display technology. The 

number of display manufacturers has fallen in recent 

years through mergers and acquisitions, as a modern 

LCD factory costs about the same as a semiconductor 

INTERVIEW WITH PETER HECKTOR



manufacturing facility. It didn't use to be the case, but 

customers today expect custom solutions for individual 

applications. Displays are now used almost everywhere: 

in cars, medical devices, telecom equipment, checkout 

systems, marine navigation equipment, mechanical engi-

neering, automation technology and as display panels at 

airports and train stations. Touch screens are really boo-

ming, where information can be called up and programs 

controlled by touching the screen. 

3. What led to the IPO move back then?  

When DATA MODUL went public on November 28, 1989 

the Company had been around for 17 years. That's an 

age by which a high-tech electronics company is con-

sidered to be very well established. In those days, the 

average German company went public after 55 years, the 

average US company after 13 years. The firm was reorga-

nized in 1988 from a German limited liability company 

into a public limited company (AG) listed on the stock 

exchange. At the IPO we had share capital of 2.75 milli-

on euros; the issue price was 145.00 euros for one share 

of common stock valued at 25.00 euros. The offering 

was oversubscribed 14 times over. Wisely, we had had 

extensive discussions about this move for years before 

the IPO. Even the best-managed company becomes a 

newcomer and faces a major challenge when it comes to 

reorganizing as an AG to go public. Our experience had 

been that public auditors, tax consultants and the vast 

majority of management consultants were insufficiently 

knowledgeable about the stock exchange, capital mar-

kets and financing options for publicly traded companies. 

Why was Germany inexperienced in that area? In Bavaria 

there were 160 listed AGs in 1994 and 100,000 GmbH 

companies. In 1993 there were overall 664 domestic lis-

ted AGs in Germany, and 1989 was a year when 24 dome-

stic companies went public on the German stock market, 

including DATA MODUL. We took a lot of time with upfront 

preparations, discussing the move with our lenders and 

senior staff in order to reach a consensus early on regar-

ding the steps ahead, such as: who are the Executive and 

Supervisory Board members going to be and what middle 

managers are to hold power of representation (Prokura)? 

It is essential for those staff members who are to hold 

responsibility to be informed early on and included in the 

change process. A further step was the introduction of an 

entirely new and modern planning and reporting system 

to keep the Company management informed. Looking 

back, the IPO was the right decision as it enabled us to 

continue pursuing our growth strategy.
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4. What does the future hold in your opinion for the dis-

play industry, both globally and in Germany?

Display technology is unquestionably a growth industry 

worldwide. Wherever people are in the world, we want 

to receive, process, and share information. Displays are 

needed for all these purposes. It's impossible now to 

even imagine the world without displays. Take smartpho-

nes for instances, which feature touch technology for us 

to send messages and images. 'MultiTouch' is the term 

for touch-sensitive input devices for human-computer 

interaction which are able to record and process multiple 

touch points at the same time. This is what allows you to 

conveniently zoom in and out and rotate screen content 

using two fingers, for example. The predominant fields of 

application and markets are:

 » Automation and robot technology for human-machine 

communication

 » Medical diagnostics technology and mobile patient 

monitoring

 » Electronic household appliances

 » Renewable energies

 » Automotive navigation, in-car entertainment and com-

munications

Displays are now a 100 billion US dollar global market 

which still has major growth prospects.  

5. How is DATA MODUL positioned in the current eco-

nomic environment? What are your expectations for the 

global economy next year?

The global economy will keep expanding in the year 

ahead. The US economy regained momentum in Q2 and 

Q3, and the general economic conditions are looking 

good for a gradual phase-out of the FED's expansive fiscal 

policy. DATA MODUL has been active in the US for over 15 

years, and we project a significant rise in sales in 2015. 

Germany, our primary market, continues to do well eco-

nomically thanks to low inflation and low interest rates. 

6. DATA MODUL evolving from a simple distributor into 

a manufacturer. What motivated that change and where 

does the Company stand today?

From the start we were offering custom solutions along-

side the distribution business. What got us focusing on 

supplemental services and moving into system techno-

logy was when everybody started talking about the 'new 

economy' and online auctions, and Dell was considered 

the model for the future with its "virtual store".  What 

were companies sticking with a traditional business 

model going to do if prices were now going to be con-

cealed and everything was auction bidding? How were 

we to withstand this kind of pricing pressure? But things 
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didn't quite turn out that way. The trend is going back to 

people, for it is still people who make transactions. It was 

around that time as well when the decision was made to 

start producing more and more on our own. The acquisi-

tion of the company Conrac in Weikersheim in 1998 laid 

the foundation for this development. Today distribution 

comprises 60% of our business.

7. What is your vision for DATA MODUL now?

Sales were up 60% within five years and the number of 

employees increased from 265 to 350. DATA MODUL has 

distribution offices in the UK, France, Spain, Italy, Swit-

zerland, Denmark, Belgium, Finland, Singapore, China, 

Dubai and the US. Most of these were opened as green-

field sites in classic DATA MODUL style. We have the 

advantage of having a solid, profitable core business and 

double-digit market share. DATA MODUL has been the 

European market leader in the display business for years. 

Our staff are highly motivated and committed to gaining 

more market share for DATA MODUL year after year. Major 

investment has been made in optical bonding to support 

our growth. As a result, we can now offer display solu-

tions meeting the most stringent requirements in terms 

of functionality, optical properties and environmental/

climate-relevant technical specifications. We have also 

expanded business in the area of Embedded computer 

systems based on x86 and ARM/Xscale architectures. In 

order to accelerate and further enhance innovation, DATA 

MODUL invests 3-5% of annual revenue in research and 

development. My vision for DATA MODUL is to keep stea-

dily moving forward in the areas of display technology, 

display systems and Embedded.

8. What are your personal plans and aspirations at this 

point?

Since trading in the Executive Board chairmanship in 

May 2014 to chair the Supervisory Board, I now have 

more time for other things. I will continue playing an 

active role at DATA MODUL on the Supervisory Board. I 

have kept my office in Munich, so I won't be easing into 

retirement the way many do. I'm sure I will keep trying to 

improve my golf game, though. I have been a member of 

various clubs in Munich for several years which are invol-

ved in social projects. Having traveled a lot all over the 

world in the last few decades, and now I'm going to be 

spending more time in Munich.
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Munich – the metropolis with a heart – home 
to six DAX-listed corporations, eight MDAX 
firms, a host of highly successful medium-
sized enterprises: the ideal location for DATA 
MODUL AG's headquarters.



19



20

OUR  
LOCATIONS

DATA MODUL WORLDWIDE

Munich Singapore Weikersheim New York Birmingham Dubai



Over the last 40 years, DATA MODUL has grown to 

become one of Europe's largest independent providers 

of display technology and the European market leader. 

The company „DATA MODUL AG, Produktion und Vertrieb 

von elektronischen Systemen“, is a specialized interna-

tional provider of display technologies whose business 

model centers on proprietary products, custom solutions 

and value-adding services. 

In-house development has been a steadily growing focus 

for display technology specialist DATA MODUL. The firm 

now derives more than half of its revenue from proprie-

tary products, custom solutions and value-adding servi-

ces made and designed at the 18,000+ m² DATA MODUL 

corporate campus in Germany. The resulting efficiencies 

allow customers to shorten their design cycles, reducing 

time-to-market. 

The global DATA MODUL network spans the four key mar-

kets of Europe, the Middle East, Asia and North America.

DATA MODUL has distribution subsidiaries

based in Hamburg and Düsseldorf, Germany.

DATA MODUL's international distribution offices are loca-

ted in 

> Kolding, Denmark 

> Shanghai, China

> Dubai, U.A.E.

> Helsinki, Finland 

> Paris, France 

> Birmingham, UK

> Milan, Italy

> Zurich, Switzerland 

> Singapore

> Madrid, Spain 

> New York, Portland and Los Angeles, USA

      

Strategic expansion into France, Spain, Italy, the UK, 

Switzerland and Scandinavia as well as the Middle 

East, Asia/Pacific and USA has positioned DATA MODUL 

for geographically diversified growth, in some cases 

through independent subsidiaries.

A SUCCESS STORY
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2014 was an eventful year for DATA MODUL. 

Other key events, next to the development of 

several new products, were the relocation of 

warehousing, production, service and deve-

lopment  from Munich to Weikersheim. The 

new trade show concept for electronica in 

November made a grand backdrop for the 

annual report.
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24 HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

A LOOK BACK AT THE 
YEAR'S HIGHLIGHTS

OPENING IN HONG KONG

Formation of a distribution company in Hong Kong in August 

2014 was an important strategic step for rapidly entering the 

growing Asian market.

2014

PRODUCTION AND LOGISTICS 
RELOCATED

Production, warehousing and development 

concentrated in Weikersheim: Production, 

service and development functions were 

bundled at the 18,000 m² site in Weikers-

heim, Germany, located near Rothenburg 

ob der Tauber. This move was made to 

ensure professional handling of all custo-

mer orders, matching the high technologi-

cal expectations on our products. 

DEVELOPMENT OF INNOVATIVE 
PCAP AND SITO TOUCH SENSORS

DATA MODUL has unveiled the advanced PCAP 

and SITO touch sensors, characterized by a par-

ticularly fine design. 

Cutting-edge controller technologies are emplo-

yed to further optimize PCAP system perfor-

mance, even when using gloves or with liquid 

droplets on the screen.
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BEST YEAR  
IN COMPANY HISTORY

Our figures for 2014 reflect our strong 

team effort and long-term planning 

within the framework of the "Fit for 

the Future 2015" strategy program.

REVAMPED TRADE SHOW CONCEPT

A completely new and innovative trade show concept was pre-

sented in November at electronica 2014 in Munich, Germany's 

most important trade fair for the electronics industry, where 

DATA MODUL AG has exhibited for four decades. The design of 

the stand was very well received, garnering complements from 

both customers and suppliers. 

EMBEDDED

Data Modul offers pre-configured kits, custom base-

board designs and proprietary embedded CPU boards in 

the company's Embedded Systems business.

INVESTMENT IN INFRASTRUCTURE

Investments were made in infrastructure in 2014 at the 

Munich headquarters and in Weikersheim. Work continu-

es in an effort to comprehensively modernize our emplo-

yees' work environment. New conference and meeting 

rooms with modern videoconferencing capability were 

set up. They say, people are shaped by their surround-

ings, thus an attractive working environment is, as we 

believe, beneficial in promoting creativity and employee 

motivation. 
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NEW MARKETS IN ASIA

Asia has seen dynamic economic growth over the last 

few decades. One key factor in this success story is incre-

asing real-economy integration into the world economy.

German exporters are well-positioned in Southeast Asia, 

with „Made in Germany“ products shipped from the 

European Union comprising more than 43% of total 

Chinese imports according to ZVEI, the German Electri-

cal and Electronic Manufacturers' Association. German 

automotive and mechanical engineering products are 

particularly popular. The German electrical engineering 

industry set a new export record in 2014 at 165.5 billi-

on euros, an increase of 4.9% for the full year. The pre-

vious record was 159.9 billion euros, reached in 2012. 

In December 2014 alone exports surged 15.4% year-on-

year to 13.7 billion euros. Exports to China rose 16.1% 

last year to a total of 14.9 billion euros, making the 

People's Republic the largest buyer of German electrical 

engineering exports for the first time. With China exports 

up by 2.1 billion euros in total, the country was also res-

ponsible for last year's largest growth contribution in the 

electrical engineering sector.

The rising importance of South-East Asian markets has 

led many companies to increase their investment bud-

gets for the region by multiples. Nearly two-thirds of Ger-

man direct investment in Asia has gone to China, Hong 

Kong, South Korea and Singapore, with China by itself 

accounting for 38%. German direct investment in China 

thus equaled approximately 1.3% of Germany's entire 

annual economic output.

DATA MODUL's expansion in Asia is a key strategic step 

for generating future growth.

In order to improve local service for domestic and foreign 

customers in China, DATA MODUL opened an office in 

Hong Kong in 2014. 

DATA MODUL Shanghai will soon be opening in the Ger-

man Center of Zhanjiang  HighTech Park in Pudong.
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Commenting on this move, the manager of the office in 

China said: 

On November 1, 2014 I attended an intensive training 

sessions in Munich and Weikersheim, and was extremely 

pleased at being involved in the expansion of this high-

ly successful German company in China. I was warmly 

received by my colleagues and able to communicate in 

English with all staff members without problems. 

DATA MODUL is a highly professional firm which thinks 

in terms of solutions for its customers and for which I 

have the privilege of working.  DATA MODUL in Chinese 

is 德迩拓. 

The planned start of operations for DATA MODUL Shang-

hai is May 2015.

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR
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DATA MODUL provides end-to-end system solu-
tions for industrial and professional use. Using 
a modular concept, solutions are developed for 
a wide range of sophisticated applications. DATA 
MODUL products and solutions are found world-
wide in industrial applications requiring extremely 
high quality standards. Information display sys-
tems in the age of visualization: From flight infor-
mation terminals to coffee machines, consumers 
today are surrounded by appealing information 
displays. 
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DISPLAYS
DATA MODUL, Europe's largest TFT provider, distri-

butes the product portfolios of all leading manu-

facturers. From idea to product – all from a sin-

gle source. Displays made by DATA MODUL are 

truly modern, innovative and perfectly designed 

devices of compact build which feature a high con-

trast ratio and ultra-wide viewing angles – all key 

aspects in choosing the right displays for industrial 

applications. Long-term availability and value for 

money are crucial as well when it comes to choo-

sing the right „face“ for the operating unit.

OUR
PRODUCTS

SYSTEMS
DATA MODUL develops tailored system solutions 

for a wide range of sophisticated applications 

employing a modular concept. DATA MODUL pro-

ducts and solutions are found worldwide in indus-

trial applications and information systems requi-

ring extremely high quality standards. Developing 

proprietary products allows DATA MODUL to gua-

rantee long-term availability and significantly shor-

ten time-to-market.

PRODUCT PORTFOLIO



31

EMBEDDED
DATA MODUL offers perfectly coordinated embedded 

computer systems based on x86 and ARM/Xscale 

architectures. From pre-configured kits to complete 

custom baseboard designs – the complete range of 

embedded solutions is available.

PRODUCT PORTFOLIO

TOUCH
The projected capacitive (PCAP) solution easy-

TOUCH was especially developed for industrial 

applications. A module and integration partner of 

ATMEL, DATA MODUL deploys the latest maXTouch 

technology enabling multi-touch and gesture con-

trol.

The complete PCAP solution – consisting of touch 

sensor, controller, firmware, front glass and optical 

bonding – is inter-coordinated and delivered from 

a single source.
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QUALITY MADE IN GERMANY

The market demands intensive development efforts as 

display technologies become more advanced. Taking 

a holistic approach, our activities are concentrated on 

basic development, device development, design and 

engineering. We are active participants in the conti-

nuous process of technological change. In basic deve-

lopment we thus work to turn market trends and oppor-

tunities into innovative hardware and software solutions 

over the long term utilizing cutting-edge development 

platforms. Device/application development yields mar-

ketable products built to meet our customers' require-

ments. DATA MODUL customers get tailored solutions 

using the latest display technology in combination with 

products developed in-house. Ensuring product relia-

bility is a major priority. Intensive testing and approval 

procedures enable us to meet high market demands at 

all times and get models into timely production through 

short development cycles. Providing design and aes-

thetics together with ideal functionality is taking on 

ever greater importance, even in industrial products. 

DATA MODUL has a full-fledged design and engineering 

department, backing up the Company's reputation as 

an expert system solutions partner in the market for 3D 

design, computer-aided thermal management, prototy-

ping, device adaptation and other competencies. 
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In addition to components suitable for use in industry 

and medicine, we offer customers assistance in choo-

sing the right product via integration in the design-in 

phase combined with full after-sales service. In the event 

a standard product should not be adequate for a given 

application, DATA MODUL's extensive value-added servi-

ces are there to take up the challenge.

It's all about people in our partnership approach: well-

trained staff, skilled technicians, internal training, hard 

and soft skill seminars and an ergonomic work environ-

ment play an essential role in the overall success of our 

business model. Quite a few members of our motivated 

staff have been with DATA MODUL for many years. We 

encourage independent responsibility and team spirit at 

the same time. In return we expect dedication to perfor-

mance in the interest of the firm, and regularly monitor 

work efficiency and profitability. Orders of varying batch 

sizes are processed at our 18,000+ m2 production site

using ESD-safe equipment certified according to stan-

dard DIN EN 61340. Modern measuring and testing 

equipment affords maximum quality and traceability.
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CLEANROOM &
OPTICAL BONDING 

Optical bonding production capacity was expanded in 

2014 by adding another production line. Touch panel 

assembly is performed in several ISO Class 5 clean 

rooms which ensure dust-free processing of touch unit, 

display and front glass. A high degree of flexibility and a 

fully automated bonding process enable us to meet the 

market's requirements at any time be it fluctuating pro-

duction volumes or increasing product diversity. Such 

flexible production allows DATA MODUL to react with 

great speed to changing market demands and to offer 

customized solutions. 

Resistive touch is a well-established input system used 

in many everyday and industrial applications. It is touch-

sensitive, relatively easy to bond onto a suitable dis-

play, and the data may be processed via a simple USB 

controller.

Touch technology is popular in many industrial applica-

tions because it is simple to use and can be quickly inte-

grated. Also, touch-operated displays can be operated 

with gloves and have relatively thin edges.  But deve-

lopment and re-design, for instance of a HMI system, 

are creating new integration opportunities in the market. 

Industrial producers too are following the trend in consu-

mer electronics away from resistive touches and in favor 

of projective capacitive touch screens (PCAP/PCT). PCAP 

systems have the great advantage over resistive touches 
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that they are operable through closed glass or plastic 

surfaces. Furthermore, typical input elements such as 

gestures, zoom function and multi-touch are difficult or 

impossible with resistive touch elements. PCAP touch 

sensors have compelling advantages in today's age whe-

re input systems are not just functional elements but 

have to also meet certain design and operating requi-

rements. It is thus key in designing such applications to 

work with a reliable partner able who comprehends an 

entire project as a whole from beginning to end in order 

to achieve the best possible touch functionality. 

DATA MODUL has the resources to quickly and flexibly 

meet even major challenges and deadlines. This is made 

possible through a commitment to continually enhan-

ce our capabilities, expand our competencies and grow 

both externally and internally.  We want our relationships 

with customers, partners and employees to be charac-

terized by diversity, creativity and mutually beneficial 

outcomes.
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Corporate social responsibility is part of 
DATA MODUL's culture and drives all our 
decision-making processes from the Execu-
tive Board level on down. Whatever we do 
influences the world we live in, and thus we 
believe that responsibility for our actions 
extends even beyond our scope of consoli-
dation. We monitor the effects of our actions 
closely and true to our declared goal of su-
stainable corporate management which is 
part of our corporate identity.
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As Europe's leading flat panel display company, DATA 

MODUL AG has evolved in recent years from a distri-

bution firm into a system solutions provider that offers 

customers much more than distribution services. Syste-

matically executing on our four-pillared strategy we have 

steadily expanded our product portfolio in the segments 

of standard products, value-added services, custom dis-

plays and proprietary development, and have comple-

ted the Fit for Future 2015 strategy program. We have 

established distribution offices in Belgium and China to 

further expand and strengthen our international busi-

ness. The corporate strategic realignment in fiscal years 

2013 and 2014 was successfully implemented, as part 

of which we expanded the Weikersheim location into 

a production and logistics center for the DATA MODUL 

Group. Our staff members have supported and worked 

to realize the changes involved; it is they who are chiefly 

responsible for the success of the implementation. Our 

employees played a vital role in systematically executing 

on our strategy of optimally exploiting synergies within 

the Group, gaining market share and garnering custo-

mers' interest in our products and our business. We 

would like to thank and recognize them for their outstan-

ding performance in this highly successful fiscal year.

The demands placed upon our employees have incre-

ased as the DATA MODUL Group has grown. Given the 

diversity of our products, their complexity and the gro-

wing role of proprietary development for such products 

as Easy Boards, Easy Panels, Easy Touch and Easy 

Embedded, we are increasingly dependent upon highly 

skilled personnel who are committed to their employer 

and highly motivated in tackling their many and varied 

responsibilities. Such employees are essential in order 

to continue enjoying the success of the past years and 

optimally position the Company for the challenges ahead 

in a highly competitive international market. Employees 

are rewarded for their achievements through perfor-

mance-based pay elements. A streamlined decision-

making processes, flat hierarchies and teamwork orien-

tation contribute to a more productive work atmosphere 

and enhance our attractiveness as an employer. Staff 

DATA MODUL AS EMPLOYER
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training sessions and seminars are offered on a wide 

range of topics as a further plus for employees.

We promote cultural diversity, currently employing indi-

viduals from more than 20 different nations, considering 

this to be a great asset to our business as part of an ove-

rall culture of respect of individuality in all its aspects. 

Our home office in Germany supports our international 

offices, enabling us to offer customers around the world 

solutions tailored to accommodate specific regional par-

ticularities, along with top service – this being the focus 

of our business activity. The growth of our foreign subsi-

diaries is impressive proof of the continuing effectiven-

ess of our strategy of expanding our global sales network 

to position the firm even more internationally. 

Offering vocational training for motivated young people 

is a key part of our long-term staff planning. This past fis-

cal year we had 22 apprentices and two student interns. 

And of course we provide our employees with support 

for select in-service study programs for continuing edu-

cation and skills enhancement and offer internships in 

certain departments. 

This is in part why DATA MODUL has been successful for 

over 40 years, and will remain a dependable partner to 

our customers, suppliers and employees going forward.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBLITY

Corporate social responsibility is a thriving part of the 

DATA MODUL culture, from the Executive Board level on 

down.

Businesses are becoming increasingly aware of the inter-

dependencies between employees, consumers, sup-

pliers and their own organization. The bound-up inte-

rests between businesses and their stakeholders compel 

businesses to take a proactive approach.

A commitment to social welfare has been firmly ancho-

red in Germany since the time of Bismarck, and this has 

shaped many corporate philosophies, including ours at 

DATA MODUL. The challenge now in the age of globali-

zation is to preserve the social market economy model 

which provides for a social safety net. Corporate com-

mitment to social issues heightens employee motivati-

on and enhances the company's image as an attractive 

employer.

OUR
RESPONSIBILITY

DEVELOPMENT & PRODUCTION

DATA MODUL creates marketable products that meet 

customer requirements and the highest quality stan-

dards. Design, aesthetics and optimal functionality are 

the highest priorities.  We utilize cutting-edge equip-

ment and skilled personnel in our development and 

manufacturing. Optical bonding production capacity 

was expanded by adding another production line. Touch 

panel assembly is performed in several ISO Class 5 clean 

rooms which ensure dust-free processing of touch unit, 

display and front glass. A high degree of flexibility and a 

fully automated bonding process enable us to meet the 

market's requirements at any time.

DATA MODUL GOES GREEN

Protection of the environment is now interwoven into 

everyday operations at DATA MODUL. Environmentally 

friendly design, long product life cycles, workplace orga-

nization, energy reduction and conservation of natural 

resources are key considerations in how we do business.

QUALITY & ENVIRONMENTAL 
MANAGEMENT

DATA MODUL has a quality management system in place 

certified according to standard DIN EN ISO 9001:2008 

and an environmental management system certified 

according to standard DIN EN ISO 14001:2004.
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1. Basic principles of the Company

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT FOR 2014
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1.1 Business model

DATA MODUL AG, Produktion und Vertrieb von elektroni-

schen Systemen, Munich (hereinafter „DATA MODUL“), 

is in the company's own assessment the European mar-

ket leader in display technology. DATA MODUL develops, 

manufactures and distributes innovative flatbed dis-

plays, monitors, electronic subassemblies and complete 

information systems. It is organized into two business 

segments: Displays and Systems. The Displays busi-

ness primarily involves the purchase and distribution 

of Data Modul displays, easyTouch displays, electronic 

subassemblies and custom products for use in indus-

trial applications and the automotive industry in parti-

cular. The Systems business segment comprises selling 

our easyPanel and easyEmbedded Solutions and spe-

cial monitors for marine navigation and medical device 

applications, targeting customers in airport and railway 

operations and providing business solutions.

All of DATA MODUL’s major markets have long-term 

growth potential, thus holding long-term growth pro-

spects for the Group. We primarily serve customers in 

the mechanical engineering, medical device technology, 

automotive and gaming industries. DATA MODUL is thus 

influenced by the general economic environment and 

by developments in mechanical engineering, which is 

our primary industry. The Company is also impacted by 

changes in customer behavior, as order volume is stea-

dily increasing in parallel with product complexity, so 

that orders turn into long-term projects with increasing 

frequency. Due to these circumstances, at times this may 

sometimes lead to sharply fluctuating revenue figures.

The DATA MODUL Group maintains regional offices in 

Germany, Spain, Italy, Switzerland, France, the UK, 

Dubai, Singapore, Hong Kong and the United States.

1.2 Control systems

DATA MODUL reflects the structure and philosophy of 

a classic small to medium-sized organization, yet has 

implemented additional processes and organizational 

directives which meet legal and other regulatory require-

ments for a publicly traded company. Management and 

controlling functions at DATA MODUL AG are structured 

in line with the German Stock Corporation Act, accor-

ding to which company governance consists of three 

executive and supervisory bodies: shareholders, the 

Executive Board and the Supervisory Board. The Execu-

tive Board prepares monthly reports which are reviewed 

and monitored by the Supervisory Board and thoroughly 

discussed at Supervisory Board meetings. In addition, 

the Executive Board meets on a regular basis to discuss 

current events and strategies. Monthly Executive Board 

reports organized by business segment (Displays and 

Systems) serve as a basis for corporate decision-making, 

this structure being reflected in the Consolidated Finan-
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cial Statements as well. Key segment metrics employed 

are orders received, order backlog, revenue, EBIT and net 

income. EBIT margin and return on equity are the profita-

bility KPIs. The Executive Board members are responsib-

le for operational management.

1.3 Research and development

It is our goal to further strengthen our innovative capa-

bilities. Our Company’s success in the future highly 

depends on our ability to present customers with new 

products and solutions that meet their ever-changing 

requirements. DATA MODUL’s research and develop-

ment expenses thus rose in fiscal year 2014 to 5,274 

thousand euros (previous year: 4,850 thousand euros), 

a figure which includes 655 thousand euros in amorti-

zation of capitalized development costs (previous year: 

972 thousand euros). The increase in expenses resul-

ted from additional hiring and use of external service 

providers to take over partially completed projects for 

our Development department.  On annual average, R&D 

employed 59 staff members (previous year: 57). The R&D 

intensity metric (R&D costs/revenue) was 3.4% (previ-

ous year: 3.3%).

In fiscal year 2014, our R&D priorities were as follows:

1. Safeguarding future business prospects

2. Enhancing technological competitiveness

3. Optimizing R&D resource allocation

Investment was made primarily in control electronics, 

industrial applications and OEM products, as well as 

expansion of our production and R&D facility in Weikers-

heim. We have great expectations as well in R&D projects 

concerning our Touch and Optical Bonding technology. 

These comprised the main focus of our R&D efforts in 

the reporting period.

Our development projects are classified as either 

research, basic development or custom development. 

The R&D department focuses its activities on next-gene-

ration products and solutions, and preparing these for 

successful market launch.

We capitalized basic development costs in the amount 

of 568 thousand euros, recognized as intangible assets 

(previous year: 779 thousand euros). This corresponds 

to an activation/R&D expense ratio of 10.8% (previous 

year: 16.1%) Amortization came to 655 thousand euros 

(previous year: 972 thousand euros), which reduced net 

earnings by 87 thousand euros (previous year: by 193 

thousand euros). Research expenses are not capitalized.

Developing new products and solutions is only one part 

of our continuous improvement efforts. Ongoing quality 

enhancement is a key priority as well, alongside resour-

ce-efficient production to avoid and reduce waste and 

emissions.
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2. Economic report

2.1 Business performance

As foreseen in 2013, the first results were obtained in 

2014 from the systematic implementation of the DATA 

MODUL „Fit for Future 2015“ strategy program. The pri-

mary objectives in fiscal year 2014 were:

· Further increasing revenue

· Expansion and realignment of our sales network

· Increasing exports

· Greater concentration of our product portfolio

Our progress is evident, as we achieved nearly all of our 

targets and slightly exceeded some.

in million of euros Projections for 2014 2014 Actual

Orders received 163.7 – 168.5 160.3

Revenue 152.5 – 159.9 155.9

EBIT 6.3  – 7.5 11.4

Orders rose in Germany, further boosting revenue. Ita-

ly, Spain, Switzerland and France recorded year-on-year 

gains, albeit less than anticipated. Results were outstan-

ding in the US, UK and Singapore.

These excellent results deliver a compelling affirmation 

of the Executive Board's strategy program and how we 

have taken the right course in recent years.  The suc-

cessful implementation of restructuring measures in fis-

cal year 2013 and further evolution into a system solu-

tions provider have yielded earlier and greater results 

than expected one year ago. Exchange gains were ano-

ther major special factor, which were reflected in lower 

purchasing prices.

We thus ended fiscal year 2014 with a net profit of 7,573 

thousand euros (previous year: 3,235 thousand euros).

Our prudent financial policies have put our business on 

a very stable footing for the future. The financial health 

of the Group in combination with a very sound balance 

sheet constitute a very solid foundation, even in today's 

turbulent times. 

The Executive Board has resolved to propose distribution 

of a dividend of 0.90 euros per share at the Company's 

Annual Shareholders' Meeting.

We firmly believe that this will have a lasting positive 

influence on our business, as can already be seen in 

rising order levels and historically high order backlog. 

Considerable investment in R&D and additions to our 

sales staff have contributed as well to this situation.

We are pleased with our 2014 results, having met our 

ambitious intermediate targets; DATA MODUL Group is 

thus excellently positioned for continuing growth.

In summary, DATA MODUL had an outstanding fiscal year 

2014. We completed the first important milestones in 

our „Fit for Future 2015“ strategy, reaching all interme-

diate targets. The company is thus prepared for the next 

jump in sales. We reaped sustainable value from pro-

ductivity enhancement measures in connection with the 

strategy program as productivity gains were realized in 

fiscal 2014. Barring another destabilization of the global 

economy, over the next two years DATA MODUL will be 

continue on the stable growth trajectory the Company's 

business model is designed to bring about. This means 

healthy, profitable single-digit growth.

2.2 Macroeconomic and industry-specific conditions

a) Macroeconomic conditions

World economy expanded in fiscal year 2014, growing 

approximately 3.3%. Results varied in Data Modul's 

three primary regions (Europe, America, Asia). 

Europe was a mixed picture in 2014, with the increasing 

sanctions mutually imposed by the EU and Russia having 

a large effect on European economies, which may conti-

nue negatively impacting eurozone growth. In addition, 

some countries made little progress in reducing debt, 

including France, Spain and Italy. Weak corporate and 

consumer borrowing had a negative effect in the eurozo-

ne as well, yet modest 0.8% growth was recorded for the 

eurozone overall.  

On balance, Germany fared well for 2014, starting off 

the year strong before stagnation set in during the sum-

mer half-year as economic sanctions between the EU 

and Russia started having an inescapable effect on the 

economy. While the much-feared recession was aver-
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ted, corporate optimism clearly faded until November. 

With rising uncertainty for foreign trade, planned capital 

expenditures were again shelved. With private consumer 

spending and exports lifting the German economy as in 

the previous year, the country recorded growth of around 

1.5% for 2014. 

The US economic recovery steadily gained momentum 

over the course of the year, yielding GDP growth of 2.4%. 

This result came about in part due to further job creation 

and declining unemployment, which aided the economy 

in 2014 by boosting private consumption. A significant 

rise in industrial output also contributed to GDP growth 

in 2014.

The global financial and economic crisis has even 

caused growth engine China to stutter a bit, even though 

the country has surpassed the US as the world's largest 

trading nation. Growth of 7.4% was recorded for the 

world's second-largest national economy.

b) Industry-specific conditions

DATA MODUL’s markets are highly fragmented and sub-

ject to great competitive pressure. However, the expansi-

on of our R&D resources and the resulting improved fle-

xibility allowing us to respond quickly to market changes 

and to customer requirements will give us an edge over 

our competitors. 

In our core industries of machinery and industrial engi-

neering we are strongly subjected to influences from the 

economic environment. German machinery and indust-

rial engineering companies saw incoming orders incre-

ase slightly in 2014, domestic demand being stronger 

than foreign demand. Corporate capital expenditure rose 

slightly during the course of the year however, demonst-

rating confidence in the ongoing economic recovery.

2.3 Group business situation

a) Earnings

Exceeding last year's already high level of 158,999 

thousand euros, we recorded 160,347 thousand euros 

in new orders. Thus order backlog further rose to 98,485 

thousand euros (previous year: 89,639 thousand euros). 

Revenue increased in fiscal 2014 to 155,915 thousand 

euros (previous year: 146,706 thousand euros). DATA 

MODUL benefited from it being a good year for German 

mechanical engineering companies, whose production 

rose by about 1%. The continuing strength of the northern 

European economies and major projects in Singapore and 

the UK helped make it a highly successful fiscal year.

Revenue broke down by region as follows (in million 

euros):

Revenue analysis 2014 2013

Germany 93.6 88.3

Europe 46.6 46.5

America 8.4 7.2

Asia/Pacific/Africa 6.5 3.7

Rest of World 0.8 1.0

Total 155.9 146.7

Export rate 40,0% 39,8% 

The change in key expenses and income items in fiscal 

year 2014 is shown below:

 » Cost of sales increased year-on-year to 117,886 

thousand euros (previous year: 115,739 thousand 

euros). Cost of materials rose as a result of the 6.3% 

rise in revenue. Lower purchasing prices and progress 

in evolving into a system solutions provider led to gross 

margin widening to 24.4% (previous year: 21.1%)

 » Research and development expenses climbed to 5,274 

thousand euros, as compared to 4,850 thousand euros 

in the previous year. This increase resulted from conti-

nued expansion of the R&D department. Capitalizing 

development costs led to a net loss of 87 thousand 

euros in fiscal year 2014 (difference between capitali-

zation and amortization).

 » Selling and general administration expenses were 

largely unchanged year-on-year at 21,351 thousand 

euros versus 20,441 thousand euros in 2013. Selling 

expenses accounted for 15,735 thousand euros of total 

expenses reported (previous year: 14,501 thousand 

euros), and general administration expenses came to 

5,616 thousand euros (previous year: 5,940 thousand 

euros). The increase in selling expenses was main-

ly due to higher expenses for revenue-related bonu-

ses and commissions paid during the fiscal year and 

to higher trade fair-related expenses. The decline in 



48 GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT 

administrative expenses resulted from net exchange 

gains in the year under review in the amount of 640 

thousand euros (previous year: exchange loss of 481 

thousand euros).

As financing conditions remained quite favorable for the 

Group, the financial result was largely unchanged at -272 

thousand euros (previous year: -280 thousand euros).

After the tax expense charge from allocating tax provi-

sions in view of the tax audit which was ongoing in the 

previous year, for 2014 the tax rate declined to 32.0% 

(previous year: 40.0%) The tax audit for the years 2008 - 

2011 was completed in fiscal year 2014. 

EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes) of 11,404 

thousand euros was recorded, reflecting higher reve-

nue and a wider gross margin (previous year: 5,676 

thousand euros). EBIT yield thus came to 7.3% (previ-

ous year: 3.9%) Low financing costs contributed to a net 

pre-tax profit of 11,132 thousand euros (previous year: 

5,396 thousand euros).

Net income for 2014 changed in line with the pre-tax 

result, coming in at 7,573 thousand euros (previous 

year: 3,235 thousand euros). Earnings per share thus 

came to 2.23 euros for 2014 (based on a weighted ave-

rage of 3,394,000 shares outstanding), as compared 

to 0.95 euros in 2013 (based on a wheigt average of 

3,394,000 shares outstanding).

Displays segment

Displays segment revenue rose to 90,959 thousand 

euros (previous year: 82,802 thousand euros). This 

9.9% increase was in part the result of greater focus 

on our product portfolio. EBIT of 6,144 thousand euros 

was recorded (previous year: 3,294 thousand euros). 

The segment generated net income for the year of 4,378 

thousand euros (previous year: 1,905 thousand euros). 

The Displays segment, which is the backbone of the 

Group’s business, again recorded a substantial increa-

se in orders received at 92,928 thousand euros (previ-

ous year: 92,063 thousand euros). Order backlog as of 

December 31, 2014 was 53,620 thousand euros (previ-

ous year: 48,522 thousand euros).

Systems segment

The Systems segment recorded another revenue incre-

ase of 1.7% up to 64,956 thousand euros (previous 

year: 63,904 thousand euros), resulting in EBIT of 5,260 

thousand euros (previous year: 2,382 thousand euros). 

Net income for the year thus came to 3,195 thousand 

euros (previous year: 1,330 thousand euros). Orders-

received increased by 0.7% to 67,418 thousand euros 

(previous year: 66,936 thousand euros). Order backlog 

as of December 31, 2014 was 44,865 thousand euros 

(previous year: 41,117 thousand euros). We thus view 

our decision to further expand the Systems business as 

the right move, and are optimistic about this business 

segment for fiscal year 2015. 

b) Financial position

Capital structure

To the extent possible, DATA MODUL Group finances its 

operations from internal resources, supplemented by 

borrowings from financial institutions and trade credit 

when necessary. Currently, DATA MODUL Group generally 

uses natural hedges to protect against potential currency 

risks with respect to the US dollar, the Japanese yen and 

the British pound. No hedging instruments were held at 

the reporting date.

The equity ratio was 60.0% (previous year : 50.5%), the 

debt ratio was 40.0% (previous year: 49.5%) The table 

“Liabilities due to financial institutions” shows Group 

debt broken down by maturity.

The Group’s leverage ratio was 66.7% (previous year: 

98.1%).

Debt consists primarily of

 · 12,050 thousand euros (previous year: 19,884 

thousand euros) in liabilities due to financial institu-

tions. The maturities are as follows:

Liabilities due to financial 
institutions

< 1  
year

1-5 
years

> 5 
years

Total

KEUR 9,050 3,000 0 12,050

 · 7,697 thousand euros (previous year: 10,945 thousand 

euros) in trade accounts payable. The maturities are as 

follows (in KEUR):
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Trade accounts payable < 1 year

EUR 3,917

USD 2,819

JPY 419

SGD 472

Other 70

Grand total 7,697

Guaranteed bills outstanding amount to 1,476 thousand 

euros (previous year: 2,173 thousand euros). The matu-

rities are as follows (in KEUR):

Guaranteed bills 
outstanding < 1 year 1-5 years > 5 years Total

EUR 749 223 427 1,399

AED (in euro) 57 0 0 57

ZAR (in euro) 20 0 0 20

Grand total 826 223 427 1,476

In the fiscal year ended the Group took steps early to 

secure the financing and refinancing necessary for 

further growth. This involved the renewal of short-term 

lines of credit and bank-guaranteed lines for working 

capital, allowing us to react quickly when business 

opportunities open up. Group companies have credit 

lines totaling 40,890 thousand euros at their disposal 

until further notice, including 5,790 thousand euros in 

bank-guaranteed lines. As of the reporting date, utiliza-

tion of these lines came to 33.1%.

There are thus no going-concern risks relating to Group 

financing. Credit agreements with banks generally do not 

contain special covenants besides the usual quarterly 

reporting obligations. In the event of a change of control, 

talks will be held with lenders regarding arrangements 

going forward.

No special financing measures or projects were conduc-

ted in the period under review.

Capital expenditure

In the fiscal year ended we adjusted our capital expen-

diture in alignment with business changes and our stra-

tegy program. Capital expenditures were made to incre-

ase capacity, for rationalization purposes and related 

manufacturing productivity gains and to enhance inno-

vation and quality in our displays and services. Invest-

ments were also made in IT infrastructure, logistics and 

workplace equipment. Capital expenditures in fiscal 

year 2014 totaled 2,471 thousand euros (previous year: 

2,226 thousand euros). Thecapital expenditure items 

were

 · additions to intangible assets in the amount of 841 

thousand euros (previous year: 802 thousand euros)

 · additions to property, plant and equipment in the 

amount of 1,630 thousand euros (previous year: 1,424 

thousand euros).

A breakdown of capital expenditure by segment is pro-

vided below:

 · Capital expenditure Displays segment 775 thousand 

euros (previous year: 663 thousand euros).

 · Capital expenditure Systems segment 1,696 thousand 

euros (previous year: 1,563 thousand euros).

There were no significant capital expenditure commit-

ments as of the reporting date.

Liquidity

Cash flows from operating activities as of the reporting 

date came to 13,799 thousand euros (previous year: 

4,854 thousand euros). 

Cash flows from financing activities were at -9,876 

thousand euros at year end (previous year: 3,097 

thousand euros). Inflows derived from non-current bor-

rowings. Outflows occurred through dividend distribu-

tions totaling 2,036 thousand euros (previous year: 

2,036 thousand euros) and redemptions of current 

financial liabilities in the amount of 9,985 thousand 

euros (previous year: redemptions of non-current finan-

cial liabilities in the amount of 3,933 thousand euros).

At the end of the year the Group held cash and cash 

equivalents totaling 16,819 thousand euros (previous 

year: 15,287 thousand euros). Net debt declined to 

-5,619 thousand euros as of the reporting date (previous 

year: 3,664 thousand euros). Cash is on hand to pay off 

all trade accounts payable. 

The Group has not been rated by an external rating 

agency. In view of positive cash flows from operating 
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activities and the credit lines available to us, we have 

not commissioned an agency to rate the Group’s credit 

standing. Information from various reputable credit insti-

tutions available to DATA MODUL indicates that the Com-

pany enjoys a good credit rating. 

c) Financial status

The balance sheet total decreased by 3,382 thousand 

euros versus the previous year to 80,076 thousand euros 

(previous year: 83,458 thousand euros). The decrea-

se in assets is almost entirely the result of lower trade 

accounts receivable and inventories. The level of cash 

and cash equivalents increased versus the previous 

year.

On the other side of the balance sheet, shareholders’ 

equity and non-current liabilities increased. Current lia-

bilities due to financial institutions decreased to 9,050 

thousand euros through repayment of short-term debt 

(previous year: 19,034 thousand euros), while non-cur-

rent bank debt increased by 2,150 thousand euros.

As of the reporting date, the DATA MODUL Group equity 

ratio was 60.0% (previous year: 50.5%). 

2.4 Financial and non-financial performance metrics

a) Financial performance metrics

The table below shows the relevant financial perfor-

mance indicators for both the current and previous 

reporting years.

Financial performance metrics  
(in KEUR)

2014 2013

Orders received 160,347 158,999

Order backlog 98,485 89,639

Revenue 155,915 146,706

EBIT 11,404 5,676

Net income 7,573 3,235

Return on equity 23.7% 13.5%

EBIT margin 7.3% 3.9%

b) Non-financial performance metrics

In addition to financial metrics, DATA MODUL also utili-

zes non-financial performance indicators including labor 

relations, long-term customer and supplier relation-

ships, environmental considerations, ISO certifications 

and particularities specific to our industry. One positive 

indicator in the area of labor relations for example is the 

average 9 years of service at DATA MODUL. This reflects 

our very special long-term working relationship with our 

employees, which we actively foster through internal 

training seminars and continuing education programs.

Our remuneration structure comprising fixed and in 

some cases variable salary components ensures that 

individual employee performance is fairly compensated. 

As a result, we take pride in a high degree of employee 

satisfaction and correspondingly low staff turnover. As 

of December 31, 2014 DATA MODUL Group employed 

350 staff, as compared to 344 in the previous year. The 

average annual headcount increased by 5% to 348 staff 

members (previous year: 333 staff). This staffing increa-

se was in response to higher demand for our products, 

necessitating additions to our sales staff and heightened 

R&D activity. The Group employed staff from more than 

18 different nations at the various corporate subsidiari-

es. In the fiscal year just ended, we again provided app-

renticeships to many young people. At the balance sheet 

date, the Group employed 24 apprentices. In the recruit-

ment of new employees, we greatly benefit from the city 

of Munich’s reputation as a preferred business location, 

which heightens our appeal as an employer.

Our long-term relationships with customers and sup-

pliers add great value to our enterprise as well. Honesty 

and loyalty are of great importance to us with regard to 

both our staff and our customers, thus both tend to stay 

with us for a long time. High product quality yields las-

ting customer satisfaction. Long-term supplier relation-

ships in place since founding of the Company are ano-

ther key aspect of our success.

In addition, our energy-efficient products contribute 

to protecting the environment. Environmentally-friend-

ly disposal of our waste products and environmental 

audits for ISO certification are standard practices at 

DATA MODUL. 

We continue to improve our processes and production 

technologies, taking regional conditions into account. 

Resource-friendly planning avoids wastage of materials, 

while efficient logistics eliminates unnecessary transpor-

tation. For our organization, business success and the 

environment are not mutually exclusive goals.
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3. Subsequent events

On January 28, 2015, Arrow Electronics, Inc. with head-

quarters in Centennial, Colorado, USA, via its corporate 

subsidiary Arrow Central Europe Holding Munich GmbH 

announced a voluntary public tender offer to acquire 

all outstanding shares of DATA MODUL AG at a price of 

27.50 euros per share. Simultaneous with the announce-

ment of the tender offer, Arrow reached agreement with 

members of the Hecktor family and with Varitronix, the 

largest single shareholder of DATA MODUL AG, to acqui-

re DATA MODUL shares in the amount of about 34% of 

capital stock. DATA MODUL AG provided notification of 

both in an ad hoc announcement released on January 

28, 2015. Arrow Central Europe Holding Munich GmbH 

published the offering document for the tender offer on 

February 23, 2015, which stated March 24, 2015 as the 

deadline for acceptance of the offer. To read the specific 

terms and conditions see the offer document, available 

at www.data-modul.com/de/investoren.html and www.

arrow.com/datamoduloffer/.

We are not aware of any further significant events occur-

ring after the end of the fiscal year which would have had 

a major influence or impact on the Company's financial 

position, financial performance and cash flows.

4. Forecast, risks and rewards

4.1 Risk report

In fiscal year 2014, DATA MODUL continued to grow its 

core businesses. Global economic trends, exchange 

rate movements, rising commodity and energy prices 

and uncertainties regarding customer ordering behavi-

or constitute risks which may have a lasting impact on 

our business. We are aware of these risks and carefully 

monitor their impact on our business operations. As a 

multinational enterprise, DATA MODUL Group is exposed 

to a number of risks which are inextricably linked to our 

business activities. Efficient management of these risks 

is of key importance as they serve as an early warning 

system. In order to adapt to changes in our markets and 

address the challenges the Company faces we constant-

ly upgrade our internal risk management systems in res-

ponse to changing conditions.

Risk management system

Strategic principles

The DATA MODUL Group risk management system is 

intended to render transparent and manageable any 

known and arising risks and opportunities in the daily 

business operations of all Group companies. We view 

risk management as an ongoing process of recording, 

analyzing and assessing whenever possible the com-

plete spectrum of potential and actual developments, 

and managing these accordingly. Risk management is 

an integral part of our management system, allowing us 

to identify at an early stage any risks to the Company‘s 

growth or existence, and to contain potential business 

impact. These methods are not solely applied to risks, 

but also to identifying opportunities for DATA MODUL 

and exploiting these so as to enable sustainable growth 

and increase Company value.

To achieve this, all our employees and our decision 

makers in particular must be aware of any extent and 

potential risks to which the Company is exposed. A wide 

array of instruments are integrated into business proces-

ses to achieve this goal, which facilitate management on 

all tiers of the Group‘s hierarchy.

Organization and responsibilities

The DATA MODUL Executive Board bears overall respon-

sibility for effective risk management; the Board defines 

the Company’s risk-bearing capacity levels and decides 

on actions to be taken in response to particularly signi-

ficant, core risks. It also updates the Supervisory Board 

regularly concerning the Company‘s risks exposure.

The risk management function is within the Group Con-

trolling Department‘s scope of responsibilities, which 

ensures that risk management is an integral part of regu-

lar business management rather than a mere response 

to specific risks. It enables us to improve the identifica-

tion of risks affecting the entire Group. The Group‘s Cont-

rolling Department coordinates risk management proces-

ses, assists responsible staff with all risk management 

aspects, defines risk thresholds, and is responsible for 

adequate reporting.

Each department and business segment has been assi-

gned a risk manager charged with identifying, analyzing 

and monitoring risks within his/her area of responsibili-

ty. This individual initiates risk response measures and 

their implementation after consultation with Risk Control 

or the Executive Board. 
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Our risk management manual, available to all staff, outli-

nes all relevant risk management components.

Risk identification

At the start of every year we begin the risk management 

process by identifying key risk factors and risk sources 

in the respective operational and functional risk areas, 

using suitable tools such as checklists and question-

naires. We involve the various departments in the risk 

inventory process so as to heighten risk awareness, 

which requires rendering emerging risks transparent. 

The goal is to identify risks before events occur causing 

damage to the Company. 

Risks must be classified according to defined risk cate-

gories, and their cause, actual risk involved and impact 

on the Company comprehensively and transparently 

documented. All risks are recorded in a risk catalog, ana-

lyzed and assessed.

Risk assessment and risk management

Risks are assessed with respect to their impact and likeli-

hood of occurrence. The Group‘s key performance metrics 

for the current and future years serve as reference points. If 

quantitative risk assessment is not possible, a qualitative 

method is used to assess impact.

The table above shows both the measurement scale for the 

two assessment factors (degree of impact and probability 

of occurrence) and the resulting risk classification matrix. 

Risk analysis results are presented within a risk portfolio.

A given risk is classified as „high“, „medium“ or „low“ 

depending on the degree of potential impact on the 

Company‘s business operations, financial position, finan-

cial performance and cash flows or reputation, and on the 

estimated probability of occurrence.

Depending on the risk perception and position, the Com-

pany introduces different risk strategies and specific coun-

ter-measures. A staff member is then charged with imple-

mentation of these measures. Risk control measures are 

implemented based on our strategic risk principles.

Risk monitoring and reporting

Risks are subject to constant change, thus they are con-

tinuously monitored by the risk owners and risk officers 

as to changes and to the adequacy and efficiency of the 

risk strategy currently in place.

Constant monitoring of proposed risk response measu-

res and reporting on their status is an important risk 

control tool. A summary report on risk categories and 

sub-categories is always included in the monthly Execu-

tive Board report.

Continuous risk reporting provides Company manage-

ment a view of the overall risk status. 

We thus prepare an annual risk report and discuss risks 

and rewards for DATA MODUL across all business seg-

ments in monthly, quarterly and year-end meetings.

Additional ad-hoc risk reporting ensures that the Execu-

tive Board is always up to date regarding any newly ari-

sing significant risks.

The following risks could have an adverse effect on our 

business, financial resources and/or earnings. These are 

not the only risks we are exposed to. Other risks not yet 

identified or considered minor could also have an impact 

on our business. We are not aware of any risks which 

could jeopardize the Group as a going concern.

jeopardizing

serious

medium

marginal

minimal

very unlikely unlikely somewhat likely probable almost certain

Risk classification matrix

degree of potential impact

estimated probability of occurrence
Low risk Medium risk High risk



Risk chart
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Probability of occurrence   

Very unlikely < 10%

Unlikely < 20%
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Risk category No. Substantial risks

Strategic risks 1 Challenges to our business model

Market risks 2

3

4

5

6

Economic shifts
Non-identification of technology trends
Competitive risks
Dependency on certain industries
Supplier dependencies

Value chain risk 7

8
Product quality issues
Deliverability

Financial risks 9

10

11

12

Currency risk
Credit risk
Interest rate risk
Liquidity risk

IT-related risks 13 Data and business system availability

Legal risks 14 Compliance with statutory requirements

Personnel risks 15 Staff turnover

Other operational risks 16 Business disruption due 
to external causes

Probability of occurrence
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a) Corporate strategy risk

Our business strategy is about growth and business 

success. All decisions regarding capital expenditures 

and investments in companies are made on this basis. 

Our successful Embedded and Touch Systems segment, 

with which we entered the market just a few years ago, 

has become an integral part of our business. Corporate 

strategy risks may result from internal projects and stra-

tegic decisions which fail to meet expectations. In conse-

quence, investments made may not pay off for example, 

or the decision to evolve into an end-to-end system solu-

tions provider may prove inadvisable. 

b) Market risks

General economic conditions and industry risks

Demand for DATA MODUL products is subject to a certain 

amount of cyclical fluctuation and volatility. In addition, 

demand rises and falls in line with the economic cycles 

in our primary markets, and could continue declining in 

future. Economic analysts forecast growth of up to 1.4% 

for the German economy in 2015. In recent years howe-

ver, similar forecasts have been somewhat unreliable. 

The risk of the economic recovery faltering due to cer-

tain countries‘ high sovereign debt levels could have a 

negative impact on our business. Other negative effects 

of the crisis, including particularly those resulting from 

instable international currency markets, may also affect 

our business. Economic trends in Germany and the US, 

our key markets, are of particular significance to our 

business. 

DATA MODUL primarily operates in markets characterized 

by a great deal of innovation and rapid technological 

change. Thus there is always a risk that the Company will 

not be able to adapt fast enough to new market trends 

or new technologies, and therefore lose market share to 

competitors. We maintain very close contact with lea-

ding display manufacturers and our customers in order 

to minimize this risk. Expanding our R&D resources has 

also laid a foundation for rapid response by adapting our 

products to market changes. It cannot be ruled out how-

ever, that the strategic decision to realign the Company 

as an end-to-end system solutions provider could prove 

wrong if the market trends we have counted on prove to 

be unprofitable or without growth potential. The loss of 

key customers to competitors poses another substantial 

risk to DATA MODUL‘s business.

Changes in legislation may affect sales in certain indust-

ries and target markets. DATA MODUL has been carefully 

monitoring and assessing the economic, political, legal 

and social environment in order to take account of any 

arising risks or opportunities in our decision-making pro-

cesses at an early stage.

Procurement risks

The market for flatbed displays is dominated by a small 

number of manufacturers, almost all of which are based 

in Asia. Procurement risks could become manifest in 

times of high demand and product scarcity due to capa-

city bottlenecks, resulting in delayed deliveries to cus-

tomers, cost increases and missed sales. We are coun-

tering these risks by means of ‚second sourcing‘.

Similar effects could also become manifest from logis-

tical risks associated with shipping merchandise from 

the East Asia to Europe. We contain this risk through 

proactive inventory management based on estimating 

demand and by choosing reliable suppliers and logistics 

providers upholding high safety and security standards.

However, demand and inventory service level risks 

remain, as well as technical inventory risks. The risk 

of declining prices is taken into account when valuing 

inventories, in accordance with our accounting rules. 

The average inventory service level was 91 days during 

the reporting period, as compared to 92 days in the pre-

vious year.

Competitive and price risks

We aim to be the innovation and technology leaders in 

our markets. This and the fact that we operate in markets 

driven by innovation pose particular challenges regar-

ding our product portfolio and services. The flatbed dis-

plays business is highly competitive. Additionally, it is 

normal for prices of some of our products to fall during 

their life cycle. The ability to develop and successfully 

market new products that meet the market‘s needs will 

be of ever-greater significance in the future. We address 

these challenges by intensifying our research and deve-

lopment efforts and striving to identify our customers‘ 

requirements early on and respond to their needs with 

appropriate products.

c) Value chain risks

DATA MODUL has increased vertical integration of pro-

duction in order to add more value for customers. This 
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involves product quality and customer satisfaction risks, 

however. Systematic quality assurance processes have 

thus been implemented which play a key role in our 

value chain, enabling us to meet customers‘ expecta-

tions. Because of increased production capacity, general 

risks related to production processes may arise which 

could jeopardize our product supply. 

Our QA department performs regular supplier audits, 

which are important for ensuring quality and reliable 

deliverability in our supply chain.

Because we concentrate on a small number of suppliers 

and have to maintain inventories, impairment losses 

may have to be recorded on inventories if customers 

postpone delivery or cancel orders. Our product marke-

ting personnel contain such risks through active inven-

tory management.

d) Financial risks

Interest rate and currency risks

Our global business activities result in many payment 

flows in various currencies. Foreign currencies having 

the greatest significance for the Group are the US dol-

lar and currencies pegged to the dollar, as well as the 

Japanese yen. The Group is exposed to risk from foreign 

exchange rate movements, thus hedging is an integral 

part of our risk management strategy. We mainly use 

natural hedges to hedge against risks from foreign cur-

rency business transactions calculated in euros. Foreign 

exchange hedges are employed to secure our calcula-

ted margins, avoiding potential foreign exchange los-

ses which would increase the cost of purchased com-

ponents. By nature, hedges also offer opportunities to 

realize exchange rate gains, but the Company does not 

enter into any speculative transactions involving for-

eign exchange derivatives, only employing derivatives to 

hedge underlying transactions.

The credit facilities available for financing our global 

business operations are in part subject to interest rate 

risks. Non-current debt is at fixed interest rates, thus the-

se items are not subject to interest rate risk. 

Liquidity and default risks

Currently the DATA MODUL Group has credit lines and 

bank guarantees totaling 40,890 thousand euros. The-

se credit facilities have been granted until further noti-

ce by various banks under bilateral agreements. Credit 

agreements with banks generally do not contain special 

covenants besides the usual quarterly reporting obli-

gations. It is highly likely that we will continue to have 

these credit lines at our disposal in the same amounts 

or amounts which meet our requirements. The Group‘s 

liquidity situation continued to improve in the fiscal year 

ended, characterized by virtually no liquidity risk. 

Default risks may arise should a contractual partner be 

unable to fulfill or should delay fulfilling its obligations, 

causing financial losses to the contract counterparty. In 

order to contain bad debt risks we verify our customers‘ 

credit standing, and obtain trade credit insurance for 

trade accounts receivable. In some cases, precautiona-

ry/surety measures are agreed directly with the customer 

when deemed necessary. Days sales outstanding (DSO) 

were 48 days in 2014.

e) Information technology-related risks

These risks include unauthorized access to sensitive 

company data and information, and impaired system 

access resulting from service disruptions and disas-

ters. Adequate approval procedures, access profiles 

and technologies are deployed to contain these risks. 

Critical data files are backed up on a daily basis, and 

back-up files stored in external locations. In addition, 

we perform regular disaster recovery testing. In 2014, 

external attacks were successfully repelled by the secu-

rity measures in place, so that these did not cause any 

disruptions to our business. In addition, our protective 

measures are tested by external experts to verify their 

effectiveness and efficiency. Our IT systems are conti-

nuously checked and improved to ensure the security 

and efficiency of our business processes on an ongoing 

basis. Furthermore, employees are required to comply 

with our IT policies.

f) Legal risks

Being the quality leader gives us an edge over our com-

petition, and it is our goal to retain and widen that edge. 

This requires us, however, to rapidly identify and fix any 

product weaknesses, an ability we enhance through con-

stant innovation and quality improvement. We are liable 

to our customers for the quality of our products. Quality 

management and quality assurance are thus essential to 

minimizing this risk. Nevertheless, experience has shown 

that a minor amount of risk remains. Legal disputes arise 

in connection with ordinary business activities, involving 

claims over improper product delivery or service provisi-
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on, product liability, product defects, quality problems 

and title infringements. There is no guarantee that DATA 

MODUL‘s reputation will not suffer from these or other 

legal disputes. Defective products may lead to warranty 

claims against Group companies, or these companies 

may be held liable for damages. We have recorded provi-

sions for warranty claims and legal disputes to the extent 

we believe such obligations are valid, and the amount of 

damages can be adequately assessed. Certain legal risks 

are covered by appropriate insurance policies which are 

commonly used in the industry.

g) Personnel-related risks

The success of DATA MODUL Group depends on our com-

prehensive skills and years of experience in the field, 

and on the high level of motivation and commitment our 

employees contribute. Our HR policy is thus about con-

sistently acting upon our corporate mission statement of 

“Success based on competence and responsibility”. The 

Group is responding to ever-intensifying competition for 

highly qualified specialist personnel and managers and 

to the associated risks of losing know-how through staff 

turnover by providing attractive training opportunities, 

targeted staff development offerings and performance-

based pay components and remuneration schemes. 

DATA MODUL‘s flat hierarchical structure, open commu-

nication policy and continuous knowledge-sharing pro-

mote employee satisfaction. We secure new talent for 

the Company by regularly providing apprenticeships for 

many young people.

h) Other operational risks

DATA MODUL is exposed to external risks such as natu-

ral disasters, fires and accidents. Property damage may 

occur in the form of damage to the Group‘s buildings, 

production facilities or warehouses or those of our sup-

pliers, as well as damage to goods in transit, potentially 

causing business disruptions. We contain these risks in 

various ways. For instance, we select reliable suppliers 

and logistics providers which uphold high safety and 

security standards. In addition to insurance coverage, 

we have also implemented emergency procedures to 

mitigate potential negative effects.

Internal controls and risk management with regard to 

Group financial accounting

Our internal control system comprises the standards, 

processes and measures introduced by Company 

management and aimed at organizational implementati-

on of management decision-making to ensure 

 · efficient and cost-effective operations (including asset 

security and the prevention and discovery of pecuniary 

losses)

 · correct and reliable internal and external accounting, and

 · compliance with legal requirements applicable to the 

Company.

DATA MODUL has Group-wide controlling instruments 

deployed as part of the internal control and risk manage-

ment system and utilizes financial performance indi-

cators. Target vs. actual comparisons of financial per-

formance indicators are used principally to measure 

attainment of DATA MODUL objectives. Project cost con-

trol and the degree of deviation from planning are espe-

cially important performance indicators. Performance 

indicators are checked versus quantitative and qualitati-

ve non-financial indicators.

DATA MODUL monitors these indicators as part of inte-

grated project management and controlling. The DATA 

MODUL AG Executive Board receives periodic reports 

and ad-hoc reports as necessary. In the reporting, all 

projects are thoroughly analyzed, taking into considera-

tion the complete set of performance indicators.

DATA MODUL AG monitors the enterprise value of its 

investments in subsidiaries as part of the control and 

risk management system, relying on both qualitative and 

quantitative variables.

Accounts receivable are regularly reviewed to ascertain 

any value impairment. The Company consults credit 

agencies to verify credit standing prior to the first-time 

customer delivery, and periodically thereafter. As soon 

as there is any indication of a change in a customer‘s 

credit standing, a new credit check is performed. Corre-

sponding impairment losses are recorded as necessary.

DATA MODUL AG ensures the correctness of its financial 

accounting through use of an internal control system. 

This ensures that transactions are accounted for and pro-

cesses executed promptly, uniformly, correctly and com-

pletely, as well as ensuring compliance with legal requi-

rements. The internal control system is structured with 
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measures of an organizational and technical content, 

such as coordination processes, automated plausibility 

checking, segregation of functions and compliance with 

policies and requirements.

The Executive Board bears overall responsibility for the 

internal control and risk management system with res-

pect to the financial accounting processes of consolida-

ted companies and to Group consolidated accounting 

processes. A strictly defined management and reporting 

structure regulates the inclusion of all companies, stra-

tegic business segments and departments in the conso-

lidated financial statements.

Business principles, organizational structures, work-

flows and accounting-related processes comprising the 

internal control and risk management system are docu-

mented in Group-wide organizational policies which are 

regularly updated in response to the latest external and 

internal developments.

With respect to the accounting processes of associa-

ted companies and Group accounting processes, we 

consider those aspects of the internal control and risk 

management system to be of material importance, which 

have a major impact on our business accounting and 

the overall view presented in the Consolidated Financial 

Statements and the Group Management Report. In parti-

cular, these are as follows:

 · Identifying material risk and control areas relevant to 

Group-wide financial accounting

 · Monitoring of Group accounting processes and their 

results on the levels of the Group Executive Board, stra-

tegic business segments and Group companies inclu-

ded in the consolidation

 · Preventive control measures in Group finance and 

accounting and at the consolidated companies as well 

as operating, performance-related business processes, 

generating material information for inclusion in the 

consolidated financial statements including the Group 

management report, including segregating of functions 

and controlling of predefined approval processes in 

relevant areas

 · Measures to ensure appropriate computerized proces-

sing of Group accounting-related issues and data

 · Establishing an internal audit system, including regular 

visits to international and domestic subsidiaries with a 

view to monitoring the Group accounting-related inter-

nal control and risk management system.

4.2 Opportunities

Alongside risk factors, we also identify opportunities 

arising in the course of our business operations, which 

we analyze in order to take steps accordingly. The most 

significant opportunities are outlined below, prioritized 

by their current estimated significance for DATA MODUL. 

The opportunities outlined below are not necessarily the 

only ones perceived. Also, the estimated impact of the-

se opportunities is subject to regular change due to the 

rapid developments constantly taking place within the 

Company and our markets as well as to technology in 

general. New opportunities may arise from such chan-

ges, and existing opportunities may become less or more 

pertinent. It is also possible that opportunities perceived 

today are never realized. 

Economic environment and product portfolio

We live in a world of fast information flows. Receiving, pro-

cessing and responding to information from every corner 

of the world has become an important factor in everyday 

life. In the coming years, information will be increasingly 

communicated via displays. It is a world in which people‘s 

quality of life will be directly affected by technological pro-

gress. Our products are a meaningful, important contributi-

on to that end, which is why we take care to offer the right 

products for each individual market.

Changes in general economic conditions present opportu-

nities for DATA MODUL as well. In view of the overall impro-

vement in the global economic situation, market research 

forecasts and increasing investment in modern commu-

nication media, we believe DATA MODUL will experience 

stable growth over the next two fiscal years (see forecast 

report). 

We base these growth expectations on our heightened R&D 

efforts in the field of control electronics and in our indust-

ry-related business, in which we operate as OEM supplier 

of specially developed niche products. There is additional 

potential in our newly developed expertise in the field of 

Touch and Optical bonding technology and the Embedded 

sector. We have received some promising customer inqui-

ries indicative of how much potential exists.

Another attractive growth opportunity lies in further globa-

lization in order to gain exposure to the significant sales 

growth opportunities in emerging markets over the next 

several years. Expansion of our business activities in the US 

holds growth opportunities as well. We believe that this will 

enhance our enterprise value in a sustainable way.
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Acquisitions and competition

We look out for acquisition, investment and partnership 

opportunities which could help us consolidate on our 

technology leadership, tap market potential and further 

optimize our product portfolio, keeping our options 

open. We continue to observe the situation in our cur-

rent markets with regard to opportunities for strategic 

partnerships and acquisitions augmenting our orga-

nic growth. Such activities can further our efforts to 

strengthen our position in our current markets, enter 

new markets and add select areas of technology to our 

portfolio. 

The intense competition in the markets in which we ope-

rate constantly challenges us and our customers to strive 

for innovation. The DATA MODUL business model provides 

a good basis for realizing these business opportunities. 

However, the present market situation holds opportunities 

as well for gaining market share through weaker competi-

tors exiting the market. Because our business units opera-

te in different market and industry segments, DATA MODUL 

has little dependence on particular industries.

Adding value

We could move our value-adding activities to low-cost 

countries to save cost. Transferring certain value-adding 

activities, such as procurement, production and mainte-

nance to markets such as the BRIC countries or nations in 

the Near and Middle East would allow us to reduce costs 

and strengthen our global competitive standing, particu-

larly with respect to competition from countries where cost 

structures are more favorable. Additionally, we are working 

to develop and implement cost-cutting initiatives, adjust 

capacity, improve processes and rebalance our portfolio 

constantly. In highly competitive markets, competitive cost 

structures enhance the competitive advantage of innovati-

on capability. We expect to reap lasting benefits from pro-

ductivity raising measures in connection with the “Fit for 

Future 2015” strategy program.

Nonetheless, uncertainties remain which could endan-

ger any sustained improvement in business conditions 

(see: ‚General economic conditions‘ and ‚Forecast‘). 

The Executive Board saw no individual risks which pose 

a going-concern threat to the DATA MODUL Group as of 

the reporting date, and does not foresee any arising in 

the near future, nor did risks in aggregate pose an evi-

dent going-concern threat to the DATA MODUL Group as 

of the reporting date.

4.3 Forecast

The statements made in the following regarding the 

future business results of DATA MODUL Group and 

assumptions regarding market and industry trends 

deemed material in relation thereto are based on opini-

ons which we believe are realistic at this time given the 

information available. These assumptions and assess-

ments are subject to uncertainty however, and involve 

an inevitable risk that developments may not occur as 

forecast, with regard to either trend direction or extent.

General economic conditions

Forecasts for global economic growth in 2015 are cau-

tiously optimistic. We expect 3.5% growth for the global 

economy – stronger expansion than has been seen since 

2011. Inflation rates remain low in most industrialized 

countries despite extremely loose monetary policies in 

place for some time now. The monetary policies  pursued 

by the four major central banks will remain highly expan-

sive in 2015 as well. Central banks have played a major 

role in the recovery of markets and the global economy, 

and will continue to do so.  If market participants lose 

confidence in central banks it would unleash renewed 

turmoil on the capital markets and end the recovery. 

In Germany, private consumption will be an important 

factor for domestic growth in 2015, supported by the cur-

rently low interest levels. German exports will benefit from 

the gradually improving global economy, helping German 

gross domestic product grow by 1.4 % year-on-year.

In addition to domestic political developments, decisi-

ons and developments on the European level will remain 

of foreground importance. Geopolitical conflicts such as 

the Ukraine conflict and the fight against the IS conti-

nue to pose high risks; the spiraling sanctions mutually 

imposed by Russia and the EU could in particular have 

a negative impact on future growth in Europe. The sove-

reign debt crisis and related consolidation measures 

will also have a slowing effect on the economy in 2015, 

thus growth for the eurozone is being projected at 0.8% 

for 2015.

We expect the US economy to growth robustly over the 

next few quarters, with low oil prices indicating muted 

capital expenditure in the extraction business. Low gaso-

line prices, however, could spur consumption, driving 

growth. This in turn should benefit employment, so the 

United States could function as the engine of the world 

economy again in 2015. The US economy is gradually 

recovering, and projected to grow at 3.5% in 2015. 
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DATA MODUL outlook for 2015

In addition to the geopolitical risks stemming from ten-

sions with Russia and the Middle East as well as the rise 

of the IS, all of which could significantly affect deve-

lopment, the monetary policy of the central banks will 

also play a key role in 2015. If market participants lose 

confidence in central banks it would not only unleash 

renewed turmoil on the capital markets but may end the 

recovery. Threats such as Ebola could also detract from 

the growth of the world economy by curbing risk-taking 

propensity and creating negative sentiment. The ques-

tion of China‘s further development holds risks as well, 

including a possible financial crisis triggered by bursting 

of a real estate bubble just as China is attempting to 

realign its economy. 

A return to crisis in Europe is also conceivable, as the 

sovereign debt crisis is not yet over, and could poten-

tially lead to a banking crisis again in 2015. Lending 

to businesses may remain at insufficient levels as a 

result, having a negative impact on Europe‘s econo-

mic recovery. DATA MODUL is positioned to fare better 

than many firms due to our high equity ratio, low net 

indebtedness and the solid financing policies pursued 

in recent years.

The „Fit for Future 2015“ strategy program is aimed at 

further strengthening DATA MODUL‘s global competi-

tiveness. We aim for balanced growth in Europe and 

the US, with Germany naturally forming the backbone of 

the Group. The DATA MODUL Group will thus find growth 

opportunities in 2015 arising from the overall economic 

situation and from new products developed to market-

readiness, despite fierce competition. We will neverthel-

ess consequently pursue our strategic goals with a view 

to returning to the growth trajectory of previous years.

In consequence of our strategic development program, 

we will again be investing this year in our production 

and logistics center to further increase production capa-

city. Currently the Group has plans for roughly 3.5 mil-

lion euros in capital expenditure. Depending on the 

developments in fiscal year 2015, we will either invest 

the full amount or reserve part of the funds. In addition, 

major investment may be necessary within the next two 

years to expand production and logistics capabilities at 

the Weikersheim location to avoid resource shortages 

as sales continue to increase. We plan to finance these 

investments from operating cash flow and existing cre-

dit lines.

These projections are based on a number of assump-

tions, and particularly on our revenue estimates. A 

detailed, reliable forecast is not possible due to the ina-

bility to determine the extent to which stabilizing fac-

tors could compensate for uncertainties. Because of the 

aforementioned risks and opportunities, DATA MODUL‘s 

actual situation could differ from our projections either 

positively or negatively. Our projections are based on the 

following assumptions:

 · German economic growth: 1.4%

 · European economic growth: 0.8%

 · US economic growth: 3.4%

 · Global economic growth: 3.5%

 · Stable USD and JPY exchange rates

 · Operational start-up of additional machinery at our pro-

duction facilities

Summary

In view of the favorable market environment, the Executi-

ve Board expects DATA MODUL Group to grow its profits. 

The productivity-raising measures implemented over 

recent years are expected to add lasting value, boosting 

profitability.

The book-to-bill ratio will remain well above 1, thus 

our revenue growth will be secure in the medium term. 

Revenue for 2015 is thus projected at 160 - 170 million 

euros, with a target EBIT margin of 6.5% - 7.5%. Both our 

business segments are expected to grow, although our 

highest expectations are for the Systems business. We 

have invested heavily over the past two years in touch 

and embedded technologies, which is reflected in incre-

ased R&D expenses, and is anticipated to enhance reve-

nue and earnings for the segment. 

Group objectives Targets for 2015 Fiscal year 2014

Orders received + 3 –  9% EUR 160.3 million

Order backlog + 5 – 9% EUR 98.5 million

Increase in sales + 3 – 9% EUR 155.9 million

EBIT + 1 – 10% EUR 11.4 million

Net income + 1 – 10% EUR 7.6 million

Return on equity + 1 – 4% 23.7%

EBIT margin + 1 – 4% 7.3%
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The DATA MODUL AG Supervisory Board determines 

the overall remuneration packages for individual mem-

bers of the Executive Board. It also reviews and adapts 

the Executive Board remuneration scheme on a regu-

lar basis with a view towards appropriateness in terms 

of both overall remuneration and individual Executive 

Board member remuneration, considering the principal 

contractual elements in place. The provisions of the Act 

on Appropriateness of Remuneration Paid to Executive 

Board Members of July 31, 2009 are taken into account 

when renewing Executive Board member contracts.

The remuneration packages of DATA MODUL AG Executive 

Board members are determined based on the size and the 

global activities of the company, its business and financi-

al position, its prospects, and the amount and structure 

of remuneration packages of executives and directors of 

comparable companies in and outside Germany. In addi-

tion, the responsibilities, contributions and performance 

of the respective Executive Board member are taken into 

account. Our remuneration structure is designed to be 

competitive in the international market for highly qualified 

executives, and incentivizes hard work within a high-per-

formance culture to successfully and sustainably grow the 

enterprise. DATA MODUL participates in comparative remu-

neration surveys of both the industry and of Prime Stan-

dard companies in general to ensure horizontal compara-

bility of Executive Board remuneration. When determining 

Executive Board remuneration, pay scales and the remu-

neration scheme used throughout the DATA MODUL Group 

are taken into account as well for a vertical perspective.

Executive Board remuneration is performance-oriented. 

It comprises the following four components:

1. Fixed components (basic salary plus fringe benefits)

2. Performance-based components (variable compensa-

tion linked to achieving set targets)

3. Share-based remuneration (SOP)

4. Pension commitments

Basic salary, fringe benefits and pension are the non-

performance-linked remuneration components. Basic 

salary is paid in even monthly installments. Fringe bene-

fits primarily consist of contributions to accident, life 

and health insurance and use of a business car. Mr. 

Hecktor also receives pension plan benefits. There are 

no pension commitments of any kind for other Executive 

Board members.

Performance-based variable remuneration in the form of 

an executive bonus depends on the attainment of cer-

tain targets set in individual employment contracts. The 

targets are based on Group EBIT. The executive bonus is 

staggered based on the degree of target attainment, with 

a minimum threshold and cap. The earnings target for 

fiscal year 2014 was adopted at the Supervisory Board 

meeting held in December 2013. 

Disclosure of the compensation packages granted to 

Executive Board members in fiscal year 2014 are in 

accordance with applicable accounting principles (GAS 

17 and IFRS) and the German Corporate Governance 

Code provisions (GCGC):

Compensation packages granted

Peter Hecktor 1) 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Joining date: Oct. 12, 1988
Leaving date: May 12, 2014

Walter King 
COO 

Joining date: May 15, 2001

Dr. Florian Pesahl
CFO 

Joining date: Jan. 01, 2010
Total

KEUR 2013 2014 2014 
(Min)

2014 
(Max)

2013 2014 2014 
(Min)

2014 
(Max)

2013 2014 2014 
(Min)

2014 
(Max)

2013 2014

Fixed remuneration 280 99 99 99 220 239 239 239 200 219 219 219 700 557

Fringe benefits 24 25 25 25 17 18 18 18 11 11 11 11 52 54

Total 304 124 124 124 237 257 257 257 211 230 230 230 752 611

One-year variable compensation 2) 200 0 0 0 87 95 0 95 87 95 0 95 374 190

Multi-year variable compensation 3) 0 0 0 0 43 47 0 47 43 47 0 47 86 94

Executive bonus 2013 (payable in 2015) 43 43 86 0

Executive bonus 2014 (payable in 2016) 47 0 47 47 0 47 0 94

Total compensation (according to GCGC) 504 124 124 124 367 399 257 399 341 372 230 372 1,212 895

Service cost 19 20 20 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 19 20

Total compensation (According to GAS 17) 523 144 144 144 367 399 257 399 341 372 230 372 1,231 915

5. Remuneration report
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1) Mr. Hecktor was elected to the Supervisory Board on 

May 12, 2014 at the Annual Shareholders‘ Meeting. The 

stated remuneration figures are for Executive Board mem-

ber activities up to that date. The dissolution agreement 

between the Company and Mr. Hecktor provided for a 

fixed severance payment of 181 thousand euros for fiscal 

2014 plus a bonus severance element in the amount of 

200 thousand euros calculated according to the bonus 

provisions in his employment contract; provisions for 

these amounts were allocated and the amounts will be 

paid upon adoption of the 2014 net income accounting.

2)  Not taking into account any deferrals.

3) According to their employment contracts, Mr. King‘s 

and Dr. Pesahl‘s executive bonus packages contain 

long-term incentives by virtue of which only two thirds of 

accrued executive bonuses are to be paid out in 2015, 

the third portion only being disbursable if the Compa-

ny remains profitable in 2016. Mr. Hecktor‘s executive 

bonus package does not contain a sustainability com-

ponent.

Compensation of Executive Board members paid in fiscal year 2014 breaks down as follows:

Compensation 

Peter Hecktor 4)

Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Joining date: Oct. 12, 1988
Leaving date: May 12, 2014

Walter King 
COO 

Joining date: May 15, 2001

Dr. Florian Pesahl
CFO 

Joining date: Jan. 01, 2010 Total

KEUR 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Fixed remuneration 99 280 239 220 219 200 557 700

Fringe benefits 25 24 18 17 11 11 54 52

Total 124 304 257 237 230 211 611 752

One-year variable compensation 5) 200 200 87 87 87 87 374 374

Multi-year variable compensation 0 0 43 43 43 43 86 86

Executive bonus 2011 43 43 86

Executive bonus 2012 43 43 86

Total compensation 324 504 387 367 360 341 1,071 1,212

4) Mr. Hecktor was elected to the Supervisory Board on 

May 12, 2014 at the Annual Shareholders‘ Meeting. The 

stated compensation figures are for Executive Board 

member activities up to that date. The dissolution agree-

ment between the Company and Mr. Hecktor also pro-

vided for a fixed severance payment of 181 thousand 

euros which was disbursed in fiscal year 2014.

5)  Not taking into account any deferrals.

Two other Executive Board members receive remunera-

tion in the form of stock options granted as a long-term 

incentive. These are granted within the framework of 

the 2000 Stock Option Program outlined in detail under 

Point 8 of the Notes. The table below shows the stock 

option benefits of individual Executive Board members: 

Stock option program 2000
Peter Hecktor Walter King

2014 2013 2014 2013

Exercisable options as of 
12/31/2014

0 2,967 0 2,967

Options forfeited in 2014 2,967 0 2,967 0

Options exercised in 2005 
and 2007

2,174 2,174 2,174 2,174

As of the reporting date, the Group had pension commit-

ments for active and retired members of the Executive 

Board as shown in the table below, indicating annual 

contributions to the pension plan:

Pensions Peter Hecktor Walter Eichner

KEUR 2014 2013 2014 2013

Provisions recorded as of 
the reporting date

260 211 275 241

Allocations to pension 
provisions

69 25 58 24

Pensions paid 20 19 23 23
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In fiscal years 2013 and 2014, Executive Board members 

did not receive any loans or any similar benefits. Nor did 

they receive any remuneration for offices held at other 

Group companies.

There are no contractual agreements in place with Exe-

cutive Board members governing early termination of 

Board duties without due cause, or severance caps. The 

Supervisory Board believes that this is not appropriate 

due to the fact that the members of the Executive Board 

usually do not have any control over a decision to ter-

minate agreements without due cause. Executive Board 

members‘ contracts contain provisions governing termi-

nation of employment in the event of a change of control. 

If an Executive Board member leaves the Company as a 

result of a change of control, that member is entitled to 

continuing payment of his target salary in the amount of 

two years‘ salary.  

Supervisory Board remuneration

The amount of remuneration paid to Supervisory Board 

members is commensurate with the size of the compa-

ny, the members‘ tasks and the responsibilities, and 

the Company‘s financial position and business outlook. 

The relevant provisions are set forth under Art. 8 of 

the Company‘s Articles of Incorporation. These provide 

that Supervisory Board members receive a fixed annu-

al fee payable after the fiscal year has ended. This fee 

is 20,000 euros p.a.; the chairman receives twice this 

amount, and the deputy chairman receives 1.5 times 

this amount. The Company does not pay any fees for 

attending Supervisory Board meetings. Remuneration 

paid to individual Supervisory Board members is outli-

ned below:

Annual remuneration  
in KEUR

2014 2013

Victoria Hecktor 15 40

Tony Tsoi Tong Hoo 30 30

Petra Ollhoff 8 20

Peter Hecktor 25 0

Wolfgang Klein 12 0

Grand total 90 90

Supervisory Board members are reimbursed for expenses 

incurred in connection with performing their office, and 

for any VAT charged on their remuneration. The Compa-

ny does not grant loans to Supervisory Board members. 

DATA MODUL AG provides D&O insurance for certain 

Group board members. The insurance is taken out or 

renewed annually. The insurance covers personal liabi-

lity in cases of pecuniary loss claims brought against 

directors/officers in connection with the performing of 

their duties. The policy for the fiscal year 2014 stipulates 

a deductible for Executive Board members in line with 

the German Stock Corporation Law and German Corpo-

rate Governance Code.

6. Control of capital

a) Subscribed capital

DATA MODUL AG has capital stock of 10,578,546 euros, 

and has been listed as a technology firm on the Pri-

me Standard in March 2003. Capital stock comprises 

3,526,182 no-par bearer shares. Each share represents 

3.00 euros of subscribed capital. 

At the balance sheet date, DATA MODUL held 132,182 

treasury shares (3.75% of subscribed capital), and the 

number of shares outstanding was 3,394,000.

b) Shareholders

The largest single shareholder is Varitronix Investment 

Limited, Hong Kong, holding a 19.99% stake; its voting 

rights are held by Varitronix International Ltd., which 

controls the Hong Kong-based company. Another signi-

ficant individual shareholder is Mr. Peter Hecktor, who 

holds 321,767 or 9.13% of Company shares. In total, the 

Hecktor family holds 14.22% of shares (including shares 

held by Mr. Peter Hecktor). The next-largest individual 

shareholder is Mr. Ludwig Lehmann, who notified us 

on September 14, 2009 that his shareholdings in DATA 

MODUL AG exceeded the 5% threshold on September 7, 

2009 at 5.01% (176,807 votes). The Company is not 

aware of any other individual shareholders holding more 

than 3% of Company shares. 

c) Voting rights restrictions

The Executive Board is not aware of any restrictions on 

the transfer of shares such as rights of first refusal or 

lock-up clauses. Likewise, there are no restrictions on 

voting rights or controls, and no shareholders hold spe-

cial rights of any kind. 

Statutory provisions are observed when appointing and 
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replacing members of the Executive Board. Changes in 

Executive Board composition are made in accordance 

with Secs. 84, 85 German Stock Corporation Law (AktG); 

changes to the Articles of Incorporation are made in 

accordance with Secs. 133, 179 German Stock Corpora-

tion Law.

The authority of the Executive Board with respect to the 

issuance and acquisition of new shares is as follows:

Authorized capital

Pursuant to a shareholder resolution, the Executive 

Board is authorized – subject to Supervisory Board 

approval – to increase the Company‘s capital stock by 

a total amount of 5,289 thousand euros (authorized 

capital) through the issuance of no-par bearer shares 

to be sold for cash or exchanged for non-cash assets, 

one or more times through the date May 10, 2015. The 

Executive Board is also authorized – subject to Supervi-

sory Board approval – to exclude existing shareholders‘ 

subscription rights to shares issued from authorized 

capital up to 2,645 thousand euros in amount if the sha-

res are issued for non-cash assets. The Executive Board 

is furthermore authorized – subject to Supervisory Board 

approval – to exclude existing shareholders‘ subscripti-

on rights to shares issued from authorized capital up to 

1,057 thousand euros in amount if the new shares are 

sold for cash at a price not substantially below market 

price, or if the shares are issued to acquire or invest in 

companies. The increase in authorized capital was recor-

ded in the German commercial register (Handelsregister) 

on May 18, 2010.

Contingent capital

The Executive Board was further authorized to increa-

se capital stock by up to 754 thousand euros in total 

through the issuance of up to 251,196 no-par bearer 

shares in conjunction with the stock option program 

approved by shareholders. Shares issued in conjunction 

with the stock option program are dividend-entitled from 

the first day of the fiscal year in which the options are 

exercised. In 2005, 1,580 options were exercised, and 

contingent capital was reduced by 5 thousand euros. In 

2007, another 9,640 options were exercised, and contin-

gent capital reduced by 29 thousand euros. No options 

were exercised in the years 2008 to 2014. Following 

expiration of the stock option program on April 5, 2014, 

the corresponding contingent capital was de-allocated 

at the Annual Shareholders‘ Meeting on May 12, 2014.

Stock buybacks to treasury

Per resolution at the Annual Shareholders‘ Meeting on 

May 11, 2010, DATA MODUL AG is authorized to buy back 

stock to treasury. Stock buybacks may be made during 

the period from May 11, 2010 through May 10, 2015 

in the amount of 10% of capital stock. Treasury stock 

may not be traded. Stock is purchased to treasury via 

the stock exchange, by public purchase offer open to all 

shareholders or by public invitation to tender an offer.

7. Corporate governance declaration

Sec. 289a German Commercial Code (HGB) mandates 

a corporate governance declaration. This declaration is 

made available to the public on the Company website 

www.data-modul.com under the heading Investor Rela-

tions.

Munich, February 24, 2015

Dr. Florian Pesahl, Chief Financial Officer

Walter King, Chief Operating Officer
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ASSETS Notes 12/31/2014 12/31/2013

Non-current assets

Goodwill [8] 2,419 2,419

Intangible assets [8] 2,503 2,545

Property, plant and equipment [8] 9,595 8,954

Other non-current assets [9] 205 308

Deferred tax assets [6] 0 * 0

Total non-current assets 14,722 14,226

Current assets

Inventories [10] 28,899 29,811

Trade accounts receivable,  
net of allowance for doubtful accounts  
(2014: 434; 2013: 254)

[11] 18,341 22,352

Other current assets [11] 1,295 1,782

Cash and cash equivalents [12] 16,819 15,287

Total current assets 65,354 69,232

Total assets 80,076   83,458

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
FINANCIAL POSITION AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2014 

All figures in KEUR
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LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY Notes 12/31/2014 12/31/2013

Shareholders' equity
Capital stock no-par-value bearer shares (authorized: 
KEUR 5,289; conditional capital  KEUR 0 as of 12/31/2014 and 
KEUR 754 as of 12/31/2013; shares issued and outstanding: 
3,394,000 in 2014 and in 2013)

[13] 10,182 10,182

Capital reserves [13] 22,367 22,446

Retained earnings [13] 17,104 11,745

Other reserves [13] (1,617) * (2,242)

Total shareholders' equity 48,036 42,131

Non-current liabilities   

Pensions and non-current personnel liabilities [14] 1,772 1,504

Non-current bank liabilities [15] 3,000 850

Non-current provisions [16] 351 520

Deferred tax liabilities [6] 498 *  89

Total non-current liabilities  5,621 2,963

Current liabilities

Trade accounts payable 7,697 10,945

Taxes payable [18] 3,035 1,913

Current provisions [16] 1,540 862

Liabilities due to financial institutions [17] 8,200 18,101

Current portion of non-current borrowings [15] 850 933

Other current liabilities [18] 5,097 5,610

Total current liabilities 26,419 38,364

Total liabilities 32,040 41,327

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 80,076 83,458

All figures in KEUR

* Retroactive adjustment in accordance with IAS 8.43, see also Notes [13] Equity (Other reserves)
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Notes         2014         2013

Revenues [1] 155,915 146,706

Cost of sales [2] (117,886) (115,739)

Gross margin 38,029 30,967

Research and development expenses [3] (5,274) (4,850)

Selling and general administrative expenses [4] (21,351) (20,441)

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 11,404 5,676

Interest income [5] 22 45

Interest expense [5] (294) (325)

Earnings before taxes 11,132 5,396

Income tax expense [6] (3,559) (2,161)

Net income 7,573 3,235

  

Earnings per share – basic [7] 2.23 0.95

Earnings per share – diluted [7] 2.23 0.95

Weighted average of shares outstanding – basic 3,394,000 3,394,000

Weighted average of shares outstanding – diluted 3,394,000 3,394,000

All figures in KEUR, except earnings per share, and weighted average of shares outstanding

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME 
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        2014          2013

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income 7,573 3,235

Non-cash expenses and income

Income tax expense 3,102 2,499

Amortization of capitalized development costs 655 972

Amortization of other intangible assets and depreciation of fixed assets 1,198 1,149

Provisions for bad debts 254 884

Deferred taxes 410 * 213

Gain from disposals of fixed assets 0 2

Changes in non-current accrued liabilities 98 663

Net interest 272 280

Other non-cash expenses and income 3,194 2,396

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Trade accounts receivable 3,757 (7,345)

Inventories 912 624

Trade accounts payable (3,212) 2,596

Current provisions (154) (1,546)

Other assets and liabilities (2,581) * (53)

Income taxes paid (1,405) (1,445)

Interest received 7 2

Interest paid (281) (272)

Cash flows from operating activities 13,799 4,854

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets 46 3

Proceeds from disposals of subsidiaries 0 6

Gain / (Loss)  from disposals of subsidiaries 0 (15)

Outflows from capitalized development costs (568) (779)

Capital expenditures on other intangible and fixed assets (1,903) (1,447)

Cash flows from investing activities (2,425) (2,232)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of current borrowings (9,985) 0

Increase in short-term borrowings 0 9,068

Repayment of non-current borrowings 0 (3,933)

Increase in non-current borrowings 2,150 0

Dividend to shareholders (2,036) (2,036)

Other financing activities (5) (2)

Cash flows from financing activities (9,876) 3,097

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 35 51

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,532 5,770

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 15,287 9,517

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 16,819 15,287

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

* Retroactive adjustment in accordance with IAS 8.43, see also Notes [13] Equity (Other reserves)
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All figures in KEUR, except number of shares.

* Retroactive adjustment in accordance with IAS 8.43, see also Notes [13] Equity (Other reserves)

KEUR 2014 2013

Consolidated net income for the period 7,573 3,235

Other comprehensive income / (loss)

Other comprehensive income / (loss) to be reclassified and reported in profit or loss in subsequent reporting periods

Adjustments from currency translation of foreign subsidiary results 625 (172)

Tax effects from other comprehensive income items 0 0

Other comprehensive income/ (loss) not to be reclassified and reported in profit or loss in subsequent reporting periods

Actuarial gains/ (losses) (316) (118)

Tax effects from other comprehensive income items 59 16

Comprehensive income after tax 7,941 2,961

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Capital Stock 
No. of shares

Capital Stock 
Amount

Capital 
reserves

Retained 
earnings

Other  
reserves

Total

BALANCE AS OF  1/1/2013 3,394,000 10,182 22,446 10,649      *  (2.070) 41,207

Net income 3,235 3,235

Dividend (2,037) (2,037)

Other comprehensive income/ 
(loss) (102) (102)

Foreign currency translation 
adjustments (172) (172)

BALANCE AS OF 12/31/2013 3,394,000 10,182 22,446 11,745 (2,242) 42,131

BALANCE AS OF 1/1/2014 3,394,000 10,182 22,446 11,745 (2,242) 42,131

Net income 7,573 7,573

Reversal of conditional capital (79) 79 0

Dividend (2,036) (2,036)

Other comprehensive income/ 
(loss) (257) (257)

Foreign currency translation 
adjustments 625 625

BALANCE AS OF 12/31/2014 3,394,000 10,182 22,367 17,104 (1,617) 48,036
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1. Description of Business

DATA MODUL AG, Produktion und Vertrieb von elektro-

nischen Systemen, Munich, claims to be the European 

market leader in display technology. DATA MODUL deve-

lops, manufactures and distributes innovative flatbed 

displays, monitors, electronic subassemblies and com-

plete information systems. DATA MODUL displays and 

easyTouch displays, electronic subassemblies and cus-

tom products for use in industrial applications and the 

automotive industry comprise the Displays business 

segment.

Our easyPanel and easyEmbedded Solutions and specia-

lized monitors for use in marine navigation and medical 

technology, and customers in the fields of airports, rail-

ways and general business comprise the Systems busi-

ness segment. 

The Company’s main business address is Landsberger-

strasse 322, 80687 Munich, Germany. The Consolida-

ted Financial Statements as of December 31, 2014 were 

prepared by the Executive Board in February 2015 and 

approved and authorized for public disclosure in March 

2014.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis and methods

The object of the Consolidated Financial Statements is 

DATA MODUL AG, having its registered office in Munich, 

as well as its subsidiaries.

The Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Stan-

dards (IFRS) outlined by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (IASB), as adopted by the EU, and in 

accordance with Sec. 315a (1) German Commercial Code 

(Handelsgesetzbuch [HGB]) and applicable provisions of 

German commercial law. Interpretations issued by the 

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Com-

mittee (IFRIC) have been taken into account.

The Consolidated Financial Statements of DATA MODUL 

AG were prepared in accordance with standard accoun-

ting policies pursuant to IFRS 10 (Consolidated financial 

statements) and IAS 27 (Separate financial statements).

The recognition and measurement methods we applied 

did not significantly change versus the previous year, 

except where changes in IFRS accounting procedures 

required application on and after January 1, 2014. 

The Consolidated Financial Statements consist of the 

statement of financial position, the statement of income, 

the statement of cash flows, the statement of chan-

ges in equity, the statement of comprehensive income, 

and the Notes. The disclosures in the Notes include the 

Company's segment reporting. The Consolidated Finan-

cial Statements are prepared in euros (EUR). For pre-

sentation purposes, the euro amounts are rounded to 

thousands of euros (KEUR). For computation purposes, 

the tables and notes may include deviations from the 

accurately calculated amounts due to rounding. The fis-

cal year corresponds to the calendar year. The Consoli-

dated Financial Statements are published in the German 

Federal Gazette (BAnz).

The income statement was prepared using the cost-of-

sales method.

On the income statement and balance sheet, certain 

items are combined for clarification purposes; explana-

tory comments are provided in the Notes. A distinction 

is made on the balance sheet between current and non-

current assets and liabilities in accordance with IAS 1 

(Presentation of Financial Statements). Assets, provisi-

ons and liabilities are classified as current if they are 

realizable or fall due within one year. 

Adoption of new accounting standards

The Group complied with the following changes or new 

amendments of IFRS standards and interpretations in fis-

cal year 2014, if they are applied Group-wide in general.

NOTES TO THE 2014 CONSOLIDATED  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements

IFRS 10 was published in May 2011 and is to be applied 

for the first time in fiscal years beginning on or after 

January 1, 2014. The new standard replaces the previous 

IAS 27 Consolidated and separate financial statements 

- on consolidated accounting, and the Interpretation 

SIC-12 Consolidation - Special purpose entities. IFRS 10 

establishes a uniform controlling concept applicable 

for all companies including special purpose entities. In 

addition, the revised interim guidelines for IFRS 10-12 

were published in June 2012, which are intended to help 

with the first-time application of the new standards.

IFRS 11 Joint arrangements

IFRS 11 was published in May 2011 and is to be applied 

for the first time in fiscal years beginning on or after 

January 1, 2014. This standard replaces IAS 31 Interests 

in joint ventures, and the Interpretation SIC-13 Jointly 

controlled entities – Non-monetary contributions by ven-

turers. IFRS 11 eliminates the option of proportionate 

consolidation for joint venture companies. Going for-

ward, these companies are to be included in the conso-

lidated financial statements at-equity only.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other entities

IFRS 12 was published in May 2011 and is to be applied 

for the first time in fiscal years beginning on or after 

January 1, 2014. The standard uniformly regulates the 

disclosure requirements for group accounting and con-

solidates disclosures on subsidiaries which were pre-

viously regulated under IAS 27, disclosures on jointly 

controlled and associated entities which previously were 

regulated under IAS 31 or IAS 28, and disclosures on 

structured entities.

As the new standard stipulates additional new disclosu-

re requirements, Group disclosures regarding these enti-

ties are therefore more comprehensive.

IAS 27 Separate financial statements (revised 2011)

The revised IAS 27 was published in May 2011 and is to 

be applied for the first time in fiscal years beginning on 

or after January 1, 2014. With the publication of IFRS 10 

and IFRS 12, the scope of application of IAS 27 was 

limited to accounting for investments in subsidiaries, 

jointly controlled entities and associated entities in a 

company's separate financial statements.

IAS 28 Investments in associates and joint ventures 

(revised 2011)

The revised IAS 28 was published in May 2011 and is to 

be applied for the first time in fiscal years beginning on 

or after January 1, 2014. After adoption of IFRS 11 and 

IFRS 12, the regulatory scope of IAS 28 was extended 

to require application of the equity method not only for 

associated companies but for joint ventures as well.

Revised IAS 32 – Offsetting of financial assets and 

financial liabilities

The revised IAS 32 and IFRS 7 were published in Decem-

ber 2011 and are to be applied for the first time in fiscal 

years beginning on or after January 1, 2014 and January 1, 

2013, respectively. This change is intended to eliminate 

Mandatory first-time application as of 12/31/2014 (endorsed by the EU)
Adopted by 
IASB/IFRIC

Applicable as of

IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements May 2011 1/1/2014

IFRS 11 Joint arrangements May 2011 1/1/2014

IFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other entities May 2011 1/1/2014

IAS 27 Separate financial statements (revised 2011) May 2011 1/1/2014

IAS 28 Investments in associates and joint ventures (revised 2011) May 2011 1/1/2014

Revised IAS 32 – Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities December 2011 1/1/2014

IAS 36 – Disclosures on recoverable amounts for non-financial assets May 2013 1/1/2014

IAS 39 – Novation of derivatives and continuation of hedge accounting June 2013 1/1/2014

Revised IFRS 10, IFRS 11, and IFRS 12 – Transitional provisions June 2012 1/1/2014

Revised IFRS 10, IFRS 12, and IAS 27 – Investment entities October 2012 1/1/2014
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inconsistencies by supplementing the application guide-

lines. However, the existing basic provisions on offset-

ting financial instruments are retained. The change also 

defines required supplemental information.

The amendment does not affect Group accounting poli-

cies, but requires additional disclosures.

Revised IAS 36 – Disclosures on recoverable amounts 

for non-financial assets

The revised IAS 36 was published in May 2013 and is 

to be applied for the first time in fiscal years beginning 

on or after January 1, 2014. This change is intended 

to eliminate undesirable effects to disclosure require-

ments resulting from adoption of IFRS 13. It also requi-

res disclosures on recoverable amounts for assets and 

cash-generating units which required value adjustments 

or reversals during the reporting period. The change 

applies retrospectively. Early application is permissible.

This revision only requires additional disclosures or 

disclosure changes, and has no impact on the Group's 

financial position, financial performance and cash flows.

Revised IAS 39 – Novation of derivatives and continua-

tion of hedge accounting

The revised IAS 39 and IFRS 9 were published in June 

2013 and are to be applied for the first time in fiscal 

years beginning on or after January 1, 2014. Under cer-

tain circumstances, this revision provides for continua-

tion of hedge accounting in instances where derivatives 

classified as hedges are transferred to a central clearing 

house (novation) due to statutory or regulatory require-

ments. The change applies retrospectively.

Revised IFRS 10, IFRS 12, and IAS 27 – Investment 

entities

The revised IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 were published 

in October 2012, and are to be applied for the first time 

in fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2014. Early 

application is permissible. This new regulation provides 

that so-called investment entities are exempt from the 

consolidation rules as per IFRS 10, and that all subsidi-

aries controlled by them are to be measured at fair value 

through profit or loss. Exempt are investments in subsidia-

ries which provide services to the investment entity which 

are still to be consolidated as per IFRS 10. Parent compa-

nies of investment entities which are not themselves clas-

sified as investment entities thus have to include in their 

consolidated financial statements all companies which are 

controlled by an investment entity. An investment entity is 

defined as an entity which obtains funds from investors for 

the purpose of providing those investors with investment 

management services for generating returns from capital 

appreciation, investment income, or both. 

Voluntary first-time application permitted as of December 31, 2014  
(endorsed by the EU)

Adopted by IASB/
IFRIC

Applicable as of

IFRIC 21 Levies May 2013 6/17/2014

Improvements to IFRS (2011 - 2013) December 2013 1/1/2015

Revised IAS 19 – Employee contributions November 2013 2/1/2015

Improvements to IFRS (2010 - 2012) December 2013 2/1/2015

IFRIC 21 Levies

This interpretation provides that a company operating 

in a particular market has to recognize a liability for a 

levy imposed by the competent authority at the time 

the business transaction triggering the levy occurs. The 

interpretation also clarifies that a levy which is depen-

dent for example on reaching a certain minimum transac-

tion volume may only be classified as a liability once the 

volume reaches the threshold concerned. Early applica-

tion of this interpretation is permissible. 

Improvements to IFRS (2011 - 2013)

The Improvements to the IFRS published in 2011 - 2013 

have been compiled as an omnibus standard and con-

tains amendments to various IFRS. The Group has not yet 

applied the following revised standards:

 · IFRS 1: Clarifies which versions of the standards and 

interpretations are mandatory and which versions are 

optional for first-time IFRS adopters.

 · IFRS 3: Clarifies the exclusion of the formation of joint 

arrangements from the scope of IFRS 3.
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 · IFRS 13: Clarifies the scope of application of the portfo-

lio exception as per IFRS 13.48 ff.

 · IAS 40: Clarifies the scope of IFRS 3 and IAS 40 regar-

ding classification of real estate as investment property 

or owner-occupied property.

Revised IAS 19 – Employee contributions

This revision regulates the recording of contributions 

by employees or third parties to defined benefit plans 

as reducing service costs for services performed in the 

reporting period in question and provides for a practi-

cal expedient if the amount of the contributions is inde-

pendent of the number of years of service. The change 

applies retrospectively. Early application is permissible.

Improvements to IFRS (2010 - 2012)

The Improvements to the IFRS published in 2010 - 2012 

have been compiled as an omnibus standard and con-

tains amendments to various IFRS. The Group has not yet 

applied the following revised standards:

 · IFRS 2: Clarifies the definition of vesting conditions and 

in particular definitions of service and performance 

conditions.

 · IFRS 3: Clarifies the classification and measurement of 

contingent consideration in relation to joint ventures. 

Accordingly, classification of an obligation to pay con-

tingent consideration as a liability or as equity is solely 

determined based on IAS 32.11. A contingent consi-

deration item is to be measured at fair value and the 

resulting changes recognized in profit or loss.

 · IFRS 8: Requirements for the aggregation of operating 

segments and reconciliation of total segment assets 

with the entity's assets.

 · IFRS 13: Clarifies the effects of the amended IFRS 9 on 

the measurement of short-term receivables and payab-

les following publication of IFRS 13.

 · IAS 16: Amendments to the treatment of accumulated 

depreciation under the revaluation method.

 · IAS 24: Clarifies that external entities providing key 

planning, managerial and supervisory services (exter-

nal key management personnel services) to a company 

are to be treated by the reporting company as a ‚rela-

ted party' in accordance with IAS 24, and includes an 

exemption rule for disclosures of compensation paid 

for these management services by an external manage-

ment entity to its own employees.

 · IAS 38: Amendments to the treatment of accumulated 

depreciation under the revaluation method.

Recently published accounting standards

The IASB published the following standards and inter-

pretations which were not yet required for application 

in fiscal year 2014. These standards have not yet been 

accepted by the EU.

Not endorsed by the EU – Application date unknown
Published 
by IASB/IFRIC

Applicable as of

IFRS 9 Financial instruments July 2014 1/1/2018

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers May 2014 1/1/2017

IFRS 14 Regulatory deferral accounts January 2014 1/1/2016

Amended IFRS 10 and IAS 28 – Sale or contribution of assets between an investor 
and its associate or joint venture

September 2014 1/1/2016

Amended IAS 27 – Equity method in separate financial statements August 2014 1/1/2016

Amended IFRS 16 and IAS 41 – Agriculture: Bearer Plants June 2014 1/1/2016

Amended IFRS 16 and IAS 38 – Clarification of acceptable methods of depreciati-
on and amortization

May 2014 1/1/2016

Amended IFRS 11 – Acquisition of an interest in a joint operation May 2014 1/1/2016

Amended IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 – Investment entities:  
Applying the consolidation exception

December 2014 1/1/2016

Revised IAS 1 – Presentation of financial statements December 2014 1/1/2016

Improvements to IFRS (2012 - 2014) September 2014 1/1/2016
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The following new amendments are generally applicable 

to the Group. The Company currently investigates the 

respective impact on its financial position, financial per-

formance and cash flows.

IFRS 9 Financial instruments

The final version of IFRS 9 summarizes the results of all 

phases of the IFRS 9 project and replaces IAS 39: Finan-

cial instruments: Recognition and measurement, as well 

as all former versions of IFRS 9: Financial instruments. 

The Standard includes new requirements for classifica-

tion and measurement, impairment, derecognition and 

general hedge accounting. These new requirements will 

affect the Group's classification and measurement of 

financial assets. The changes to the impairment regulati-

ons will not materially affect our financial position, finan-

cial performance and cash flows. The new regulations on 

hedge accounting provide for much easier designation of 

hedging relationships and proof of hedge effectiveness.

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers

This standard replaces IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construc-

tion contracts and various revenue-related interpreta-

tions and introduces a new five-step analysis model for 

revenue recognition applicable to all revenue from con-

tracts with customers. The key principle of the standard 

requires a company to recognize revenue at the time of 

assignment of goods or services to the customer in the 

amount of the consideration the company may expect to 

receive in compensation on assigning the goods or ser-

vices. IFRS 15 principles provide a structured approach 

to measuring and recording revenue and are applicable 

to all kinds of industries and companies. Applying this 

new standard requires more estimates and discretionary 

decisions than the current standard on revenue recog-

nition. Agreed variable considerations in particular may 

prove particularly challenging. 

Amended IFRS 10 and IAS 28 – Sale or contribution of 

assets between an investor and its associate or joint 

venture

This amendment clarifies that in a transaction invol-

ving an associate or joint venture the extent of gain or 

loss recognition depends on whether the assets sold 

or contributed constitute a business. This change only 

reduces current conceptual differences between IFRS 10 

and IAS 28 and does not have a material impact on the 

Group's Financial position, financial performance and 

cash flows.

Amended IAS 17 – Equity method in separate financial 

statements

This amendment is intended to re-introduce application 

of the equity method in separate financial statements, 

whereby an investor's shareholdings in subsidiaries, 

joint ventures and associated entities are either mea-

sured at amortized cost in accordance with IAS 39 

and IFRS 9 respectively, or whether the equity method 

should be applied. The chosen method is to be applied 

uniformly to all categories of shareholdings. 

Revised IAS 1 – Presentation of financial statements

As part of its overall disclosure initiative to appraise and 

improve presentation and disclosure requirements, IASB 

has published some initial amendments to IAS 1, provi-

ding preparers with an option to exercise a more goal-

oriented judgment in disclosing and presenting their 

financial reports, and clarifying for instance that materi-

ality is applicable across the whole of the financial state-

ments and that disclosure of immaterial information may 

render financial data less useful. 

3. Consolidation

Consolidation standards

The Consolidated Financial Statements comprise the 

separate financial statements of DATA MODUL AG and its 

subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014, prepared using 

the recognition and measurement methods applied 

uniformly throughout the Group. Subsidiaries whose 

finance and business policies DATA MODUL AG is capa-

ble of directly or indirectly influencing to derive benefit 

from their activities are fully consolidated. Companies 

are deconsolidated when the subsidiary is no longer 

controlled by the parent company. 

Investments in subsidiaries controlled by DATA MODUL 

AG are consolidated by way of offsetting cost against 

the pro rata equity of the subsidiary at the time of initi-

al consolidation. Any difference between fair value and 

carrying amount resulting from such offsetting is attribu-

ted to the identifiable assets and liabilities, as well as 

contingent liabilities. Any value exceeding the fair-value 

cost of acquired assets and assumed liabilities is recog-
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nized as goodwill. Any negative difference resulting from 

the acquisition price being lower than the fair values of 

the identifiable net assets is recognized through profit 

or loss in the fiscal year in which consolidation occurred. 

All inter-company balances, income and expenses, as 

well as unrealized gains and losses and dividends from 

inter-company transactions are fully eliminated.

Foreign currency translation

The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in 

euros, the functional currency of the parent company. 

The functional currency of foreign entities is determined 

by the primary economic environment in which these 

entities independently operate with respect to financi-

al, economic and organizational considerations, and in 

which they predominantly earn and use their cash and 

cash equivalents. In the DATA MODUL Group, the functio-

nal currency of every subsidiary is the local currency. The 

financial statement items of every subsidiary are recor-

ded in the functional currency. Foreign currency tran-

sactions are first translated into the functional currency 

applying the transaction rate. 

Assets, including goodwill, and liabilities of subsidiaries 

whose functional currency is not the euro are translated 

into euros applying the exchange rate at the reporting 

date; income statement items are translated applying 

annual average rates. 

Any differences arising from the translation of the 

income statement at annual average exchange rates and 

of the balance sheet at closing rates, and any difference 

resulting from the translation of assets and liabilities 

versus translation in the previous year, are recorded 

under equity as other comprehensive income in “Other 

reserves”, with no effect on the income statement. The 

exchange gains or losses resulting from currency trans-

lation of equity at historical rates, or at the reporting 

date rates in the scope of capital consolidation, were 

also recorded in “Other reserves”. These accumulated 

translation differences are recorded in profit or loss at 

the date on which the Group company ceases to be part 

of the Group.

Exchange rate trends for the major currencies included in 

the Consolidated Financial Statements as related to the 

euro are as follows:

Foreign currency translation

12/31/2014 12/31/2013 

Exchange 
rate

Balance 
sheet

Income
statement

Balance 
sheet

Income
statement

EUR / USD 1.2155 1.3217 1.3768 1.3301

EUR / GBP 0.7786 0.8034 0.8328 0.8503

EUR / SGD 1.6059 1.6778 1.7391 1.6668

EUR / AED 4.4644 4.8548 5.0563 4.8846

EUR / HKD 9.4260 10.2514 10.6743 10.3178

EUR / JPY 145.0300 140.4908 144.5000 130.1308

EUR / CHF 1.20240 1.21280 1.2269 1.2290

Scope of consolidation

Pursuant to IFRS 10, the separate financial statements of 

DATA MODUL AG as well as the separate financial state-

ments of all subsidiaries over which DATA MODUL AG has 

control are to be consolidated. 

The Consolidated Financial Statements as of Decem-

ber 31, 2014 include the following subsidiaries:

Name, registered office of the Company Shareholding 
in %

DATA MODUL Weikersheim GmbH, Weikers-
heim, Germany

100

DATA MODUL France SARL, Baron, France 100

DATA MODUL Iberia S.L., Madrid, Spain 100

DATA MODUL Inc., New York, U.S.A. 100

DATA MODUL Italia S.r.l, Bolzano, Italy 100

DATA MODUL Ltd., Birmingham, United Kingdom 100

DATA MODUL Suisse GmbH, Zug, Switzerland 100

DATA MODUL Hong Kong Ltd., Hong Kong, China 100

Conrac Asia Display Products PTE Ltd., Singapore 100

Conrac MENA FZE EST, Dubai, UAE 100

DATA MODUL Hong Kong was incorporated on July 17, 

2014 and is wholly owned by DATA MODUL AG. The com-

pany has been included in DATA MODUL's scope of con-

solidation.

Changes in the scope of consolidation

Capital of newly acquired subsidiaries is consolidated in 

accordance with the provisions of IFRS 3 (Business com-

binations) using the purchase method.
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4. Recognition and measurement methods

Major discretionary decisions, estimates and assumptions

Preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

pursuant to IFRS requires management to make discre-

tionary decisions and assumptions as well as estimates 

that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabili-

ties, the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the balan-

ce sheet date and the reported amounts of revenue and 

expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 

may differ from these estimates and assumptions. The 

major items estimated are impairment losses on doubt-

ful accounts, measurement of inventories, determinati-

on of useful lives of non-current assets, allowances on 

deferred taxes, and impairment of long-lived assets and 

provisions. Any change in these estimates could have a 

material adverse effect on the Company's financial posi-

tion, results of operations, and cash flows.

The most significant future-related assumptions and any 

other sources of uncertain assumptions existing on the 

balance sheet date that might lead to a significant risk 

involve the possibility that the carrying amount of assets 

and liabilities be materially adjusted. For further expla-

nations see comments below.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Measurement of goodwill is based on medium-term cor-

porate planning applying market and company-related 

discount rates, as well as projected growth rates and 

exchange rates. The assumptions made in this respect 

may be subject to changes which could result in impair-

ment losses on those assets in future periods. 

Deferred tax assets

Deferred taxes are calculated applying the tax rates of 

the individual countries (tax rates in effect or announced 

as of the reporting date) at the date at which the assets 

are realized or the liability settled, and on the estimates 

of the Group companies' future ability to generate taxab-

le income. Any tax rate changes or any deviation of actu-

al taxable income from estimates could result in deferred 

tax assets not being realized.

When determining the amount of the deferred tax asset, 

management must exercise a substantial amount of 

discretion in estimating the amount and timing of future 

taxable income, as well as future tax strategies. 

Pensions and other post-employment benefits

The expenditure on post-employment defined benefit 

plans is determined based on actuarial calculations. 

Actuarial valuation is calculated based on assumptions 

regarding discount rates, mortality and future pension 

increases. All estimates are reviewed annually at the 

balance sheet date. These estimates are very uncertain 

due to the long-term nature of these plans. Management 

considers the yields of prime fixed income corporate 

bonds within the currency zone when estimating the 

appropriate discount rate. The mortality rate is based on 

published mortality tables; future wage and salary incre-

ases as well as expected inflation rates are also taken 

into consideration. 

Inventories

Impairment losses recorded on the inventories are 

measured based on the inventory service level or the 

expected net income (expected sales price less esti-

mated costs at completion and less estimated selling 

expenses). Future consumption, actual income and out-

standing costs could differ from the expected amounts.

Development costs

The initial recognition of development costs is done 

in accordance with IAS 38.57, and is based in particu-

lar on the management's opinion that technical and 

economic feasibility is given; this is generally the case 

when a project development project reaches a certain 

milestone within the framework of an existing project 

management model. In order to calculate the capitalized 

amount, management makes assumptions concerning 

the amount of the expected cash flows to be generated 

by assets, the discount rate to be used, and the period 

in which future cash flows can be expected. Significant 

adjustments could become necessary if certain expec-

tations are not realized and a value adjustment is then 

required.

Recognition of revenue, income and expenses

In accordance with IAS 18 (Revenue), revenue is recog-

nized at transfer of risk at the time of delivery to the cus-

tomer, or upon rendering of the service insofar as it is 

more likely than not that the economic benefits will actu-

ally flow to the Company and the amount of the revenue 

can be determined reliably. Revenue deductions resul-

ting from rebates, cash discounts or bonuses, as well as 
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sales tax and other charges are offset against revenues.

The Company records gains from the disposal of assets 

when the major risks and rewards have been transferred 

to the customer and the Company can no longer dispose 

of or control the products sold. 

Income from orders having multiple performance ele-

ments (such as product delivery, project management 

and additional significant product installation) is rea-

lized upon completion of the installation applying the 

fair value of consideration received, as long as no per-

formance elements are left unfulfilled which are essen-

tial for the functionality of the ordered products/services 

provided. Service revenue is recognized at the time of 

performance.

Income from disposals of assets is recorded after delive-

ry and transfer of risks and rewards to the buyer, and in 

accordance with the mandatory criteria as per IAS 18.14. 

Interest is prorated on a time-period basis using the 

effective interest rate applicable to the asset. Income 

from license agreements is recorded according to the 

terms and conditions and the duration of the underlying 

agreement.

Operating expenses are recorded in profit or loss using 

the principle of accrual accounting when they are incur-

red or when the service is accepted.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets that were not acquired in the course 

of business combinations are initially recognized at cost 

or cost of sales. In subsequent periods, the intangible 

assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amorti-

zation and accumulated impairment losses. With the 

exception of goodwill, intangible assets are written off as 

scheduled. The estimated useful life, or remaining useful 

life, as well as the method of depreciation are reviewed 

annually. If necessary, useful life is adjusted based on 

the new assumptions. This adjustment of useful life or 

depreciation method is treated as a change in estima-

tes. Amortization of intangible assets with finite lives is 

recorded in the appropriate expense item of the income 

statement that reflects the purpose of the asset. Intangi-

ble assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized; 

however, they are subject to an impairment test at least 

once every year or if there is any indication that either 

the asset or the cash-generating unit are impaired.

Intangible assets (except for goodwill) include purchased 

software and capitalized development costs. Purchased 

software is capitalized and amortized over the estimated 

useful life of three to eight years using the straight-line 

method. 

Pursuant to IAS 38 (Intangible Assets), research and 

development costs must be treated separately. Research 

is defined as original and planned search efforts under-

taken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or tech-

nical knowledge and understanding. Development is the 

technical and commercial usage of research results. Pur-

suant to IAS 38, development costs must be capitalized 

if certain criteria are met, while research costs must be 

expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Deve-

lopment costs must be capitalized as intangible assets 

when it is more likely than not that the development acti-

vities will result in future cash flows and the economic 

benefits embodied in those cash flows will exceed the 

development costs. In addition, the development project 

has to be technically feasible, technical and financial 

resources to complete the project must be available, and 

project-related costs incurred during the development 

must be reliably measured. 

The capitalized development costs are amortized on a 

straight-line basis over a period of 12 - 36 months of 

future economic exploitation, beginning with the com-

pletion of the development phase and the time at which 

the product is ready for (serial) manufacturing. The 

intrinsic value of the development project is reviewed 

annually. Impairment losses on development projects 

recognized as intangible assets are presented in the 

income statement as research and development costs.

Goodwill

Goodwill incurred during a company combination is 

recorded pursuant to IFRS 3 as the difference between 

the value of the transferred compensation at the time of 

acquisition and the identifiable assets and liabilities of 

the acquired company as measured pursuant to IFRS 3. 

Goodwill is subsequently measured at cost less cumula-

tive impairment losses. The value assigned to goodwill 

is reviewed annually (as of December 31). This value is 

also reviewed if circumstances indicate that impairment 

may have occurred.

The impairment is calculated by determining the amount 
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attainable from the cash generating entity to which the 

goodwill is allocated. If the attainable amount from the 

cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of 

this unit, impairment loss is recorded. Impairment los-

ses recorded on goodwill may not be reversed in future 

periods.

Impairment testing was performed based on the three 

cash generating units: Line Management (Displays), Cus-

tom Solutions (Displays) and Systems. 

The recoverable amount for each cash-generating unit 

was determined applying calculated value in use based 

on projected cash flows. The cash flows are based on 

a three-year projection (2015 – 2017) approved by 

management and the Supervisory Board. A growth rate 

of 2.5% is applied for estimating future revenues in the 

year 2018 and thereafter. These growth rates correspond 

to the long-term average growth rates of the display 

industry as well as the further concentration on the Sys-

tems business segment.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost less 

scheduled accumulated depreciation and/or accumu-

lated impairment losses. In addition to the purchase 

price and the directly attributable costs for bringing the 

asset to the location and in a state ready for operation as 

intended by management, the cost includes estimated 

costs for the demolition of the asset, as well as restorati-

on of the location where the asset was situated. Mainte-

nance and repair costs are expensed as incurred. 

Scheduled depreciation is recorded pro rata using the 

straight-line method and attributed to the individual 

functional areas. The depreciation period corresponds 

to the estimated economic life. Estimated useful life is 3 

years for computer hardware, 5 to 10 years for machine-

ry, office equipment and leasehold improvements, and 

up to 25 years for buildings. 

The useful lives and the depreciation method for proper-

ty, plant and equipment are reviewed periodically and 

adjusted as necessary to ensure that the depreciation 

period and method reflect the expected economic bene-

fits embodied in the asset. If the estimates deviate from 

the previously made assumptions, the respective chan-

ges are recorded as changes in estimates in accordance 

with IAS 8 (Accounting policies, changes in accounting 

estimates and errors). In respect to any permanent 

impairment that exceeds reduction in value attributab-

le to use, impairment losses are recorded pursuant to 

IAS 36 (Impairment of assets) when the recoverable 

amount of the asset falls below amortized cost. The 

recoverable amount is the higher of net realizable value 

and the value in use of the asset. If there are no longer 

any reasons for impairment losses recorded in previous 

years, impairment losses are reversed up to the reco-

verable amount or the amortized cost, not taking into 

account impairment losses recorded in the past. 

The historical cost and cumulative depreciation of assets 

that are sold or scrapped are derecognized. Fully depre-

ciated fixed assets are reported at cost less cumulative 

depreciation until decommissioned. Gains and losses 

from the disposal of non-current assets are recorded as 

selling and general administrative expenses.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realiz-

able value. Cost is primarily determined based on ave-

rage batch cost or weighted average cost of the item. In 

addition to attributable direct costs, cost of sales inclu-

des appropriate material and production overheads to 

the extent that these relate to production of the items. 

The net realizable value is the estimated sales price 

during customary business operations less estimated 

costs of completion and estimated selling expenses. 

Discounted net sales prices are applied as necessary to 

reflect shelf life and reduced usability risks. If the rea-

sons for impairment losses recorded on inventories no 

longer exist, impairment losses are reversed accordingly.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of intangible assets and of proper-

ty, plant and equipment are subject to impairment tes-

ting on each balance sheet date, and whenever there are 

indications of potential impairment in accordance with 

IAS 36 (Impairment of assets).

To the extent the value of intangible assets or property, 

plant and equipment as determined according to the 

principles above exceeds the recoverable amount at 

the balance sheet date, impairment losses are recorded 

on the carrying amount of the assets. The recoverable 

amount is the higher of the fair value less selling costs 

of the asset and value in use. If the reason for recording 

impairment losses no longer applies, the impairment 

losses are reversed up to the amortized cost.
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Financial instruments

A financial instrument is a contract under which a finan-

cial asset is created at one company and a financial liabi-

lity or an equity instrument at another company. Financi-

al assets consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, 

trade accounts receivable, other loans and receivables, 

financial assets held to maturity, and primary and deri-

vative financial assets held for trading. Financial liabili-

ties generally create a claim to return in the form of cash 

or another financial asset. These include bonds and 

other guaranteed liabilities, trade payables, liabilities 

due to banks or from finance leases, as well as derivative 

financial liabilities. Financial assets and financial liabi-

lities are usually not netted. They are not netted unless 

the company has the right to offset the amounts at the 

current time and intends to settle the respective asset or 

liability at net amount.

The assets are classified upon initial recognition; sub-

sequent recognition is based on the classification upon 

initial recognition. Financial assets are classified upon 

initial recognition in line with IAS 39 (Financial instru-

ments, recognition and measurement) as follows:

Financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair 

value through profit or loss

The group of financial assets and liabilities carried at 

fair value through profit or loss includes held-for-trading 

financial assets and liabilities, and financial assets and 

liabilities classified as carried at fair value upon initial 

recognition.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are classified 

as held-for-trading if they are acquired for the purpose 

of sale in the near future. Derivative financial instru-

ments are also classified generally as financial assets or 

liabilities held for trading, unless they are intended for 

and effectively used as hedging instruments. Financial 

assets and liabilities recognized at fair value through 

profit or loss are carried at fair value on the balance 

sheet, any gains or losses are recognized through pro-

fit or loss. The fair value of financial instruments traded 

on organized markets is determined as the market price 

quoted on the balance sheet date. If no active market 

exists, fair value is determined applying generally accep-

ted measurement methods.

Financial investments held to maturity

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or measurable 

payments and fixed maturities are classified as held-to-

maturity when the Company has a definite intention and 

the ability to hold the assets to maturity, with the exception 

of a) those that the Company, at initial measurement, con-

siders measurable at fair value to be recorded in profit or 

loss, b) those that the Company considers assets for sale, 

and c) those that satisfy the definition of loans and recei-

vables. Investments intended to be held for an undefined 

period are not included in this classification. Other long-

term investments that are intended to be held to maturity, 

such as bonds, are subsequently measured at amortized 

cost. Such amortized cost is determined as the amount ini-

tially recognized less repayments, plus or minus cumulati-

ve amortization applying the effective interest method of 

any difference between the initially recognized amount and 

the amount repayable when due. Calculation of the effecti-

ve interest rate takes into account all fees paid or received 

by the contracting parties as well as any other premiums 

and discounts. For investments carried at amortized cost, 

gains and losses are recognized through profit or loss when 

the investments are derecognized, impaired or amortized.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 

with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 

on an active market. Such assets are carried at amor-

tized cost applying the effective interest method less 

impairment. Appropriate impairment losses were recor-

ded in profit or loss to account for all discernible risks. 

The Company performs ongoing credit checks of its cus-

tomers. The Company records appropriate impairment 

losses on doubtful accounts resulting from the inability 

or unwillingness of its customers to effect the required 

payments. In cases where the Company is aware of cir-

cumstances that may impair a specific customer’s ability 

to meet its financial obligations towards the Company, 

the Company records an appropriate itemized allowance 

on the amounts due to the Company, thereby reducing 

the net receivable to the amount that the Company rea-

sonably believes can be collected. 

For all other customers, the Company carries an allo-

wance for doubtful accounts. Value adjustments depend 

on the current business situation, the period of time the 

receivables are overdue as well as the industry and geo-

graphic concentration. In addition, past experience is 

taken into account when assessing receivables outstan-

ding. The Company records its bad debt expenses and 
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impairment losses as selling and general administrative 

expenses.

Any material change in the financial situation of one or a 

group of customers could have a material adverse effect 

on the Company’s financial position, results of opera-

tions and cash flows. Although such losses have remai-

ned within management’s expectations to-date, the 

Company cannot be certain that such impairment losses 

will remain adequate.

DATA MODUL Group holds a credit insurance policy to 

minimize risk of losses from doubtful accounts. In case 

of payment default, the credit insurance covers 90% of 

losses incurred within 6 months of the default date.

In 2014 and 2013, the Company paid a premium of 0.75 

euros and 0.85 euros per thousand respectively on out-

standing receivables in all countries. This amounted to 

a total premium including fees of 229 thousand euros 

in 2014 and 198 thousand euros in 2013. The Company 

received payments under this trade credit policy in the 

amount of 0 thousand euros in 2014, and 30 thousand 

euros in 2013 for insurance claims for defaulted recei-

vables.

The contract with the trade credit insurer can be termina-

ted effective December 31, 2015 and extends automati-

cally by an additional year unless terminated two months 

prior to the expiration date. The deductible amount 

remained unchanged versus the previous year at 10%.

To further minimize potential losses, the Company per-

forms credit checks on new customers before accepting 

orders. 

The capital goods credit insurance for project-related 

credit risks in place since April 2012 was terminated as 

a precautionary measure as of March 31, 2015 since a 

possible utilization is currently not expected. 

Gains or losses are recognized in profit or loss when 

loans or receivables are derecognized, impaired or amor-

tized.

Financial assets available for sale

Assets available for sale are non-derivative assets that 

cannot be allocated to any of the three categories descri-

bed above. After initial recognition, available-for sale 

financial assets are measured at fair value or amortized 

cost, with gains or losses being recognized as a separa-

te portion of equity until the investment is derecognized 

or until the investment is determined to be impaired at 

which time the accumulated gains or losses previously 

reported in equity are recorded in profit or loss. The fair 

value of financial investments that are actively traded 

in organized financial markets is determined based on 

the quoted market prices at the close of the market at 

the balance sheet date. The fair value of investments 

for which there is no active market is determined using 

other measurement methods. A significant or continual 

reduction of the fair value below the carrying amount is 

an objective reason for impairment. 

When financial assets are sold, the difference between 

consideration received and carrying amount of the asset 

is recorded through profit or loss. In initial recognition, a 

financial asset is recognized at cost that equals the fair 

value of the consideration, including transaction costs.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets held for tra-

ding, except for impairment losses and foreign currency 

translation gains and losses, are reported in the State-

ments of Changes in Equity and recorded directly in equi-

ty until the financial asset is derecognized.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are tested for impairment at each balan-

ce sheet date. If there are objective indications of an 

impairment of an asset recorded at amortized cost, the 

impairment losses to be recorded in profit or loss are cal-

culated as the difference between the carrying amount 

of the asset and the present value of the expected future 

cash flows, discounted using the effective interest rate 

used in initial recognition. Company management inclu-

des in its assessment of a potential impairment all infor-

mation available, particularly market and pricing con-

ditions and the expected duration of the impairment. If 

there are new circumstances requiring reversal, impair-

ment losses already recorded are reversed. Except for 

financial assets held for sale, such reversal is limited to 

the amortized cost at the time of reversal and recorded in 

profit or loss. 

Derivative financial instruments

DATA MODUL Group uses derivative financial instru-

ments solely for the purpose of hedging interest and cur-

rency exposures arising from business operations. 

According to IAS 39 (Financial instruments: Recognition 

and measurement), all derivative financial instruments 

are carried at their market value as of the reporting date. 

The Company generally does not designate derivative 

instruments as hedges. Accordingly, all changes in the 
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fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts and for-

eign currency options are disclosed as selling and gene-

ral administrative expenses in the period in which the 

changes occurred. To hedge interest rate risks the Com-

pany employed an interest rate swap which fell due on 

July 30, 2014. 

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

A financial asset is derecognized when one of the fol-

lowing criteria has been met:

· Contractual rights to receive cash flows from a financial 

asset have expired

· The Group has transferred its contractual rights to recei-

ve cash flows from the financial asset to a third party or 

assumed a contractual obligation to immediately pay 

out the received cash flow to a third party, thereby eit-

her having essentially transferred all risks and rewards 

associated with the ownership of the financial asset, or 

having neither transferred nor withheld essentially all 

risks and rewards arising pertaining to the ownership 

of the financial asset but transferred rights of disposal 

over the asset.

A financial liability is derecognized when the underlying 

commitment has been fulfilled, canceled or eliminated 

for other reasons.

Foreign currency translation

Monetary foreign currency assets and liabilities are 

translated into the functional currency applying the spot 

rate at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains or losses 

resulting from this currency translation are recorded in 

profit or loss under sales, general and administrative 

expenses. 

Foreign currency exchange gains recognized on the 

income statement in fiscal year 2014 amounted 640 

thousand euros, whereas foreign currency exchange los-

ses recognized on the income statement in fiscal year 

2013 amounted 481 thousand euros.

Risks resulting from the Company's financial instru-

ments

The Company has various other financial assets and lia-

bilities such as trade receivables and trade payables that 

directly result from its business operations. The Com-

pany also enters into derivative financial transactions, 

including interest rate swaps and currency forward con-

tracts. The purpose of those transactions is to hedge 

interest and currency risks arising from the Company’s 

business operations and secure financial resources. 

It is, and has been throughout the reporting year, the 

Company’s policy that no financial instruments should 

be held for trading. Long-term debt bears fixed interest; 

therefore, no interest risk is inherent in these items.

The major risks inherent in the Company’s financial inst-

ruments include interest-based fair value risks, liquidity 

risks, currency risks and risks of bad debt. The Executive 

Board reviews and adopts policies for the management 

of each of these risks; explanatory comments are provi-

ded below.

Foreign currency risk

As a result of major investments in the United States and 

the United Arab Emirates, fluctuations in the exchange 

rate of the US dollar to the euro (the AED is linked 

directly to the US dollar) have a major impact on the 

Company's financial position, financial performance and 

cash flows. Furthermore, the Group also enters into tran-

sactions in GBP, SGD and JPY. The Company also faces 

currency risks arising from processing transactions. Such 

exposure arises from sales or purchases by an operating 

unit in currencies other than the unit’s functional curren-

cy. Approximately 56.3% (previous year: 52.8%) of the 

Company’s sales are denominated in currencies other 

than the functional currency of the operating unit, while 

approximately 68.2% (previous year: 67.2%) of costs are 

denominated in the unit’s functional currency.

Commodity price risk

The Company’s exposure to price risks is minor due to 

the fact that the majority of the raw materials are procu-

red on an order-related basis.

Default risk

The Company trades only with customers having a good 

credit standing. It is the Company’s policy that all custo-

mers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit 

checks. Trade receivables balances are constantly monito-

red and allowances made for possible value adjustment 

risks. Other than that there are no significant default risks 

connected with ongoing business activities. For additional 

minimization of risks related to bad debt, the Company 

has purchased credit insurance for some of its operations. 

In respect to other customers that are not covered by such 

insurance policies, their credit standing is assessed, spe-
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cial terms of payment and payment guaranties are agreed 

upon and securities or collaterals are stipulated.

Liquidity risk

The Company’s objective is to maintain a balance bet-

ween the continuity of funding and flexibility by way of 

current account credits, bank loans, finance leases and 

hire purchase contracts. The basis for decisions concer-

ning financial strategies and ensuring sufficient liquidity 

is a short-term Company-wide cash management pro-

gram, taking into account rolling liquidity forecasts, a 

strategic financial requirement analysis based on 1- and 

3-year budgets, and working closely with external banks 

and investors as regards the review and adjustment of 

lines of credit.

Pensions and non-current personnel liabilities

Pensions and non-current personnel liabilities include 

retirement obligations based on a defined benefit plan, 

as well as the German phased retirement program.

Calculation of respective accruals are based on a net 

interest which is calculated by multiplying the net defi-

ned benefit pension liability (or net asset) recorded on 

the balance sheet by the discount rate used in measu-

ring the defined benefit obligation. Expected changes 

in the net liability (or net asset) during the year due to 

contributions and pension benefit payments are to be 

factored in. This net interest component replaces inte-

rest expense from applying an interest rate to the pen-

sion obligation and the projected return on plan assets. 

Revaluation effects connected with pension commit-

ments such as actuarial gains and losses and any dif-

ferences between actual return and the return on plan 

assets implicitly recognized in other net interest income 

are immediately recorded in equity as „Other compre-

hensive income“. The amount of obligations for pension 

plans is calculated applying an annual actuarial report 

based on biometric parameters and current market inte-

rest rates. Individual pension commitments exist for one 

member of the Executive Board, two former members 

and two other former managers.

Provisions

Provisions are recorded when – due to a past event – the 

Company incurs a current legal or constructive obligation 

towards a third party, the outflow of resources embody-

ing economic benefits in order to settle the obligation 

is probable, and the amount can be estimated reliab-

ly. If an accrued liability is expected to be paid at least 

in part (e.g. liabilities under an insurance policy), the 

reimbursement is classified as a separate asset, pro-

vided there is a high probability of the reimbursement 

occurring. Expense for provision accrual is shown on 

the income statement less any reimbursement. If the 

obligations fall due within more than one year and pay-

ment can be reliably estimated in terms of both amount 

and timing, the non-current portion of the obligation is 

measured at present value if the corresponding interest 

effect is material. Net present value is determined based 

on market interest rates commensurate with risk and 

the period until the settlement of the obligation. In case 

of discounting, the increase in the provision due to the 

passage of time is recorded as interest expense in the 

financial result.

Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and 

adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 

Provisions for warranties related to delivered products 

are recorded in the amount required for meeting legal 

requirements. In individual cases, commitments can be 

made and obligations can be agreed upon in an amount 

exceeding the warranty or guarantee. In such case the 

corresponding future expenses are estimated and mea-

sured and a provision is recorded in that amount. After 

expiration or elapsing of the guarantee obligation, the 

provision is reversed.

Income tax

Taxes on income and earnings comprise all actual taxes 

on current taxable income of the consolidated subsidia-

ries under the tax laws applicable in the respective coun-

tries, as well as deferred taxes. The current tax assets and 

liabilities for the current and previous periods are measu-

red at the expected amount of refund from or payment to 

the tax authorities. The local tax rate and tax laws appli-

cable at the balance sheet date are used as a basis to 

determine this amount. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reported applying 

the liability method as per IAS 12 (Taxes on income) for 

all temporary differences between carrying amounts in 

individual companies' tax reporting and carrying amounts 

shown on the consolidated financial statements applying 

IFRS, and factored in with regard to specific consolidation 

measures. 
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Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are measu-

red based on the tax rate expected to be applicable in the 

period in which the temporary differences are expected 

to be reversed. The applicable or announced tax rates at 

the balance sheet date are used for this purpose. Defer-

red taxes that are directly related to equity items are also 

recorded directly in equity without any effect on profit or 

loss. Deferred tax assets and liabilities may be offset if 

and when the Group has an enforceable claim to offset 

the current tax assets against actual tax liabilities, and 

which are attributable to income taxes of the same taxab-

le unit, and are imposed by the same tax authority.

Value-added tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recorded net of VAT, 

except for purchases of assets or services where the tax 

authority does not reimburse VAT incurred. In this case, 

VAT is recorded as part of the cost of sales of the asset 

or as an expenditure. Receivables and liabilities are 

recorded on the balance sheet with VAT amounts inclu-

ded. VAT that may be reimbursed by or payable to the tax 

authority is recorded as „Other assets“ or „Other liabili-

ties“ on the Group balance sheet.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

According to IAS 37 (Provisions, contingent liabilities 

and contingent assets), contingent liabilities are not 

recorded on the balance sheet. Contingent liabilities are 

potential obligations whose actual existence depends 

on the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events 

which are not entirely within the Company’s control. In 

addition, contingent liabilities are existing obligations 

that will probably not result in an outflow of assets, or 

any outflow of assets cannot be reliably determined. The 

Notes show all contingent liabilities of the Group such 

as bank guarantees, other guarantees, legal proceedings 

and other financial obligations. Obligations are measu-

red at the higher of their nominal value or the amount 

required to settle the obligation.

Contingent assets are also disclosed in the Notes in the 

event an inflow of resources involving economic benefits 

is probable.

Leases

The decision whether an agreement is classified as a 

lease is made in accordance with IFRIC 4 (Determining 

whether an arrangement contains a lease) based on the 

economic substance of the agreement at the time of con-

clusion, and requires an estimate of whether fulfillment 

of the agreement depends on the use of a specific asset 

or assets and whether the agreement grants the right 

to use that/those asset/s. A subsequent assessment 

must be made after the commencement date of the lea-

se agreement if one of the conditions listed in IFRIC 4.10 

is met.

Finance leases in which essentially all risks and rewards 

related to the title of the transferred asset are transfer-

red to the Group as lessee result in capitalization of the 

leased asset at the closing date of the lease. The asset 

is recognized at the lower of its fair value or the present 

value of the minimum lease payment stream. Lease 

payments are divided into finance expenses and repay-

ments of principal in such manner that a non-variable 

interest rate applies to the remaining lease obligation 

over the lease term. Finance expenses are expensed 

directly. The depreciation methods and estimated use-

ful lives correspond to those of similar acquired assets.

If transfer of the title to the asset to the Company is not 

sufficiently likely at the end of the lease, the lease will be 

fully amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful 

life of the asset or the term of the lease.

Payments for operating leases are recorded in profit or 

loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease 

agreement.

Share-based payments

DATA MODUL AG grants employees of DATA MODUL AG 

and its associated companies equity-based remuneration 

under employee stock option programs in accordance with 

IFRS 2 (Share-based payments).

These share-based payments are measured at fair value at 

the granting date using the Black-Scholes option pricing 

model. At the granting date, the fair value of stock options 

is expensed over the vesting period in profit or loss, with 

a counter-entry in equity (line item „capital reserve“). The 

calculation is based on the Group’s internal estimate of 

the number of exercisable stock options. This estimate 

is reviewed and adjusted annually if and when there are 

indications that the number of expected exercisable stock 
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options differs from the previous estimate. Any adjust-

ments required are immediately and fully expensed in the 

period in which the estimate changes.

The dilutive effect of outstanding stock options is accoun-

ted for as additional dilution in the calculation of earnings 

per share (see note [7] in the explanatory comments to the 

line items in the income statement, and other disclosures 

regarding the employee stock option plan).

Subsequent events

Events after the reporting date that provide additional 

information on the Company’s situation at the reporting 

date (disclosable events) are reported in the Notes to 

the extent that they are material. Non-disclosable sub-

sequent events of material significance are disclosed in 

the Notes. 

5. Notes to the Statement of Income

[1] Revenues 
Revenue is classified by segment in line with the Executi-

ve Board's management reporting and realized in either 

Displays or Systems. Key segment metrics employed are 

orders received, order backlog, revenue, EBIT and net 

income.

Revenue broken down by segments:

For fiscal year 2014

KEUR Displays Systems Total

Revenue from product 
sales

90,501 61,960 152,461

Service revenue 458 2,996 3,454

Total revenue 90,959 64,956 155,915

For fiscal year 2013

KEUR Displays Systems Total

Revenue from product 
sales

82,618 61,668 144,286

Service revenue 184 2,236 2,420

Total revenue 82,802 63,904 146,706

[2] Cost of sales
The table below provides a breakdown of cost of sales:

KEUR 2014 2013

Material expenses 106,127 101,624

Other cost of sales 11,759 14,115

Total cost of sales 117,886 115,739

Other cost of sales is comprised primarily of wages and 

salaries, and overhead for the manufactured products 

and services sold.

[3] Research and development expenses

The Company distinguishes between research and deve-

lopment costs. Development projects involve either 

basic and product development without a specific custo-

mer order, product development projects with a specific 

customer order or development of a product to market-

readiness as a result of a customer order for a particular 

product.

In addition, general development costs not related to a 

specific product are recorded as research and develop-

ment costs.

Basic research and product development projects wit-

hout a specific customer order are recognized as intan-

gible assets in non-current assets and amortized using 

the straight-line method over a period beginning at the 

time of serial production of the respective product or the 

rendering of the service to the customer until the esti-

mated useful life of the product elapses. Depreciation 

expense is recorded as research and development costs 

in profit or loss.

Product development projects based on a specific custo-

mer order and development of a product to market-rea-

diness under an existing customer order for a particular 

product are deemed expenses incurred in generating 

revenue, and therefore recorded as cost of sales in profit 

or loss. Product development projects of this type which 

have not been completed and for which revenues have 

not yet been realized are recorded as inventories at the 

reporting date and accrued.

Individual expense items for research and development 

and their impact on the income statement for the fiscal 

years 2014 and 2013 are presented below:
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KEUR 2014 2013

Development costs based on customer 
orders recorded as cost of sales

400 865

Research and development expenses

 - Development expenses 4,619 3,878

 - Amortization of development projects 655 972

Research and development expenses 5,274 4,850

Total research and development expenses 5,674 5,715

Carrying amount capitalized development 
costs

1,919 2,006

Development expenses recorded as inven-
tory as of Dec. 31

153 89

[4] Selling and general administrative expenses

The table below shows selling and general administrati-

ve expenses:

KEUR 2014 2013

Selling expenses 15,735 14,501

General administrative expenses 5,616 5,940

Total expenses 21,351 20,441

Total expenses by type of cost

Research and development expenses, selling and gene-

ral administration expenses and production expenses 

include personnel and depreciation/amortization 

expenses. The Company’s total expenditure broken 

down by expense types is shown below:

Personnel expenses

The following table shows the personnel expenses:

KEUR 2014 2013

Wages and salaries 20,334 19,177

Social security contributions and old-age 
pensions 3,199 3,069

Total 23,533 22,246

In fiscal year 2014 the Company employed an average 348 

staff across all departments, as compared to the 333 staff 

in 2013. 

The average annual number of employees breaks down 

by functional area as follows:

Employees by functional area 2014  2013

Sales & Marketing 103 106

Development 59 57

Production 73 54

Services 35 38

Administration 40 38

Logistics 25 27

Materials requirement planning/
Procurement

13 13

Total 348 333

The number of employees as of the reporting date is 

shown below broken down by functional area:

Employees by functional area 2014  2013

Sales & Marketing 110 101

Development 56 58

Production 71 71

Services 32 36

Administration 42 36

Logistics 26 29

Materials requirement planning/
Procurement

13 13

Total 350 344

Major expense items and depreciation/amortization

Major expense items were as follows:

KEUR 2014 2013

Rent and maintenance 2,374 2,709

Vehicle and travel expenses 2,377 2,091

Depreciation/amortization 1,853 2,121

Legal and consulting fees 1,235 930

Advertising and trade shows 882 597

Office and IT expenses 798 797

Insurance premiums 449 456

Packaging material and freight costs 568 603

Additions to provisions for bad debts 157 809

Foreign currency translation gains/(losses) (640) 481

Other 239 193

Total 10,292 11,787
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[5] Interest income/expenses

The Company recorded interest income/expenses for the 

past two years as shown below:

KEUR 2014 2013

Interest and similar income 22 45

Interest expense on current liabilities (226) (282)

Interest expense on non-current financing (55) (43)

Other interest-like expenses (13) 0

Total (272) (280)

The interest rate derivative fell due on June 30, 2014. 

The reported financial result for 2014 includes a net 

income of 16 thousand euros (previous year: a net loss 

of 33 thousand euros).

[6] Income tax expense

Taxes on income and earnings break down as follows:

KEUR 2014 2013

Current tax expenses

Germany 2,034 1,722

Foreign 1,068 777

Deferred taxes

Germany 430 (286)

Foreign 27 (52)

Total 3,559 2,161

Current tax expenses are taxes on income and earnings 

for the fiscal year recorded in profit or loss in the indi-

vidual countries, as well as additional tax assessments 

and tax refunds for previous years. Current and deferred 

tax expenses in Germany decreased by 477 thousand 

euros through tax income from previous years. Foreign 

current tax expenses include 118 thousand euros in tax 

income from previous years.

Deferred taxes result from timing differences between 

the tax bases of the consolidated companies and from 

loss carry-forwards for tax purposes.

The tax rate applicable in the individual countries is used 

as a basis for calculation of deferred taxes of the foreign 

operations. 

The income tax rate on which computation of German 

deferred taxes is based was 32.98% for DATA MODUL AG, 

and 28.08% for DATA MODUL Weikersheim GmbH as of 

December 31, 2014. 

Tax rates for 2014 and 2013 are determined as follows:

in %

Corporate income tax 15.00

Solidarity surcharge 0.825

Trade tax 17.15 and 12.25 
respectively

Income tax rate 32.98 and 28.08 
respectively

The table below shows a reconciliation of projected 

income tax expense versus actual income tax expense 

recorded in the consolidated financial statements apply-

ing the average German income tax rate of 32.98% for 

2014 and 2013.

KEUR 2014 2013

Earnings before taxes reported 11,132 5,396

Projected income tax expense 3,671 1,780

Non-deductible expenses 897 194

Tax reductions resulting from tax-
free income 

(7) (118)

Actuarial gains / (losses) from 
pension commitments recorded in 
equity

(33) 0

Unrecognized tax loss carry-
forwards 

52 2

Difference amount to local tax rates (439) (403)

Domestic tax rate change 0 (6)

Taxes from previous years (595) 751

Other 13 (38)

Reported income tax expense 3,559 2,161

The refund claim of German companies discounted long-

term arising from the corporate income tax credit as per 

Sec. 37 of the German Corporate Income Tax Act (KStG) 

is reported under other non-current assets (see note [9], 

Other non-current assets). 

Income from compounding is included in the financial 

result, as this income is not tax income.

Deferred taxes consist of the following material balance 

sheet items:
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Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities

KEUR 12/31/2014 12/31/2013 12/31/2014 12/31/2013

Current assets

Trade receivables and other assets 0 12 (65) (91)

Inventories 0 0 (23) (50)

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 468 635 (528) (447)

Property, plant and equipment 0 0 (629) * (635)

Current liabilities

Trade payables and other liabilities 51 35 0 0

Other provisions 28 43 0 0

Non-current liabilities

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 200 130 0 0

Total 747 855 (1,245) (1,223)

* Adjusted in accordance with IAS 8.43 (increase of deferred tax liabilities recorded in equity by 567 thousand euros).

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities as of the 

reporting date break down as follows: 

KEUR 2014 2013

Deferred tax assets  
Tax loss carry-forwards

Germany 0 252

Foreign 0 27

Deferred tax assets from 
temporary differences

Germany 747 802

Foreign 0 53

Total deferred tax assets 747 1,134

Total deferred tax 
liabilities

Germany (1,245) * (1,223)

Deferred tax assets (+)/
liabilities (-), net

(498) * (89)

* Adjusted in accordance with IAS 8.43 (increase of deferred tax liabilities 
recorded in equity by 567 thousand euros).

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the corporate 

income tax loss carry-forwards in Germany totaled 

0 thousand euros and 554 thousand euros respectively, 

while trade tax carry-forwards totaled 0 thousand euros 

and 962 thousand euros respectively. 

Deferred tax assets arising from actuarial gains and los-

ses on pension commitments recorded directly in equity 

increased equity by 59 thousand euros (previous year: 

16 thousand euros).

Deferred tax liabilities were not recognized for temporary 

differences in connection with investments in subsidiari-

es in the amount of 17,770 thousand euros, as it was not 

likely that these temporary differences would reverse in 

the foreseeable future. If this were the case, 5% of those 

temporary differences would be subject to tax.

[7] Earnings per share

Undiluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing 

annual income accruing to common shareholders by the 

weighted average number of common shares outstan-

ding during the year under review.

Diluted earnings per share are calculated applying the 

weighted average number of common shares outstan-

ding after potentially diluting events during the period 

under review.

Potential dilution of common shares results primarily 

from employee stock options. In the fiscal years ended 

December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, no sha-

res were deemed dilutive applying the treasury stock 

method (stock redemption method).

In fiscal years 2014 and 2013, there were employee 

stock options for the purchase of 0 and 17,922 shares 

respectively which were not included in the computati-

on of diluted earnings per share due to the fact that the 

exercise price of the stock options exceeded the average 

market price of the shares, thus having an anti-dilutive 

effect.
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The table below shows the computation of earnings per 

share (diluted and undiluted):

2014 2013

Net income for the year in KEUR 7,573 3,235

Denominator (thousands of shares):

Denominator for undiluted earnings 
per share – weighted average 
number of shares 

3,394 3,394

Denominator for diluted earnings per 
share – adjusted weighted average 
shares

3,394 3,394

Undiluted earnings per share EUR 2.23 EUR 0.95

Diluted earnings per share EUR 2.23 EUR 0.95
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[8] Fixed assets 2014 

ACQUISITION EXPENSES DEPRECIATION CARRYING AMOUNT 

Status as of
Jan, 1, 2014

Effects from
foreign currency
translation

Additions Disposals Reclassi-
fications

Status as of
Dec, 31, 2014

Status as of
Jan, 1, 2014

Effects from
foreign currency
translation

Additions Disposals Status as of
Dec, 31, 2014

Status as of
Dec, 31, 2014

Intangible assets/Goodwill

Goodwill 3,112 0 0 0 0 3,112 693 0 0 0 693 2,419

Software 2,536 0 61 19 0 2,578 1,997 0 241 19 2,219 359

Development costs 7,833 0 568 1,500 0 6,901 5,827 0 655 1,500 4,982 1,919

Prepayments 0 0 212 0 13 225 0 0 0 0 0 225

Total 13,481 0 841 1,519 13 12,816 8,517 0 896 1,519 7,894 4,922

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings 11,599 23 183 413 578 11,970 4,505 (7) 415 413 4,500 7,470

Technical equipment 1,563 0 24 0 232 1,819 1,116 3 124 0 1,243 576

Other equipment, fixtures 
and fittings, and office 
equipment

3,991 32 752 380 79 4,474 2,848 32 418 334 2,964 1,510

Assets under construction 270 0 671 0 (902) 39 0 0 0 0 0 39

Total 17,423 55 1,630 793 (13) 18,302 8,469 28 957 747 8,707 9,595

Total 30,904 55 2,471 2,312 0 31,118 16,986 28 1,853 2,266 16,601 14,517

Fixed assets 2013

ACQUISITION EXPENSES DEPRECIATION CARRYING AMOUNT

Status as of
Jan, 1, 2013

Effects from
foreign currency
translation

Additions Disposals Reclassi-
fications

Status as of
Dec, 31, 2013

Status as of
Jan, 1, 2013

Effects from
foreign currency
translation

Additions Disposals Status as of
Dec, 31, 2013

Status as of
Dec, 31, 2013

Intangible assets/Goodwill

Goodwill 3,112 0 0 0 0 3,112 693 0 0 0 693 2,419

Software 2,513 0 23 0 0 2,536 1,718 0 279 0 1,997 539

Development costs 7,054 0 779 0 0 7,833 4,855 0 972 0 5,827 2,006

Total 12,679 0 802 0 0 13,481 7,266 0 1,251 0 8,517 4,964

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings 10,831 (4) 601 0 171 11,599 4,150 (3) 358 0 4,505 7,094

Technical equipment 1,235 0 110 (4) 222 1,563 1,011 0 108 (3) 1,116 447

Other equipment, fixtures 
and fittings, and office 
equipment

3,635 (9) 444 (99) 20 3,991 2,552 (8) 404 (100) 2,848 1,143

Assets under construction 414 0 269 0 (413) 270 0 0 0 0 0 270

Total 16,115 (13) 1,424 (103) 0 17,423 7,713 (11) 870 (103) 8,469 8,954

Total 28,794 (13) 2,226 (103) 0 30,904 14,979 (11) 2,121 (103) 16,986 13,918

6. Notes to the Statement of Financial Position
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[8] Fixed assets 2014 

ACQUISITION EXPENSES DEPRECIATION CARRYING AMOUNT 

Status as of
Jan, 1, 2014

Effects from
foreign currency
translation

Additions Disposals Reclassi-
fications

Status as of
Dec, 31, 2014

Status as of
Jan, 1, 2014

Effects from
foreign currency
translation

Additions Disposals Status as of
Dec, 31, 2014

Status as of
Dec, 31, 2014

Intangible assets/Goodwill

Goodwill 3,112 0 0 0 0 3,112 693 0 0 0 693 2,419

Software 2,536 0 61 19 0 2,578 1,997 0 241 19 2,219 359

Development costs 7,833 0 568 1,500 0 6,901 5,827 0 655 1,500 4,982 1,919

Prepayments 0 0 212 0 13 225 0 0 0 0 0 225

Total 13,481 0 841 1,519 13 12,816 8,517 0 896 1,519 7,894 4,922

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings 11,599 23 183 413 578 11,970 4,505 (7) 415 413 4,500 7,470

Technical equipment 1,563 0 24 0 232 1,819 1,116 3 124 0 1,243 576

Other equipment, fixtures 
and fittings, and office 
equipment

3,991 32 752 380 79 4,474 2,848 32 418 334 2,964 1,510

Assets under construction 270 0 671 0 (902) 39 0 0 0 0 0 39

Total 17,423 55 1,630 793 (13) 18,302 8,469 28 957 747 8,707 9,595

Total 30,904 55 2,471 2,312 0 31,118 16,986 28 1,853 2,266 16,601 14,517

Fixed assets 2013

ACQUISITION EXPENSES DEPRECIATION CARRYING AMOUNT

Status as of
Jan, 1, 2013

Effects from
foreign currency
translation

Additions Disposals Reclassi-
fications

Status as of
Dec, 31, 2013

Status as of
Jan, 1, 2013

Effects from
foreign currency
translation

Additions Disposals Status as of
Dec, 31, 2013

Status as of
Dec, 31, 2013

Intangible assets/Goodwill

Goodwill 3,112 0 0 0 0 3,112 693 0 0 0 693 2,419

Software 2,513 0 23 0 0 2,536 1,718 0 279 0 1,997 539

Development costs 7,054 0 779 0 0 7,833 4,855 0 972 0 5,827 2,006

Total 12,679 0 802 0 0 13,481 7,266 0 1,251 0 8,517 4,964

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings 10,831 (4) 601 0 171 11,599 4,150 (3) 358 0 4,505 7,094

Technical equipment 1,235 0 110 (4) 222 1,563 1,011 0 108 (3) 1,116 447

Other equipment, fixtures 
and fittings, and office 
equipment

3,635 (9) 444 (99) 20 3,991 2,552 (8) 404 (100) 2,848 1,143

Assets under construction 414 0 269 0 (413) 270 0 0 0 0 0 270

Total 16,115 (13) 1,424 (103) 0 17,423 7,713 (11) 870 (103) 8,469 8,954

Total 28,794 (13) 2,226 (103) 0 30,904 14,979 (11) 2,121 (103) 16,986 13,918
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Goodwill having an indefinite useful life acquired in 

business combinations was allocated across multiple 

cash-generating units for impairment testing. The carry-

ing amount of goodwill for the fiscal years ended Decem-

ber 31, 2014 and 2013 is shown below, broken down by 

reportable segment and cash-generating unit.

KEUR Displays Systems Total

Cash-generating unit
Line Ma- 
nagment

Custom 
Solutions

Systems

Balance as of 1/1/2013 123 909 1,387 2,419

Goodwill acquired 
during the period

0 0 0 0

Impairment during the 
period

0 0 0 0

Balance as of 
12/31/2013

123 909 1,387 2,419

Goodwill acquired 
during the period

0 0 0 0

Impairment during the 
period

0 0 0 0

Balance as of 
12/31/2014

123 909 1,387 2,419

Their goodwill was subjected to an impairment test at 

the end of the year ended on December 31, 2014. The 

recoverable amount for each cash-generating unit was 

determined applying calculated value in use based on 

projected cash flows. 

The cash flow projections for all cash-generating units 

are based on a three-year forecast (2015 – 2017) appro-

ved by management and the Supervisory Board, extrapo-

lated for 2018 and years thereafter. 

The before-tax discount rates used for cash flow pro-

jections and revenue growth rates starting in 2018 (for 

2013 in 2017) are shown in the table below.

Cash-generating unit Before-tax dis-
count rates

Revenue growth 
rates

in % 2014 2013 2014 2013

Line Management 13.60 12.65 2.5 2.5

Custom Solutions 11.94 12.17 2.5 2.5

Systeme 13.03 12.34 2.5 2.5

Fair value is primarily determined by the final value (per-

petuity), which is particularly sensitive to changes in 

growth rate assumptions and discount rates.

Goodwill impairment testing for fiscal years 2014 and 

2013 yielded no indication of impairment losses.

Basic assumptions for calculating value in use

The following assumptions applied in calculating value 

in use of the cash-generating units are subject to parti-

cular uncertainty: 

 · Gross profit margins

 · Discount rates

 · Growth rates during the projection period

Gross profit margins

These margins are calculated based on average profit for 

the fiscal years prior to the projection period. The gross 

margin is adjusted during the projection period based on 

expected efficiency increases and corresponding risks.

Discount rates

Discount rates reflect current market estimates pertai-

ning to specific risks attributable to the respective cash-

generating units. The discount rate is estimated based 

on the average weighted cost of capital which is common 

in the industry.

Estimated growth rates

The growth rates are based on historical data from prece-

ding years. The assumed growth rate for cash-generating 

units is 2.5% for 2018 and thereafter.

Assumption sensitivity

The management board is of the opinion that no chan-

ges appearing reasonably possible to basic assumptions 

made in order to determine value in use of cash-genera-

ting units would cause the carrying amount of a cash-

generating unit to substantially exceed its recoverable 

amount.

[9] Other non-current assets

Other non-current assets as of the reporting date break 

down as follows:

KEUR 2014 2013

Trade receivables 0 971

Allowance for bad debt 0 (971)

Other non-current assets 205 308

Total 205 308

Other non-current assets include tax credits. These 

include corporate income tax credits (205 thousand 

euros) which were assessed for the last time as of 
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December 31, 2006 and will be paid to the entitled com-

panies in ten equal annual installments over the peri-

od from 2008 to 2017. The current portion of corporate 

income tax credits in the amount of 112 thousand euros 

is included in „Other current assets“. Trade receivables 

and allowance for bad debt as of December 31, 2013 in 

the amount of 971 thousand euros are to be classified as 

current assets as of December 31, 2014.

[10] Inventories

Inventories as of the reporting date break down as follows: 

KEUR 2014 2013

Raw materials, consumables and supplies 5,805 6,679

Work in progress 2,124 1,869

Finished goods and merchandise 22,454 22,756

Impairment (1,484) (1,493)

Total 28,899 29,811

Reductions of the net realizable value of inventory levels 

are recorded as cost of sales in the income statement.

[11] Trade receivables and other current assets

Trade receivables and other current assets as of the 

reporting date break down as follows:

KEUR 2014 2013

Trade receivables, net of doubtful accounts 18,341 22,352

Other current assets 

Tax claims and prepayments 505 992

Suppliers with credit balances 36 103

Other assets, net of doubtful accounts 754 687

Total 19,636 24,134

Trade receivables are not discounted and are usually 

due within 30 - 90 days. The allowance for doubtful 

accounts as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 

2013 was 434 thousand euros and 254 thousand euros 

respectively. The allowance for other current assets 

as of December 31, 2014 was 1,100 thousand euros. 

Value adjusted receivables (971 thousand euros) were 

classified as non-current and reported under other non-

current assets as of December 31, 2013. At the same 

time and due to foreign currency translation effects, 

the receivables and the value adjustment increased by 

129 thousand euros. 

Identifiable impairment losses are first recorded against 

a value adjustment account and are only written off 

after final clarification. Activity on the value adjust-

ment account in respect to doubtful accounts as of the 

reporting date breaks down as follows:

KEUR 2014 2013

Balance as of January 1 254 357

Additions recorded in profit or loss 266 0

Utilization (86) (9)

Reversals (22) (87)

Effects from foreign currency translation 
adjustments

22 (7)

Balance as of December 31 434 254

The aging of trade receivables as of the reporting date 

was as follows:

KEUR 2014 2013

Total 18,341 22,352

Amounts neither overdue nor impaired 13,301 16,816

Overdue < 30 days 3,481 3,841

Overdue 30 - 60 days 1,552 1,460

Overdue > 60 days 7 235

With regard to default risk, please refer to the credit risk 

disclosures under „Supplementary Disclosures“ in chap-

ter 8.

[12] Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the amount of 16,819 

thousand euros as of December 31, 2014 and 15,287 

thousand euros as of December 31, 2013 were com-

prised of cash on hand and bank deposits.

[13] Shareholders' equity

Capital Stock

Capital stock paid in full comprised of 3,526,182 sha-

res as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, 

respectively.

On February 10, 2012 the DATA MODUL AG Executive 

Board, with the Supervisory Board's approval, resolved 

to acquire treasury stock as per the authorization appro-

ved in accordance with Sec. 71 (1) No. 8, German Stock 

Corporation Law (AktG) at the Annual Shareholders' 

Meeting on May 11, 2010.
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In 2012, the Company acquired 132,182 treasury sha-

res on the stock exchange (Xetra) reducing the number 

of shares outstanding to 3,394,000 as of December 31, 

2012. There were no share buybacks in 2013 and 2014. 

Thus, as of December 31, 2014 the number of shares 

issued was unchanged at 3,394,000. As a result of the 

share buyback, subscribed capital stock was reduced 

by 397 thousand euros, and other retained earnings by 

1,486 thousand euros. 

Dividend

For fiscal year 2014, the Executive Board and the Super-

visory Board will recommend at the Annual Sharehol-

ders' Meeting that a cash dividend of 0.90 euros be paid, 

corresponding to a total distribution of 3,055 thousand 

euros on the outstanding dividend-entitled shares. 

Authorized capital

By way of resolution at the Annual Shareholders' Mee-

ting, the Executive Board was authorized – with Super-

visory Board approval – to increase the Company's 

capital stock through the date May 10, 2015 by issuing 

non-par bearer shares for cash or stock one or more 

times by a total of 5,289 thousand euros (authorized 

capital). The Executive Board – with Supervisory Board 

approval – is also authorized to exclude existing share-

holders' subscription rights for the issuance of shares 

from authorized capital of up to 2,645 thousand euros 

if the new shares are issued for an asset deal. Further-

more, the Executive Board – with Supervisory Board 

approval – is authorized to exclude existing sharehol-

ders' subscription rights for the issuance of shares from 

authorized capital of up to 1,057 thousand euros if the 

new shares are sold for cash at a price not substantially 

below market price, or if the shares are issued for the 

purpose of acquiring companies or investments in com-

panies. The increase in authorized capital was recorded 

in the German commercial register (Handelsregister) on 

May 18, 2010.

Contingent capital

Until April 4, 2014 the Executive Board was authorized to 

increase capital stock by up to 754 thousand euros total 

through the issuance of up to 251,196 non-par bearer 

shares under the stock option program approved by share-

holders. Following expiration of the stock option program 

on April 5, 2014, the corresponding contingent capital was 

de-allocated at the Annual Shareholders' Meeting on May 

12, 2014. 

Other reserves

Other reserves as of the reporting date break down as 

follows:

KEUR 2014 2013

Variances due to first-time application of 
IFRS

(2,195) (2,195)

Foreign currency adjustment 578 (47)

Total (1,617) (2,242)

In the course of a company acquisition in the year 1998, 

the Company uncovered hidden property reserves rela-

ted to a plot of land in the amount of 2 million euros. 

No deferred taxes were recognized on this amount in the 

past, not even after first-time application of IFRS in fiscal 

year 2004. In fiscal year 2014, the Company recognized 

deferred taxes on this item, adjusting previous balance 

sheet accounting. This error was corrected retrospective-

ly in accordance with IAS 8.43, and the deferred taxes 

recorded in „Other reserves“ under the adjustment line 

item for effects from first-time application of IFRS.

[14] Pensions and non-current personnel liabilities

The Company maintains a non-contributory defined 

benefit plan that also covers certain former members 

of the Executive Board. The Company has purchased 

life insurance policies to cover the actuarial net present 

value of pension liabilities. The cash surrender value of 

those insurance policies totaled 215 thousand euros as 

of December 31, 2014, and 224 thousand euros as of 

December 31, 2013. The pledged reinsurance policies 

are netted out as plan assets in „Pensions and non-

current personnel liabilities“. The pension accruals as of 

December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 were calcu-

lated in December of the respective year. The mortality 

rates are based on the tables of Prof. Dr. Klaus Heubeck 

(2005 G). There were no changes to the defined benefit 

plan in the fiscal year ended. 

The table below shows the capitalized amounts relate to 

pension commitments.
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KEUR 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Present value of defer-
red pension obligations

1,851 1,609 1,559 1,377 1,311

Fair value of the plan 
assets

215 224 234 243 253

Funding status 1,636 1,385 1,325 1,134 1,058

Taking into account the principles of computation set 

forth in IAS 19, the current funding status of the pension 

obligations is as follows:

KEUR 2014 2013

Changes in the present value of pension 
obligations:

Pension obligations forecast at beginning of 
year

1,609 1,559

Accruing interest on expected pension obliga-
tions

46 46

Actuarial profit or loss recorded in other 
comprehensive income resulting from changed 
interest and trend assumptions

248 93

Actuarial gain/loss recorded in other compre-
hensive income resulting from funding level 
changes

67 26

Pensions paid (119) (115)

Present value of pension obligations at year end 1,851 1,609

Plan assets (215) (224)

Pension obligations 1,636 1,385

KEUR 2014 2013

The net pension expenditure breaks down as 
follows:

Accruing interest on expected pension 
obligations

46 46

Realized actuarial gains or losses 0 0

Net periodic pension cost 46 46

Expenses are recorded in profit or loss under net inte-

rest. 

The following average factors were used as basis for cal-

culating pension obligations as of the reporting date:

in % 2014 2013

Weighted average assumptions:

Discount rate 1.70 2.97

Growth rate of future benefit 
payments

2.0 – 3.0 1.5 – 3.0

The duration is ten years, unchanged versus the previ-

ous year.

The Company has pension plan benefit payment obliga-

tions as outlined below for respective fiscal years ending 

December 31:

KEUR

2015 121

2016 124

2017 127

2018 129

2019 132

Cumulative 2020 through 2024 702

The sensitivity analysis provided below shows changes 

in carrying amounts resulting from changes in the para-

meters for calculating pension obligations:

KEUR 12/31/2014

Discount rate increase by 1.0% (167)

Discount rate decrease by 1.0% 196

Pension trend rise by 1.0%* 107

Pension trend decline by 1.0%* (93)

* Pension trend sensitivity applies only to those portions of the pension 
obligations which have not been contractually agreed

There are other long-term personnel obligations in additi-

on to pension obligations as of the reporting date 

KEUR 2014 2013

Pension accruals 1,636 1,385

Other non-current personnel obligations 136 119

Amount reported on consolidated balance 
sheet

1,772 1,504

[15]  Non-current borrowings and current portion of 

non-current borrowings

Non-current interest-bearing borrowings and the current 

portion of the non-current borrowings are summarized 

below.
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Loans from financial institu-
tions in KEUR

Initial loan 
amount

Due date Non-current por-
tion 12/31/2014 

Non-current por-
tion 12/31/2013 

Current portion 
12/31/2014 

Current portion 
12/31/2013

Bayerische Landesbank 1,800
Quarterly, starting 

on 03/31/2013
until 12/31/2015

0 600 600 600

Sparkasse Tauberfranken 3,000
Due at final maturity

4/30/2016
3,000 0 0 0

Deutsche Bank 1,000
Quarterly, starting 

on 12/31/2012
until 9/30/2015

0 250 250 333

Total non-current interest-
bearing borrowings

3,000 850 850 933

Repayment of principal for interest-bearing non-current 

borrowings for the fiscal years subsequent to December 

31, 2014 is as follows:

Repayment of non-current borrowings KEUR

2015 0

2016 3,000

Total 3,000

[16] Current accruals

Quantifying warranty accruals are inevitably subject 

to uncertainty regarding amount and due dates. The 

amount of the accrual is calculated based on historical 

data. Except for risks for which accruals have been recor-

ded, Company management is unaware of any matters 

potentially creating liabilities for the Company which 

could have a major adverse impact on the Company’s 

financial position, financial performance and cash flows.

KEUR

Warranty 
accruals

Personnel-
related 

accruals

Other 
accruals Total

Balance as of 
1/1/2014

1,105 56 221 1,382

Additions 1,078 5 263 1,346

Utilization (462) 0 (154) (616)

Reversals (197) 0 (24) (221)

Balance as of 
12/31/2014

1,524 61 306 1,891

Of these, non-
current

351 0 0 351

Of these, current 1,173 61 306 1,540

[17]  Current borrowings from financial institutions

Short-term credit facilities are summarized in the fol-

lowing table as of the reporting date:

KEUR 2014 2013

Deutsche Bank, Munich 2,700 7,500

Commerzbank, Munich 3,000 6,101

Sparkasse Tauberfranken,  
Tauberbischofsheim

1,500 0

Bayer. Landesbank, Munich 1,000 4,500

Total 8,200 18,101

As of the reporting date, the Company has the following 

bank credit facilities at its disposal (including guaran-

teed bills outstanding and letters of credit):

KEUR 2014 2013

Commerzbank, Munich 10,000 12,000

Sparkasse Tauberfranken,  
Tauberbischofsheim

7,000 7,000

Bayer. Landesbank, Munich 12,600 10,700

Deutsche Bank, Munich 11,250 11,583

Uni Credit, Munich 40 40

Total 40,890 41,323

In addition to these credit facilities, the Company has bank 

guarantees which it can use in lieu of rent deposits or sup-

plier guarantees. These bank guarantees are equivalent to 

letters of credit. Instead of receiving a cash deposit from 

the Company, the bank guarantees for example the deposit 

amount without actually depositing assets. These guaran-

tees affect the total amount of cash the Company can bor-

row, as the guarantees pose a potential risk to the issuing 

banks. The Company utilized 1,476 thousand euros and 

2,173 thousand euros in bank guarantees as of December 

31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. 

[18]  Other current liabilities and tax liabilities

Other current liabilities as of the reporting date comprise 

the following items:
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KEUR 2014 2013

Taxes payable 3,035 1,913

Financial instruments 0 33

Personnel-related liabilities 1,960 2,259

Social security and payroll taxes 463 646

Value-added tax payable 1,565 1,574

Customers with credit balances 229 264

Annual audit and tax consultancy 172 192

Sales commissions 55 126

Shipping expenses 69 50

Other liabilities 584 466

5,097 5,577

Total 8,132 7,523

7. Notes to the statement of cash flows

The statement of cash flows is comprised of inflow and 

outflow of funds from ordinary operations, and invest-

ment and financing activities. Effect from changes in 

the scope of consolidation and currency fluctuations 

are eliminated on the respective line item and reported 

separately.

Cash flows from operating activities include all cash 

flows from ongoing operating activities and are presen-

ted using the indirect method. Based on net income for 

the year, all non-cash income and expenses are adjus-

ted. Primarily due to the net profit for the year of 7,573 

thousand euros, cash flow from operating activities 

came to 13,799 thousand euros. Interest received, inte-

rest paid and income taxes paid amounting to -1,679 

thousand euros resulted from Group operating activities, 

and thus were classified as operating activities.

Cash flows from investing activities reflect the capital 

outflow related to capitalized development costs and 

to other asset additions, and the cash inflows from the 

disposal of assets (including consolidated investments 

in subsidiaries). 

Net cash flows from investing activities amounted to 

-2,425 thousand euros in 2014 and to -2,232 thousand 

euros in 2013. 

In fiscal year 2014, cash flows from investing activities 

were -9,876 thousand euros due to repayment of current 

borrowings from financial institutions. With the currently 

low interest levels and the Company's good credit stan-

ding, the Group satisfied its short-term ongoing working 

capital financing requirements mainly with current bor-

rowings from financial institutions in order to respond 

quickly and flexibly to changes in the business environ-

ment. Dividend distribution resulted in a liquidity out-

flow in the amount of 2,036 thousand euros in 2014 and 

2,036 thousand euros in 2013. The acquisition of treasu-

ry shares was completed in fiscal year 2012.

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of current 

bank deposits, checks and cash on hand. 

Effects of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash 

equivalents are presented in a separate line item.

8. Supplementary Disclosures

Employee stock option plan

Stock option plan

On July 4, 2000, February 28, 2002, March 3, 2003 and 

April 5, 2004 the Company granted 25,772, 31,497, 

20,474 and 31,108 options respectively to employees 

of DATA MODUL AG and its affiliated companies for the 

purchase of shares in DATA MODUL AG. The options entit-

le the owner to purchase shares in the Company in three 

installments on the following price and vesting terms:

 · One third of the options granted may be exercised at 

a price equal to 120% of the average price of the DATA 

MODUL AG shares for the five trading days prior to the 

option granting date. This installment vests after two 

years and can only be exercised if DATA MODUL AG sha-

res reach a value of 120% of the average price for the 

five days preceding the granting date at least once prior 

to the exercise date.

 · One third of the options granted may be exercised at 

a price equal to 130% of the average price of the DATA 

MODUL AG shares for the five trading days prior to the 

option granting date. This tranche vests after three 

years and can only be exercised if DATA MODUL AG sha-

res reach a value of 130% of the average price for the 

five days prior to the granting date at least once prior 

to the exercise date.
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 · One third of the options granted may be exercised at 

a price equal to 140% of the average price of the DATA 

MODUL AG shares for the five trading days prior to the 

option granting date. This tranche vests after four years 

and can only be exercised if DATA MODUL AG shares 

reach a value of 140% of the average price for the five 

days prior to the granting date at least once prior to the 

exercise date.

Any unexercised options are forfeited ten years from 

the stock option granting date. Stock options from the 

last installment granted in 2004 thus expired on April 

4, 2014.

Settlement occurs in the form of equity instruments.

The following table summarizes the Company's stock 

option plan status as of December 31, 2014:

For shares issued after November 7, 2002

Number of 
shares under 
option

Weighted 
average exer-
cise price

Outstanding as of 1/1/2013 21,809 17.69

Granted during the period under 
review

0 0

Forfeited during the period 
under review

(406) 19.40

Exercised during the period 
under review

0 0

Lapsed during the period under 
review

(3,481) 8.70

Outstanding as of 12/31/2013 17,922 19.40

Granted during the period under 
review

0 0

Forfeited during the period 
under review

0 0

Exercised during the period 
under review

0 0

Lapsed during the period under 
review

(17,922) 19.40

Outstanding as of 12/31/2014 0 0

Related party disclosures

According to IAS 24 (Related party disclosures), transac-

tions with persons and entities that are controlled by the 

reporting entity or could control the reporting entity are 

to be disclosed unless these have already been included 

in the Consolidated Financial Statements as consolidated 

entities. 

Varitronix Investment Ltd., Hong Kong, holds 19.99% of 

voting rights in DATA MODUL AG as of April 4, 2011. 

The purchases and sales involving the Varitronix Group are 

presented in the table below:

KEUR 2014 2013

Purchased from Varitronix Ltd., Hong Kong, 
China

5,261 5,187

Sales to Varitronix Ltd., Hong Kong, China 4 9

Service fee from Varitronix GmbH, Munich* 61 49

*  A service fee was charged to Varitronix GmbH, Munich, for partial use of 
office, communications, administration and financial services.

As of the reporting date, unsecured liabilities due to 

Varitronix totaled 590 thousand euros. 

In fiscal years 2014 and 2013, the Company incurred 

expenses for services rendered by one employee due to 

a material investment in DATA MODUL AG shares by rela-

ted parties. The remuneration amount paid in 2014 was 

219 thousand euros (2013: 197 thousand euros).

The obligatory disclosures regarding relations between 

Executive and Supervisory Board members and the Com-

pany are included in the Supplementary Disclosures.

Objectives and methods of financial risk management

Business operations inevitably result in liquidity, credit 

and market risks. Market risks are effects from market 

price changes on fair value and future cash flows from 

financial instruments. Market risks include in particu-

lar interest-related cash flow risks, foreign currency and 

other price risks. 

Strategies and control mechanisms for specific risks ari-

sing from the Group's use of financial instruments are 

outlined below. The Company has no significant concen-

tration of credit risk.

Interest rate risk

The table below shows a sensitivity risk analysis of Group 

earnings before taxes and equity to interest rate changes 

in variable-rate current borrowings. 

KEUR 2014 2013

Impact on earnings before taxes

Interest rate change

Increase by 1% (82) (181)

Decrease by 1% 82 181
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Currency risk

Currency fluctuations may materially affect the Group's 

balance sheet due to the Company's significant foreign 

currency investments. 

The Group is also subjected to foreign currency exposu-

res from individual transactions. Risk exposure arises 

from sales or purchases by an operating unit in curren-

cies other than the unit’s functional currency. Appro-

ximately 56.3% (previous year: 52.8%) of the Group’s 

sales are denominated in currencies other than the func-

tional currency of the operating unit making the sale, 

while 68.2% of the costs are denominated in currencies 

other than the functional currency of the operating unit 

(2013: 67.2%). The Group uses various instruments in 

an attempt to minimize foreign currency risks, such as 

currency futures contracts and currency options. Curren-

cy futures contracts must be in the same currency as the 

hedged item. It is the Group’s policy not to enter into 

currency hedges until a fixed obligation has been agreed 

on. It is the Company’s policy to negotiate the terms of 

hedge derivatives to correspond to those of the hedged 

item in order to maximize hedge effectiveness. As of 

December 31, 2014, no hedging instruments were held.

The table below shows a sensitivity analysis of Group 

earnings before taxes to exchange rate fluctuations in 

all key foreign currencies which are deemed reasonab-

ly possible on the basis of prudent business judgment. 

The most impact is seen from exchange rate fluctuations 

versus the USD, JPY and GBP. The impact on earnings 

before taxes due to an exchange rate increase or decre-

ase relative to the average foreign exchange rate for the 

respective fiscal years was calculated. All other factors 

remain unchanged.

KEUR 2014 2013

Impact on earnings before taxes

Exchange rate change

Increase by 5% (557) (1,117)

Decrease by 5% 542 979

Credit risk

Credit risks arise from the potential of business partners 

not meeting their obligations in operating business and 

financial transactions. Risk related to credit standing is 

minimized by means of an efficient credit and collections 

management system. 

The Group only enters into transactions with third parties 

with good credit standing. It is the Company’s policy that 

all customers who wish to trade on credit are subject to 

verification of creditworthiness. Trade receivables balan-

ces are constantly monitored and allowances made for 

possible value adjustment risks. Other than that there 

are no significant default risks connected with ongoing 

business activities. Additionally, credit sale insurance 

policies have been taken out to minimize risk. The ave-

rage default risk in recent years remains well under 1.0%. 

In transactions not conducted in the country of the res-

pective operating unit, the Company does not offer credit 

terms without a credit check. The Group thus does not 

face a major concentration of credit risks. 

With other Group financial assets such as cash and cash 

equivalents and certain derivate financial instruments, 

the maximum credit risk exposure through counterparty 

default equals the carrying amount of these instruments.

Liquidity risk

The Group constantly monitors liquidity risk, employing 

a liquidity planning tool. This tool takes into account 

the maturities of both the financial investments and the 

financial assets, as well as projected cash flows from 

business operations. 

The Company’s objective is to meet liquidity require-

ments at all times while maintaining flexibility through 

the utilization of overdraft facilities, bank loans, and 

finance leases. As of December 31, 2014, 82% of the 

Company’s debt reported on the consolidated financial 

statements falls due within one year (2013: 93%).

The maturities of the Group's financial liabilities are 

shown below as of December 31, 2014. The figures are 

based on contractual, undiscounted payments.

12/31/2014
KEUR

< 12 
months

1 - 5 
years

> 5 
years Total

Interest bearing borrowings

Non-current 862 3.056 0 3.918

Current 8.207 0 0 8.207

Other liabilities

Pensions and non-current 
personnel obligations

122 648 1.002 1.772

Provisions 1.540 351 0 1.891

Trade accounts payable 7.697 0 0 7.697

Other financial liabilities 8.630 0 0 8.630

Total 27.058 4.055 1.002 32.115
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12/31/2013
KEUR

< 12 
months

1 - 5 
years

> 5  
years Total

Interest bearing borrowings

Non-current 967 863 0 1,830

Current 18,159 0 0 18,159

Other liabilities

Pensions and non-current 
personnel obligations

269 579 656 1,504

Provisions 862 520 0 1,382

Trade accounts payable 10,945 0 0 10,945

Other financial liabilities 7,523 0 0 7,523

Total 38,725 1,962 656 38,242

Capital management

The main objective of the Company's capital manage-

ment is to safeguard high credit rating and good equi-

ty ratio to support business operations and maximize 

shareholder value. The Company manages and adjusts 

its capital structure taking into account any changes 

to the general economic conditions. In order to main-

tain or adjust its capital structure, the Company may 

adjust dividend payments to shareholders, make share 

repurchases or issue new shares. No changes had been 

made to the objectives or policies as of December 31, 

2014, nor in the previous year. 

The Company monitors its capital levels with respect to 

a capital management ratio which is the ratio of net debt 

to total equity plus net debt. The Company's net debt is 

its interest-bearing loans and borrowings and trade and 

other payables less cash and cash equivalents and cur-

rent assets. Shareholders’ equity is the equity shown on 

the balance sheet.

KEUR 12/31/2014 12/31/2013

Non-current borrowings 3,000 850

Current borrowings 9,050 19,034

Trade accounts payable 7,697 10,945

Other liabilities 12,293 10,498

minus Cash and cash equiva-
lents and other current assets

(18,114) (17,069)

Net debt 13,926 24,258

Total shareholders' equity 48,036 42,131

Shareholders' equity and net 
debt

61,962 66,389

Capital management ratio in % 22.48 36.54

Fair value

The carrying amounts of the financial instruments the 

Group holds essentially correspond to their fair values.

Hedging activities

Cash flow hedges

As of December 31, 2014, there were no financial instru-

ments classifiable as hedges for projected sales to cus-

tomers or purchases from suppliers for which these fixed 

obligations existed.

There were no hedged net investments in foreign busi-

ness operations as of December 31, 2014.

Contingent liabilities, contingencies and other financial 

obligations

Contingent liabilities and litigation

The Group may be subject to litigation from time to time 

in its ordinary course of business. There are no accrued 

liabilities for possibly impending legal disputes at the 

balance sheet date (previous year: 16 thousand euros). 

The Group’s Executive Board and its legal advisors are 

not aware of any claims that could have a material adver-

se effect on the Company's business, its financial positi-

on, financial performance and cash flows. 

Contingencies from guarantees and warranties as of the 

balance sheet date totaled 1,476 thousand euros (2013: 

2,173 thousand euros).

Lease agreements

The Group has entered into certain operating lease and 

rental agreements for office space and automobiles. 

During the reporting periods, the Group incurred lease 

and rental expenses as follows:

KEUR 2014 2013

Rent of office space 1,082 1,489

Operating leases for vehicles 646 613

Total lease and rental expenses 1,728 2,102

Financial liabilities for the years following the balance 

sheet date were based on future minimum rental obliga-

tions under the current rental and lease contracts. As of 

December 31, 2014 these were as follows:
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KEUR 12/31/2014

Rents and leases 2015 1,586

Rents and leases 2016 1,355

Rents and leases 2017 1,230

Rents and leases 2018 1,181

Rents and leases 2019 1,163

Rents and leases 2020 and after 3,750

Total 10,265

Rent obligations primarily relate to the office buildings 

in Munich and the sales offices in Hamburg, Düssel-

dorf, Hauppauge, Baron, Lognes (until 11/14/2014; from 

11/15/2014 Noiseau), Milan, Madrid, Nänikon, Birming-

ham, Dubai and Singapore. Lease payments are mostly 

related to corporate vehicles.

At the reporting date, 40,580 thousand euros in orders 

placed with suppliers were still open (previous year: 

38,253 thousand euros).

Segment reporting

In accordance with IFRS 8 (Operating segments), seg-

ments are defined using the „management approach“.

Segments are defined and information on these segments 

is thus disclosed according to internal criteria used by 

Company management to allocate resources and evaluate 

segment performance. The segment reports below were 

prepared in accordance with this definition, using as key 

indicators orders received, order backlog, revenue, EBIT 

and net income for the year.

DATA MODUL AG, Produktion und Vertrieb von elektroni-

schen Systemen, Munich, claims to be the European mar-

ket leader in display technology. DATA MODUL develops, 

manufactures and distributes innovative flatbed displays, 

monitors, electronic subassemblies and complete infor-

mation systems.

DATA MODUL displays and easyTouch displays, electronic 

subassemblies and custom products for use in industrial 

applications and the automotive industry comprise the 

Displays business segment.

The Systems business segment comprises our easyBoard, 

easyPanel and easyEmbedded solutions as well as spe-

cial monitors for applications in marine navigation and 

medical devices. This business segment also serves cus-

tomers in the airport, railway and business sectors.

Business segments

Segment results fiscal year 2014 fiscal year  2013

KEUR Displays Systeme Group 
total Displays Systeme Group 

total

Revenue from sales of goods and services 90,501 61,960 152,461 82,618 61,668 144,286

Service revenue 458 2,996 3,454 184 2,236 2,420

Total revenue 90,959 64,956 155,915 82,802 63,904 146,706

Research and development expenses (2,566) (2,708) (5,274) (1,840) (3,010) (4,850)

Selling and general administrative expenses (10,635) (10,716) (21,351) (9,245) (11,196) (20,441)

Amortization of intangible assets and depre-
ciation on property, plant and equipment 

(847) (1,006) (1,853) (908) (1,213) (2,121)

Segment results (EBIT) 6,144 5,260 11,404 3,294 2,382 5,676

Interest income 22 0 22 20 25 45

Interest expense (171) (123) (294) (146) (179) (325)

Income tax (1,617) (1,942) (3,559) (1,263) (898) (2,161)

Net income for the year 4,378 3,195 7,573 1,905 1,330 3,235

Investments in intangible assets, property, 
plant and equipment, and financial assets

775 1,696 2,471 663 1,563 2,226
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Breakdown by geographical region

Revenue

Displays segment

KEUR 2014 2013

Domestic 54,814 53,971

Foreign 36,145 28,831

Total 90,959 82,802

Systems segment

KEUR 2014 2013

Domestic 38,732 34,374

Foreign 26,224 29,530

Total 64,956 63,904

The Group does not currently have customers who indivi-

dually account for more than 10% of Company revenue.

Supplementary Disclosures

Corporate Governance

Being the only listed Group company, DATA MODUL AG 

has issued the mandatory declarations per Sec. 161, 

German Stock Corporation Law (Aktiengesetz, [AktG]) 

and Sec. 289a German Commercial Code (HGB), and 

made these available to shareholders (www.data-modul.

com/de/investoren/cg.html). 

Related and affiliated companies

The DATA MODUL consolidated financial statements 

include all subsidiaries in which the parent company, 

DATA MODUL AG, holds an indirect or direct majority of 

voting rights.

Related and affiliated companies

Name, registered office of the Company
Beteiligungsquote Equity per IFRS Net income for 

the year

in % KEUR KEUR

DATA MODUL Weikersheim GmbH, Weikersheim, Germany 100 14,765 1,152

DATA MODUL France SARL, Baron, France 100 619 500

DATA MODUL Iberia S.L., Madrid, Spain 100 1,117 412

DATA MODUL Inc., New York, U.S.A. 100 1,913 353

DATA MODUL Italia S.r.l., Bolzano, Italy 100 292 96

DATA MODUL Ltd., Birmingham, United Kingdom 100 1,530 1,289

DATA MODUL Suisse GmbH, Zug, Switzerland 100 (86) 75

DATA MODUL Hong Kong Ltd., Hong Kong, China 100 (19) (20)

Conrac Asia Display Products PTE Ltd., Singapore 100 1,858 735

Conrac MENA FZE EST, Dubai, UAE 100 1,202 (148)
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Executive Board member remuneration

Disclosure of the compensation packages granted to Executive Board members in fiscal year 2014 are in accordance 

with applicable accounting principles (GAS 17 and IFRS) and the German Corporate Governance Code provisions (GCGC):

 

Compensation packages granted

Peter Hecktor1) 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Joining date: Oct. 12, 1988
Leaving date: May 12, 2014

Walter King 
COO 

Joining date: May 15, 2001

Dr. Florian Pesahl
CFO 

Joining date: Jan. 01, 2010
Total

KEUR 2013 2014 2014 
(Min)

2014 
(Max)

2013 2014 2014 
(Min)

2014 
(Max)

2013 2014 2014 
(Min)

2014 
(Max)

2013 2014

Fixed remuneration 280 99 99 99 220 239 239 239 200 219 219 219 700 557

Fringe benefits 24 25 25 25 17 18 18 18 11 11 11 11 52 54

Total 304 124 124 124 237 257 257 257 211 230 230 230 752 611

One-year variable compensation 2) 200 0 0 0 87 95 0 95 87 95 0 95 374 190

Multi-year variable compensation 3) 0 0 0 0 43 47 0 47 43 47 0 47 86 94

Executive bonus 2013 (payable in 2015) 43 43 86 0

Executive bonus 2014 (payable in 2016) 47 0 47 47 0 47 0 94

Total compensation (according to GCGC) 504 124 124 124 367 399 257 399 341 372 230 372 1,212 895

Service cost 19 20 20 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 19 20

Total compensation (According to GAS 17) 523 144 144 144 367 399 257 399 341 372 230 372 1,231 915

1) Mr. Hecktor was elected to the Supervisory Board on May 12, 2014 at the Annual Shareholders' Meeting. The stated 

remuneration figures are for Executive Board member activities up to that date. The dissolution agreement between the 

Company and Mr. Hecktor provided for a fixed severance payment of 181 thousand euros for fiscal 2014 plus a bonus 

severance element in the amount of 200 thousand euros calculated according to the bonus provisions in his employ-

ment contract; provisions for these amounts were allocated and the amounts will be paid upon adoption of the 2014 

net income accounting.

2) Not taking into account any deferrals.

3) According to their employment contracts, Mr. King's and Dr. Pesahl's executive bonus packages contain long-term 

incentives by virtue of which only two thirds of accrued executive bonuses are to be paid out in 2015, the third porti-

on only being disbursable if the Company remains profitable in 2016. Mr. Hecktor's executive bonus package does not 

contain a sustainability component.
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Compensation of Executive Board members paid in fiscal year 2014 breaks down as follows:

Compensation 

Peter Hecktor1) 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Joining date: Oct. 12, 1988
Leaving date: May 12, 2014

Walter King 
COO 

Joining date: May 15, 2001

Dr. Florian Pesahl
CFO 

Joining date: Jan. 01, 2010 Total

KEUR 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Fixed remuneration 99 280 239 220 219 200 557 700

Fringe benefits 24 24 18 17 11 11 53 52

Total 123 304 257 237 230 211 610 752

One-year variable compensation 2) 200 200 87 87 87 87 374 374

Multi-year variable compensation 0 0 43 43 43 43 86 86

Executive bonus 2011 43 43 86

Executive bonus 2012 43 43 86

Total compensation 323 504 387 367 360 341 1,070 1,212

1) Mr. Hecktor was elected to the Supervisory Board on May 12, 2014 at the Annual Shareholders' Meeting. The stated 

compensation figures are for Executive Board member activities up to that date. The dissolution agreement between 

the Company and Mr. Hecktor also provided for a fixed severance payment of 181 thousand euros which was disbursed 

in fiscal year 2014.

2) Not taking into account any deferrals.

Two other Executive Board members receive remunera-

tion in the form of stock options granted as a long-term 

incentive. These are granted within the framework of 

the 2000 Stock Option Program outlined in detail under 

Point 8 of the Notes. The table below shows the stock 

option benefits of individual Executive Board members: 

Stock option program 2000
Peter Hecktor Walter King

2014 2013 2014 2013

Exercisable options as of 
12/31/2014

0 2,967 0 2,967

Options forfeited in 2014 2,967 0 2,967 0

Options exercised in 2005 
and 2007

2,174 2,174 2,174 2,174

As of the reporting date, the Group had pension com-

mitments for retired members of the Executive Board as 

shown in the table below, indicating annual contribu-

tions to the pension plan:

Pensions Peter Hecktor Walter Eichner

KEUR 2014 2013 2014 2013

Provisions recorded as of 
the reporting date

260 211 275 241

Allocations to pension 
provisions

69 25 58 24

Pensions paid 20 19 23 23

In fiscal years 2013 and 2014, Executive Board members 

did not receive any loans or any similar benefits. Nor did 

they receive any remuneration for offices held at other 

Group companies.

Supervisory Board member remuneration

Annual remuneration  
in KEUR

2014 2013

Victoria Hecktor 15 40

Tony Tsoi Tong Hoo 30 30

Petra Ollhoff 8 20

Peter Hecktor 25 0

Wolfgang Klein 12 0

Grand total 90 90

Membership of the Executive and Supervisory Boards

Executive Board members:

Peter Hecktor, Munich, CEO – until May 12, 2014

Dr. Florian Pesahl, Munich, CFO 

Walter King, Munich, COO
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Supervisory Board members:

Victoria Hecktor – Chairwoman – until May 12, 2014

Peter Hecktor – Chairman – from May 12, 2014

Tony Tsoi Tong Hoo, Deputy Chairman

Petra Ollhoff (Employee) – Employee Representative – 

until May 12, 2014

Wolfgang Klein (Employee) – Employee Representative 

– from May 12, 2014

Auditors' fees

The Company recorded expenses for auditing services 

provided in Germany  in the amount of 105 thousand 

euros (previous year: 117 thousand euros) in accordance 

with Sec. 314 (1) No. 9a of German Commercial Code 

(HGB). For other audit opinion-related services as 

per Sec. 314 (1) No. 9b German Commercial Code, 

0 thousand euros (previous year: 3 thousand euros) 

were recorded as expenses. Tax consultancy expenses as 

per Sec. 314 (1) No. 9c German Commercial Code in the 

amount of 1 thousand euros (previous year: 2 thousand 

euros) were recorded through profit or loss, as well as 

other services as per 314 (1) No. 9d German Commercial 

Code in the amount of 6 thousand euros (previous year: 

46 thousand euros).

Subsequent events

On January 28, 2015, Arrow Electronics, Inc. with head-

quarters in Centennial, Colorado, USA, via its corporate 

subsidiary Arrow Central Europe Holding Munich GmbH 

announced a voluntary public tender offer to acquire 

all outstanding shares of DATA MODUL AG at a price of 

27.50 euros per share. Simultaneous with the announce-

ment of the tender offer, Arrow reached agreement with 

members of the Hecktor family and with Varitronix, the 

largest single shareholder of DATA MODUL AG, to acqui-

re DATA MODUL shares in the amount of about 34% of 

capital stock. DATA MODUL AG provided notification of 

both in an ad hoc announcement released on Janua-

ry 28, 2015. Arrow Central Holding Munich GmbH pub-

lished the offering document for the tender offer on 

February 23, 2015, which stated March 24, 2015 as the 

deadline for acceptance of the offer. To read the specific  

terms and conditions see the offer document, availab-

le at www.data-modul.com/de/investoren.html and at 

www.arrow.com/datamoduloffer/.

We are not aware of any significant events that may have 

occurred after the end of the fiscal year that would have 

had a major influence or impact on the Company's finan-

cial position, financial performance and cash flows.

Munich, February 24, 2015
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AUDITOR'S OPINION

An die DATA MODUL AG, München

„We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by Data Modul AG, munich, comprising the statement 

of financial position, the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income,  the statement of changes in equi-

ty, the statement of cash flows and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, together with the group manage-

ment report for the fiscal year from 01. January 2014 to 31. December 2014. The preparation of the consolidated finan-

cial statements and the group management report in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and the additional 

requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315a (1) HGB [„Handelsgesetzbuch“: „German Commercial 

Code“] are the responsibility of the parent company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 

consolidated financial statements and on the group management report based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Sec. 317 HGB and German gene-

rally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute 

of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit such that misstate-

ments materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial position and results of operations in the conso-

lidated financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework and in the group manage-

ment report are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal 

environment of the Group and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the determination 

of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control system and the evidence supporting 

the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the group management report are examined primarily on 

a test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual financial statements of those 

entities included in consolidation, the determination of entities to be included in consolidation, the accounting and 

consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presen-

tation of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report. We believe that our audit provides 

a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements comply with IFRSs as adopted 

by the EU, the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315a (1) HGB and give a true and 

fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group in accordance with these require-

ments. The group management report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole provi-

des a suitable view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future development.“ 

München, den 24. Februar 2015

     Ernst & Young GmbH

     Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Gallowsky          Haendel 

Wirtschaftsprüfer         Wirtschaftsprüfer
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MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATION

We represent to the best of our knowledge and ability and in accordance with the applicable accounting principles that 

the Consolidated Financial Statements present a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position, financial perfor-

mance and cash flows and that the Group Management Report describes fairly, in all material respects, the Group’s 

business and performance, including the business results, the Group’s position, as well as the significant risks and 

rewards of the Group’s future development.

FINANCIAL CALENDAR 2015

Interim report as of March 31, 2015  5/11/2015

Interim report as of June 30, 2015  8/11/2015

Interim report as of September 30, 2015 11/11/2015
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